

OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions

China's Belt and Road Initiative: Implications for the OSCE





OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions

Stefan Wolff | Institute for Conflict, Cooperation and Security | University of Birmingham

Copyright © Stefan Wolff 2021. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically those of translation, reprinting, re-use of illustrations, broadcasting, reproduction by photocopying machine or similar means, and storage in data banks. Under § 54 of the German Copyright Law where copies are made for other than private use a fee is payable to »Verwertungsgesellschaft Wort«, Munich.

Contents

Executive Summary	2
Background Papers	4
Acknowledgements	5
List of Illustrations	6
List of Abbreviations	7
PART 1	8
Introduction	8
The Belt and Road Initiative:	
A Brief Backgrounder	9
The OSCE and China	12
A Framework for Analysis	15
Asking the relevant questions	15
Considering the implications	16
What the Report does (and does not) cover	17
Sources and data	17

PART 2

Changing Geopolitical and Geo-Economic Dynamics Across Three OSCE Subregions	20
Central Asia	26
	20
What drives the BRI in the subregion?	26
What has been accomplished so far?	27
What are the critical risks of	
BRI implementation in the subregion?	28
How have local actors reacted?	30
How do the other main players view the BRI?	31
How has China responded to local and	
other actors' perceptions?	33
The South Caucasus and the OSCE's Eastern	
European Participating States	34

What drives the BRI in the subregion?	34
What has been accomplished so far?	35
What are the critical risks of BRI implementation in the subregion?	37
How have local actors reacted?	39
How do the other main players view the BRI?	39
How has China responded to local and other actors' perceptions?	40
The Western Balkans	41
What drives the BRI in the subregion?	41
What has been accomplished so far?	41
What are the critical risks of BRI implementation in the subregion?	43
How have local actors reacted?	46
How do the other main players view the BRI?	47
How has China responded to local and other actors' perceptions?	48
PART 3	49
Policy Implications	49
Opportunities and challenges in the politico-military dimension of the OSCE	50
Opportunities and challenges in the economic and environmental dimension of the OSCE	52

Opportunities and challenges in the politico-military dimension of the OSCE	50
Opportunities and challenges in the economic and environmental dimension of the OSCE	52
Opportunities and challenges in the human dimension of the OSCE	53
Policy Recommendations	54
Forming consensus within the OSCE on e ngagement with China	55
Prioritising issue areas for engagement	55
Identifying formats for engagement	57
Engagement with China: from pragmatism to strategy?	57
References	59

Executive Summary

Since its inception in late 2013, China's Belt and Road Initiative (hereinafter the BRI, or 'the Initiative') has grown into a vast global development project with increasing geopolitical and geoeconomic implications. By 2019, Belt and Road co-operation involved 137 countries and 30 international organisations, with concrete projects in over 70 countries. These include 27, or almost half, of the OSCE's 57 participating States.

The new connectivities that the Initiative has created along the Silk Road Economic Belt and two of its economic corridors, the New Eurasian Land Bridge and the China–Central Asia–West Asia Corridor, in some ways complement the OSCE region's two other economic (and political) integration projects, the European Union and the Eurasian Economic Union, but in other ways also represent rival alternatives. An increased Chinese presence thus also competes with Russia and the West for influence across BRI partner countries, particularly in the already contested OSCE subregions of Central Asia, the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, and the Western Balkans.

Regardless of how much China may emphasise the economic focus of the BRI and its win—win approach, a project as grand and ambitious as the BRI is bound to have geopolitical consequences, yet there is uncertainty about what these are, when and how they will materialise, and whether they are inevitable but unintended consequences or part of a yet unarticulated Chinese grand strategy.

China's presence and activities across the OSCE subregions predate the launch of the BRI but have been systematically framed as part of an increasingly coherent and ambitious Chinese strategy driven by multiple separate domestic and foreign policy imperatives. Associated with concepts such as the 'Chinese dream' and the 'new era', the BRI first and foremost serves Chinese domestic national interests. That the implementation of the BRI is meant to generate gains for China first does not, however, prevent it from benefitting partner countries. With China increasingly viewed in Washington as the United States' main rival, and in light of growing scepticism toward China in EU and NATO capitals, involvement in the BRI has become increasingly difficult for those countries in the OSCE region, like Georgia, Moldova, and Ukraine, that take a generally pro-Western geopolitical stance in their foreign policy and harbour aspirations for closer integration into Euro-Atlantic security and economic institutions.

The BRI, and China's presence and activities in the OSCE's contested subregions more generally, thus adds an additional complication to already frayed relations within the Organisation that have negatively affected its ability to fulfil its comprehensive security mandate.

The potentially increasing challenge that China therefore presents to security and stability in the OSCE area in general, and in the three contested subregions in particular, cannot be ignored by the Organisation and its participating States. From the OSCE's perspective, there is a need to engage with China. However, such engagement faces three main hurdles.

First, it is not clear that participating States would benefit from OSCE engagement with China, as this may limit the gains they can obtain from direct bilateral engagement or through different formats, such as the EU, the EAEU, and the SCO.

Second, taking on the challenge of engaging with China may simply be a 'bridge too far' for the OSCE, further undermining its capacity to deliver on its existing mandate and to preserve its established norm consensus in the context of the already fractious relations between its participating States.

Third, it is far from clear that the OSCE is the kind of forum with which China would want to engage, and under what conditions.

These hurdles neither diminish the need for engagement nor make engagement impossible. Rather, they set the parameters within which a strategy for engagement could be developed and implemented.

Opportunities for constructive engagement with China are most obvious in the OSCE's economic and environmental dimension. However, while this second dimension can offer a starting point, engagement in this dimension alone will not be enough to address the much broader range of implications of the BRI for the OSCE as a comprehensive security organisation and for each and every one of its participating States.

Hence, the OSCE should initially approach engagement with China from a position of pragmatism that recognises China's significance as an actor within the OSCE region, takes account of the existing capacity and capabilities of the OSCE, and carefully considers the likelihood of a constructive response by China.

Such pragmatism is a necessary starting point, but it would not preclude a gradual shift to a more strategic approach. The foundations for a more strategic approach to engagement with China could then be built by prioritising multi-channel engagement with China that creates and embraces opportunities to enter into dialogue with China directly and indirectly through existing inter-organisational mechanisms, including in cooperation with United Nations Specialised Agencies.

Emphasis should also be placed on identifying issues where China and the OSCE and its participating States have manifestly articulated common interests, such as in relation to combating corruption and transnational organised crime, as well as environmental protection, including climate change. If and when this initial pragmatism is transformed into a more strategic approach and eventually combined with the development of a more formalised bilateral relationship between the OSCE and China, this would not replace existing bilateral relationships between China and OSCE participating States but rather complement them. It would potentially also strengthen a set of rules for engagement with China that is more firmly anchored in existing OSCE commitments. As such, it would serve as a testing ground for China's willingness to engage with the OSCE as an equal and would respect the existing norm consensus within the Organisation and across all three of its dimensions.

The success of a hybrid approach to engagement that is simultaneously pragmatic and strategic would require careful coordination within the OSCE. Implementing this hybrid approach would in turn contribute to the gradual evolution of an OSCE China strategy that would set the parameters for engagement through different channels and across multiple issue areas.

Engagement with China undoubtedly represents one of the main internal and external challenges that the OSCE will face in the years ahead. Whether and how the Organisation and its participating States will rise to this challenge will have a profound impact on its future as the only truly Euro-Atlantic and Eurasian comprehensive security organisation. China and its BRI are therefore a challenge the OSCE must face, not ignore.

Background Papers

- Bayok, Anastasiya. 2020a. "China's Responses to EU, US, and Russian Perceptions of the BRI in Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan and to Their Respective Governments' Views." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Bayok, Anastasiya. 2020b. "Chinese Reactions to Perceptions of the BRI in Kazakhstan and the EU." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Bērziņa-Čerenkova, Una Aleksandra. 2020. "Baltic Resilience to China's 'Divide and Rule." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Gubaidullina, Mara, and Saniya Nurdavletova. 2020. "The Belt and Road Initiative and Regional Security Issues in Central Asia." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Indeo, Fabio. 2020. "Security along the Belt and Road: How NATO Perceives Chinese Military Engagement in Central Asia." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Kartsonaki, Argyro. 2020. "Perceptions of the Belt and Road Initiative in the Western Balkans." Hamburg:
- OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions. Kemoklidze, Nino. 2020a. "Armenia, Azerbaijan and China's BRI." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Kemoklidze, Nino. 2020b. "China's Belt and Road Initiative: Opportunities and Challenges for Georgia." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Malyarenko, Tatyana. 2020a. "China's Belt and Road Initiative in the Contested Eastern Neighbourhood." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

- Malyarenko, Tatyana. 2020b. "China's Belt and Road Initiative in Ukraine." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Murat, Assel. 2020. "China's Belt and Road in Kazakhstan: Influence and Implications." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Pushkina, Darya, and Yanliang Pan. 2020. "China's Sensitivity to Challenges, Concerns, and Criticisms along the Belt and Road: The Case of Kazakhstan." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Sadik, Giray. 2020. "Exploring the Effects of Chinese-Russian Security Cooperation under SCO-RATS on BRI and OSCE: Managed Competition or Hybrid Partnership?" Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Savaris, Alessandro. 2020a. "EU Perspectives on the Belt and Road Initiative in the Western Balkans and the Subregion's Constituent Countries and Entities." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Savaris, Alessandro. 2020b. "Serbian, EU, US, and Russian Perceptions of the BRI in Serbia." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Tytarchuk, Oleksandr. 2020. "The Belt and Road Initiative and Conflict Areas in the OSCE Region: The Case of Ukraine." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Webber, Mark. 2020. "China and the Western Balkans: Opportunities and Challenges for NATO." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Yau, Niva Tsz Yan. 2020. "Chinese Private Security Companies in Kyrgyzstan." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

Acknowledgements

A project such as this is impossible to accomplish without the support of many individuals and institutions.

What started out as an envisioned twenty-page policy brief quickly developed into a Report approximately five times as long—hindered and helped in almost equal measure by a global pandemic that made fieldwork and face-to-face meetings impossible while increasing 'virtual' exchanges. Drafted in the second half of 2020, this Report was completed during a tumultuous presidential transition in the United States, amid the rise of 'vaccine diplomacy', and in a context in which policy and public debates about China became more intense and more polarised.

Getting this project off the ground and across the finish line would not have been possible without the many friends and colleagues who helped me to adapt to constantly changing circumstances and to navigate the many challenges to which they gave rise. I am deeply grateful for this support and encouragement.

In strictly chronological order, my thanks go to Brigitte Krech, with whom I first discussed the importance of China for the OSCE's second dimension; to Cornelius Friesendorf and Frank Evers for adopting a vague idea and helping me to develop it into a project proposal for an OSCE Network Report; to Walter Kemp, Tomas Henning, and Anton Vushkarnik for adding a healthy dose of OSCE insight at an early stage, to Naida Mehmedbegović Dreilich for her support on all administrative matters, excellent proof-reading, and insights and contacts in the Western Balkans; to colleagues on the Steering Committee of the OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions, who approved the proposal; to the German Federal Foreign Office for its generous funding and flexibility under global pandemic conditions; to the contributing authors for their background papers and their patience with my endless queries by email and video call; to Aida Balganova, Alexandra Dienes, Sergey Radchenko, Ulrich Schneckener, and Anton Vushkarnik for their detailed and constructive feedback on earlier drafts of this Report; to Cornelius Friesendorf again for some important lastminute normative 'corrections', and to Carolyn Benson for her expert copy-editing. Last but not least, I owe a great debt to Lucy and Max for giving me the space to work on this Report and for making three lockdowns a better experience than anyone could have imagined.

Birmingham, 24 February 2021 Stefan Wolff

List of Illustrations

Figure 1:	Cumulative Chinese Investment in Selected	
	Countries in OSCE Subregions, 2005–2020	19
Figure 2:	Chinese Investment and Construction	
	Contracts in OSCE Subregions, 2005–2020	20
Figure 3:	Chinese Soft Power Projection Compared:	
	Confucius Institutes and Classrooms in Central	
	Asia, the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe,	
	and the Western Balkans	20
Figure 4:	Governance Indicators in OSCE Subregions,	
	2009–2019	21
Figure 5:	Political Stability in OSCE Subregions,	
	2009–2019	21
Figure 6:	Human Development in OSCE Subregions,	
	2009–2019	22
Figure 7:	Voice and Accountability in OSCE Subregions,	
	2009–2019	22
Figure 8:	Chinese Trade with OSCE Subregions,	
	2010-2019	23
Figure 9:	Cumulative Chinese Imports of	
	Mineral Fuels and Oils, 2010–2019	24
Figure 10:	Russian Goods Trade with the EU, China,	
	and the United States as a Share of Total	
	Russian Goods Trade	25
Table 1:	Non-Agricultural Trade Rank, Based on	
	Exports Value to Partner	25
Figure 11:	Chinese Investments and Construction	
	Transactions in Central Asia, 2005–2020	27
Figure 12:	Chinese Projects in Central Asia by Country	
	and Sector	28
Figure 13:	Political Stability in Central Asia, 2009–2019	28

Figure 14:	Governance Indicators in Central Asia,	
	2009–2019	29
Figure 15:	Human Development in Central Asia,	
	2010-2019	29
Figure 16:	Voice and Accountability in Central Asia,	
	2009–2019	30
Figure 17:	Chinese Investment in Belarus, Moldova,	
	and Ukraine, 2007–2012 and 2013–2020	34
Figure 18:	Country Share in Overall Chinese Investment	
	and Construction Transactions in the South	
	Caucasus and Eastern Europe, 2005–2020	35
Figure 19:	Political Stability in the South Caucasus and	
	Eastern Europe, 2009–2019	37
Figure 20:	Governance Indicators in the South Caucasus	
	and Eastern Europe, 2009–2019	38
Figure 21:	Human Development in the South Caucasus	
	and Eastern Europe, 2010–2019	38
Figure 22:	Voice and Accountability in the South Caucasus	
	and Eastern Europe, 2009–2019	39
Figure 23:	Chinese Investment and Construction	
	Transactions in the South Caucasus and Eastern	
	Europe, 2005–2020	42
Figure 24:	Political Stability in the Western Balkans,	
	2009–2019	43
Figure 25:	Governance Indicators in the Western Balkans,	
	2009–2019	44
Figure 26:	Human Development in the Western Balkans,	
	2010–2019	46
Figure 27:	Voice and Accountability in the Western Balkans,	
	2009-2019	46

List of Abbreviations

ACD	Asia Cooperation Dialogue	HCNM	High Commissioner on National Minorities
AIIB	Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank	IBRD	International Bank for Reconstruction and
APEC	Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation		Development
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations	IMF	International Monetary Fund
ASEM	Asia–Europe Meeting	NATO	North Atlantic Treaty Organisation
BRI	Belt and Road Initiative	OBOR	One Belt, One Road
BTK	Baku–Tbilisi–Kars railway	ODIHR	Office for Democratic Institutions and Human
CAREC	Central Asia Regional Economic Cooperation		Rights
CASCF	China–Arab States Cooperation Forum	OSCE	Organisation for Security and Co-operation in
CCP	Chinese Communist Party		Europe
CFE Treaty	Treaty on Conventional Armed Forces in Europe	PMSCs	Private Military and Security Companies
CICA	Conference on Interaction and Confidence-	SCO	Shanghai Cooperation Organisation
	Building Measures in Asia	SCO-RATS	Regional Anti-Terrorist Structure of the Shanghai
CiO	Chair-in-Office		Cooperation Organisation
CNPC	China National Petroleum Company	SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
CRBC	China Road and Bridge Corporation	SOE	State-owned Enterprise
CSBMs	Confidence- and Security-Building Measures	SREB	Silk Road Economic Belt
CSCE	Conference on Security and Co-operation Europe	TEN-T	Trans-European Transport Network
CSTO	Collective Security Treaty Organisation	TITR	International Association Trans-Caspian
CWE	China International Water & Electric Corporation		International Transport Route
DCFTA	Deep and Comprehensive Free Trade Area	UN	United Nations
EAEU	Eurasian Economic Union	UNECE	United Nations Economic Commission for
EBRD	European Bank for Reconstruction and		Europe
	Development	UNIDO	United Nations Industrial Development
ECT	Energy Community Treaty		Organisation
EU	European Union	UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
GDP	Gross Domestic Product	WTO	World Trade Organisation
GMS	Greater Mekong Subregion		

Introduction

Since its inception in late 2013, China's Belt and Road Initiative (hereinafter the BRI, or 'the Initiative') has grown into a vast global development project with **increasing geopolitical and geo-economic implications**. By 2019, Belt and Road co-operation involved 137 countries and 30 international organisations (Xi 2019), with concrete projects in over 70 countries. These include 27, or almost half, of the OSCE's 57 participating States.

According to the Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative (2019, 2), the BRI "is an initiative for peaceful development and economic co-operation, rather than a geopolitical or military alliance. It is a process of open, inclusive and common development, not an exclusionary bloc or a 'China club'. It neither differentiates between countries by ideology nor plays the zero-sum game."

Regardless of whether one accepts this assertion at face value, the scale and scope of BRI projects means that the initiative also has **clear social, political, environmental, and potentially military implications**. These have been analysed in relation to a variety of individual countries and regional and international organisations, but to date there has been no assessment of the impact that the BRI has had, and will continue to have, on the Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe (hereinafter the OSCE, or 'the Organisation') and its comprehensive and co-operative approach to security.¹

The **new connectivities** that the Initiative has created along the Silk Road Economic Belt (SREB) and two of its economic corridors, the New Eurasian Land Bridge and the China–Central Asia–West Asia Corridor, in some ways complement the OSCE region's two other economic (and political) integration projects, the European Union (EU) and the Eurasian Economic Union (EAEU), but in other ways also represent rival alternatives. An increased Chinese presence thus also competes for influence with Russia and the West across BRI partner countries, particularly in already contested spaces like Central Asia, the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe,² and the Western Balkans.

China's economic and political footprint in these subregions has grown in the context of often difficult problems that countries there have faced—from protracted conflicts, to social and economic inequalities, to environmental challenges—which have so far eluded sustainable solutions. At best, they have been managed, in some instances quite successfully, including by the OSCE. The increased presence and activities of China in these OSCE subregions adds **further complexity** to the management of these persistent problems by bringing an additional actor into a set of already volatile dynamics—an actor, moreover, who is viewed with increasing scepticism in many EU and NATO capitals while being welcomed elsewhere, if only as a potential additional or alternative source of financing for economic development. This has the potential to add to resurgent East–West tensions within the OSCE and to force participating States 'in-between' Russia and the West to make yet another geopolitical choice.

Understanding the implications of China's BRI for the OSCE as a whole and for its subregions is therefore relevant to the Organisation's ability to continue fulfilling its mandate as a comprehensive and co-operative security organisation that has been seriously hampered for over a decade (and arguably longer than that). Contributing to such an understanding is the primary aim of this OSCE Network Report. The analysis that emerges highlights **the profound yet differential impact** that the BRI has had on OSCE participating States and assesses the current and likely future implications of this on the OSCE as an institution. Highlighting both challenges and opportunities for the OSCE, this Report concludes with a number of policy recommendations for the Organisation and its participating States.

The Report **emphasises** that:

- 1. The BRI, and China's growing presence and activities in the three analysed subregions, has increased the need for the OSCE, as an organisation, to engage with China.
- 2. OSCE engagement with China faces three main hurdles:
 - a. First, it is not clear that participating States would benefit from OSCE engagement with China, as this may limit the gains they could obtain from direct bilateral engagement or through different formats, such as the EU, the EAEU, and the SCO.
 - b. Second, taking on the challenge of engaging with China may simply be a 'bridge too far' for the OSCE, further undermining its capacity to deliver on its existing mandate and to preserve its established norm consensus in the context of the already fractious relations between its participating States.
 - c. Third, it is far from clear that the OSCE is the kind of forum with which China would want to engage, and under what conditions.
- 3. These hurdles neither diminish the impact that China has had on the OSCE and its participating States nor eliminate the need for engagement. Rather, they set the parameters within which a strategy for engagement could be developed and implemented.

¹ One notable exception is a 2019 OSCE internal discussion paper that I had the opportunity to discuss with its authors when preparing this Report. In addition, and predating the launch of the BRI, Frank Evers published an analysis of China–OSCE relations in 2008, which notes that China first initiated contact with the Organisation in 2003 through its ambassador in Vienna (see Evers 2008).

^{2~} The designation 'Eastern Europe' is shorthand for the three OSCE participating States of Belarus, Moldova, and Ukraine.

- 4. The OSCE should approach engagement with China from a position of pragmatism that recognises China's significance as an actor within the OSCE region, takes account of the existing capacity and capabilities of the OSCE, and carefully considers the likelihood of a constructive response by China.
- 5. Pragmatism is an inevitably necessary starting point but does not preclude the shift to a gradually more strategic approach. The foundation for a more strategic approach to engagement with China can be built by prioritising:
 - a. Multi-channel engagement with China that creates and embraces opportunities to enter into dialogue with China directly and indirectly through existing interorganisational mechanisms, including in co-operation with United Nations Specialised Agencies. This should also include an openness to ad hoc and informal modes of engagement.
 - b. Engagement on issues where China and the OSCE and its participating States have manifestly articulated common interests, such as in relation to combating corruption and transnational organised crime, as well as environmental protection, including climate change.

The Report is structured as follows. The remainder of Part 1 provides a brief background on the BRI and the relationship between the OSCE and China. This is followed by an outline of the analytical framework of the Report, including its geographical and substantive scope, and observations on the sources and data used. Part 2 starts with an overview of the changing geopolitical and geo-economic dynamics across the three subregions that the Report covers in detail. Focusing on Central Asia, the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, and the Western Balkans, the Report then examines and illustrates in detail how these changing dynamics have been affected by, and themselves affect, the increasing presence and activities of China. This analysis considers in particular (1) the significance to China of each of these subregions and the OSCE participating States located there, (2) accomplishments in the implementation of the BRI to date, (3) subregion- and country-specific risks associated with the BRI, (4) local and (5) external stakeholders' perceptions and reactions, and (6) Chinese responses to them. Comparing and contrasting these dynamics, Part 3 spells out how the OSCE as an institution and its ability to fulfil its comprehensive security mandate across all three dimensions of its activities have been affected. The concluding section offers policy recommendations to the Organisation and its participating States to address the challenges-and make the most of the opportunities-to which the BRI gives rise.

The Belt and Road Initiative: A Brief Backgrounder

Launched in 2013 in a speech by Chinese President Xi Jinping, what has become known as the Belt and Road Initiative³ brought together in an increasingly coherent and ambitious strategy multiple separate domestic and foreign policies that predated the launch of the BRI, in some cases by a decade or more. The origins of the BRI thus go back at least to the second half of the 1990s, when then President Jiang Zemin had begun to pursue the parallel 'Go West' and 'Go Out' strategies.

Domestic policy priorities that have underpinned the launch and ongoing development of the BRI have earlier antecedents in Jiang's 'Go West' strategy. In the late 1990s, the focus of China's domestic development had been reducing "regional imbalances by encouraging investment in trade- and energyrelated infrastructure (e.g., roads, hydropower plants and telecommunications) in China's western provinces, notably Yunnan, and autonomous regions such as Inner Mongolia, Xinjiang and Tibet" (Sum 2019, 535). Foreshadowing the launch of the BRI more than a decade later, these projects were meant to extend to the neighbouring countries of Central Asia (Jones and Zeng 2019, 64).

The Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region in particular has long been considered a "strategic pivot point" (F. K. Chang 1997, 403). With an extensive history of tensions with the Uighur community and its most recent escalation (BBC News 2020), Xinjiang has long been a major domestic security concern for the Chinese state. Its location in north-western China further heightens these concerns because of the perceived danger of a spillover of instability from Central Asia, including ethnic and religious extremism and organised crime. Moreover, Xinjiang is the transit point for the Silk Road Economic Belt, which ultimately connects the industrial hubs of eastern China with western Europe, and its regional capital, Urumqi, is the starting point for three economic corridors: the New Eurasian Land Bridge, the China–Central Asia–West Asia corridor, and the China–Pakistan Economic Corridor.

From China's perspective, Xinjiang is particularly affected by the 'three evils' of terrorism, extremism, and separatism that undermine the much-needed stability required for the country's future development. Tackling them, at home and in China's periphery, has emerged as a key driver of the BRI. The Chinese response to these security concerns—caused, at least in part, by a lack of economic development (Rolland 2017)—has been to accelerate the economic integration of Xinjiang and other western provinces into international value chains that connect China to markets and resources across Eurasia (Grieger 2016, 9). In this sense, the BRI mirrors the very conviction that formed

³ Initially, the Initiative was referred to as 'One Belt, One Road' (OBOR) but is now more commonly known as the Belt and Road Initiative (see, for example, Freymann 2020).

the basis of Jiang Zemin's 'Go West' strategy from more than a decade earlier: the belief that economic development can be fostered by grand infrastructure development projects. This point was reiterated by President Xi in September 2020 at the third central symposium on work related to Xinjiang, where he emphasised social and economic development as an important foundation for lasting peace and stability in Xinjiang, again highlighting its geographical advantages as a "core area of the Silk Road Economic Belt and a hub of opening-up in the inland and border areas" (Xinhua 2020).

Two further domestic catalysts in the eventual fusion of foreign and domestic policy imperatives are important for understanding the drivers of the BRI to date. The first of these is geo-economic in nature and connected to the 2008 financial crisis and its aftermath. While China was among the first countries to recover from the crisis, its export-driven economy faced a significant slowdown, further exacerbating the problem of over-capacity within China but also increasing excessive foreign exchange reserves, especially as the global economy gradually revived (Wang 2016). From this perspective, the BRI was meant to contribute to resolving several domestic economic problems simultaneously: surplus capital held by state and private banks could be put to productive use in the form of loans to countries along the BRI, who would then be required to hire Chinese companies and labour to implement the vast infrastructural projects at the heart of the BRI (Jones 2020; Wilson 2016), which in turn would increase international trading efficiencies, especially for Chinese exports to the EU (Wen et al. 2019). Beyond creating growth opportunities in external markets for its construction companies and banks, the BRI also offers China the ability to relocate some of its own industrial capacity and to transfer abroad increasingly problematic and obsolete technological know-how, such as coal-fired electricity plants, as a way to deal with domestic environmental problems (Gubaidullina et al. 2019; Klinger 2019; Shearer, Brown, and Buckley 2019).

The second domestic policy imperative for China is the need to diversify supply routes for its energy and raw materials needs. In this sense, the BRI not only helps to overcome infrastructural challenges affecting Chinese exports to European markets and elsewhere but also creates opportunities for more sustainable import routes on road, rail, and through various oil and gas pipeline projects (H. Yu 2017; J. Yu 2018).

Both of these domestic economic concerns also touch on foreign policy drivers of the BRI. First, and most immediately, the SREB and the two economic corridors on which this Report focuses reduce perceived vulnerabilities of a Chinese economy that is overly dependent on sea routes for imports and exports which, in the absence of sufficient Chinese naval capacity, were considered to be more easily disrupted by conflict or piracy (Rolland 2017). Second, China's efforts to use existing multilateral formats for its own economic purposes, especially the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO), were frustrated by Russia, who viewed the SCO as a predominantly securityfocused organisation and saw its own economic needs as being better served by the nascent EAEU. In light of Russia's blocking of China's proposal for the establishment of an SCO Free Trade area and an SCO Development Bank (Murat 2020), the BRI can also be seen as a Chinese response to Russia's lack of support for deeper and more institutionalised forms of economic cooperation (Timofeev, Lissovolik, and Filippova 2017; Wilson 2016). Notably, an agreement on EAEU–China economic and trade co-operation was signed in 2018 and entered into force in 2019 (Eurasian Economic Union 2018). Similarly, Russia's stance on the 'economic dimension' of the SCO appears to be shifting gradually towards greater receptiveness to economic aspects of co-operation (see further below and cf. Dawei 2018; Khasanov 2019; Suslov 2020).

The most widely cited external driver of the BRI is geopolitical in nature and is related to the US pivot to Asia under President Barack Obama in 2011 (Obama 2011). This resulted in Chinese perceptions of an increased US military presence in the Asia-Pacific region and in a rejuvenation of existing alliances, with the aim of both containing China and strengthening a US-led liberal international order. Within this order there would be opportunities for co-operation with China, provided that China accepted "the importance of upholding international norms and respecting the universal human rights of the Chinese people" (Obama 2011, 5). From China's perspective, this heightened existing concerns about its over-dependence on sea routes for trade and energy supplies and increased the risk of confrontation with the United States.

For China, the BRI, and especially the SREB and its economic corridors, provided an effective response to the US pivot to Asia. On the one hand, as an alternative continental route, Chinese trade and energy vulnerabilities in the Strait of Malacca and the South China Sea could be better mitigated (Indeo 2019; Wen et al. 2019). On the other hand, China would be able to expand and gradually consolidate its influence along this continental route and incrementally build an alternative economic (and subsequently political) order (Tekdal 2018). This is a more longterm goal with an indeterminate outcome, leaving the door open to incremental reform and integration, co-existence with the liberal international order, and a complete hegemonic transition. What is relevant in this context is that China has taken important first steps in building some of the relevant institutions and has created mechanisms that could underpin such a development, including the 17+1 co-operation mechanism between China and 17 Central, Eastern, and South-Eastern European countries and China-led financial institutions like the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB).⁴ At the Fifth Annual Meeting of the AIIB in July 2020, for example, Xi (2020) explicitly called for the Bank to become "a new type of high-performance institution for international co-operation" and "a new paradigm of multilateral co-operation."

As with the domestic drivers of the BRI, it is important to bear in mind that many of the foreign and foreign economic policies associated with the BRI today have important earlier precedents. Jiang's 'Go West' strategy marked the beginning of a gradual turn away from his predecessor Deng Xiaoping's vision of China as keeping a low international profile while focusing on its

⁴ The AIIB currently has 82 members and nearly \$100bn in registered capital. China's share of the capital is just over 30%, and it holds 26% of the votes. Germany, France, and the United Kingdom are among the non-regional members of the Bank.

domestic development. The adoption of more proactive Chinese foreign (and especially foreign economic) policies, reminiscent of Mao Zedong's foreign policy of engagement with developing countries, accelerated under Jiang's successor, Hu Jintao, in the 2010s. For example, a Sino-Kazakh strategic partnership agreement had already been signed in 2005, and the 16+1 framework that initially brought together China and 16 Central and Eastern European countries originated in 2012.5 China had also already concluded a concession agreement with the Piraeus Port Authority in 2009-four years before the formal launch of the BRI and seven years before the Greek government sold its majority stake to China COSCO Shipping, a key player in the BRI.6 Rail operations on what is now known as the New Eurasian Land Bridge began as early as 2008 with the first container freight train from Xiangtan to Hamburg and was established as a network connecting Chongqing, Chengdu, Zhengzhou, Wuhan, Suzhou, and 16 other cities in China to Duisburg, Hamburg, Madrid, and a further 12 European cities by 2011 (National Development and Reform Commission 2016).

At its launch as the 'One Belt, One Road' in 2013, the BRI may have merely been an umbrella under which a number of preexisting policies could be united to facilitate further domestic economic growth and development and to secure greater Chinese influence on the international order. Over time, however, the BRI has matured into a more comprehensive strategic tool for China's leadership. In the long run, China's westward orientation towards Eurasia may or may not "integrate Eurasia into a Sinocentric community of shared interests, destiny, and responsibility" (Lin, Sidaway, and Woon 2019, 514). What it certainly has accomplished to date is a "reshap[ing of] China's geostrategic vision as well as the Eurasian landscape" (Jisi 2011, 78).

Seven years after its launch, the BRI has become China's signature foreign policy strategy in its pursuit of the "Chinese dream of the great renewal of the Chinese nation", which concerns the "prosperity of the country, rejuvenation of the nation, and happiness of the people" (Xi 2014a). The Chinese dream, in turn, is a cornerstone of the notion of a 'new era' in which, "rather than a threat or challenge, China's development is an opportunity for the world" (State Council of the People's Republic of China 2019, 11). Such party-political rhetoric aside, the BRI continues to feature in China's overall development strategy, despite an apparent inward turn at the fifth plenum of the 19th Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) in late October 2020. Promoting a concept of domestic and international dual circulation, which emphasises domestic circulation as the main driver of future economic growth, the strategy nonetheless continues to embrace "joint high-quality development of the Belt and Road Initiative" (Central Committee of the Communist Party of China 2020).7

President Xi and other top Chinese leaders are by now personally invested in the success of the BRI (Leverett and Bingbing 2016, 111; Rolland 2017, 128; Ye 2019, 705), which was also formally written into the Constitution of the Communist Party of China in 2017 (Central Committee of the Communist Party of China 2020, 8).⁸ This has also led to increased centralisation of China's foreign policy decision-making (H. Yu 2017, 356) and more effective co-ordination of the BRI by the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative, which is led by He Lifeng, who is also the chairman of the National Development and Reform Commission, the key national macroeconomic planning agency within the State Council of the People's Republic of China.

Taken together, the persistent relevance of the factors that led to the establishment of the BRI (and its antecedents), the domestic and external institutionalisation of key mechanisms for its implementation (and their continuous expansion and consolidation), the financial and political investment committed to date, and the personal stake that President Xi now has in its success mean that the BRI is here to stay. It remains a work in progress, however-open-ended, with only vaguely developed endpoints and milestones and a degree of flexibility that at times borders on the opportunistic. Consequently, shaping and influencing how the BRI is implemented and further evolves remains an open possibility. Its future outcomes will depend not only on China's unquestionable determination to pursue its implementation in realising the Chinese dream but also on how countries that participate in the BRI respond to it and how other major stakeholders in the regions and in regional orders react to it. Herein lies a key challenge for the OSCE and its participating States. Whether and how the Organisation can rise to this challenge is still an open question, one that can only be answered on the basis of a more detailed analysis of the impact of the BRI to date on its participating States. This is what the Report will turn to next.

^{5~} In April 2019, Greece formally joined the 16+1 as the first 'old' EU member to do so. Since then, the 16+1 has become the 17+1.

⁶ COSCO operates one of the largest container fleets globally and is emerging as the largest global terminal operator, with additional stakes in Zeebrugge and Antwerp (Belgium, 85%/20%), Valencia and Bilbao (Spain, 51%/40%), Vado Ligure (Italy, 40%), and Rotterdam (35%).

⁷ For an initial, broader analysis of the fifth plenum see, among others, Pei (2020).

⁸ The relevant passage reads (*emphasis added*): "The Party shall constantly work to develop good neighbourly relations between China and its surrounding countries and work to strengthen unity and co-operation between China and other developing countries. It shall follow the principle of achieving shared growth through discussion and collaboration, *and pursue the Belt and Road Initiative*."

The OSCE and China

The OSCE and its predecessor, the CSCE, were established with a view to creating **comprehensive and co-operative security structures that reflected the main challenges of their time**. In the 1970s, this was the East–West confrontation and the danger of an arms race spinning out of control and leading to a nuclear Armageddon. In the 1990s, the challenge was to manage the fallout from the collapse of Communism. In different ways, both of these challenges persist today, and while a nuclear showdown may not be on the cards anytime soon, East–West relations have been at a historic low since the beginning of the conflict in Ukraine in late 2013, while the recent escalation of violence between Armenia and Azerbaijan over the disputed territory of Nagorno-Karabakh is but one example of the enduring legacy of the collapse of Communism.

While driven by the logic of superpower competition during the Cold War and thus initially heavily focused on its politicomilitary dimension, the 1975 **Helsinki Final Act** nonetheless also spelled out the need for co-operation in both the economic and environmental dimension and the human dimension. In particular, the then 35 signatories recognised the link between peace and security in Europe and the need to promote fundamental rights, economic and social progress, and wellbeing for all peoples (Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe 1975, 3).

This consensus was reiterated in the **Charter of Paris for a New Europe** in 1990, albeit with greater emphasis on the human dimension, when the signatories reiterated their "steadfast commitment to democracy based on human rights and fundamental freedoms; prosperity through economic liberty and social justice; and equal security for all our countries" (Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe 1990, 3).

The Istanbul Document of 1999, reflecting on a decade of often violent conflict between and within participating States, returned to a stronger focus on the politico-military dimension. The signatories "reaffirm[ed] the OSCE as a regional arrangement under Chapter VIII of the Charter of the United Nations and as a primary organisation for the peaceful settlement of disputes within its region and as a key instrument for early warning, conflict prevention, crisis management and post-conflict rehabilitation", stressing that the "OSCE is the inclusive and comprehensive organisation for consultation, decision-making and co-operation in its region" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 1999a, 2-3). In relation to the human dimension, the participating States "reaffirm[ed] that respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms, democracy and the rule of law is at the core of the OSCE's comprehensive concept of security" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 1999a, 5). Equally importantly, the participating States committed to ensuring "that the economic dimension receives appropriate attention, in particular as an element of our early warning and conflict prevention activities", and that this would be realised, "inter alia, with a view to promoting the integration of economies in transition into the world economy and to

ensur[ing] the rule of law and the development of a transparent and stable legal system in the economic sphere" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 1999a, 8).

Another decade later, the Astana Commemorative Declaration of 2010 saw yet another reiteration of participating States' "commitment to the concept ... of comprehensive, co-operative, equal and indivisible security, which relates the maintenance of peace to the respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms, and links economic and environmental co-operation with peaceful inter-State relations" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2010, 1). Importantly, the Astana Declaration also notes "that the security of the OSCE area is inextricably linked to that of adjacent areas, notably in the Mediterranean and in Asia", concluding that the Organisation and its participating States "must therefore enhance the level of our interaction with our Partners for Co-operation" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2010, 3). Ten years on, however, and seven years after the launch of the BRI, not only is China not among the OSCE's Partners for Co-operation, but institutional dialogue between China and the OSCE is almost non-existent,9 this despite the fact that there has been occasional acknowledgement of "increased geostrategic and geopolitical competition in the region, causing volatility" and necessitating more (rather than less) "effective multilateralism" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2017a, 3).

This context is important in two ways. First, it underscores that the CSCE and the OSCE were set up to provide an **arena for the management of security challenges among participating States,** as opposed to challenges beyond its geographical scope. While 'extra-territorial' issues have gained prominence over the past two decades or so, including in relation to transnational challenges such as terrorism, organised crime, and migration, the Organisation has mainly remained focused on co-operative and comprehensive security within the Euro-Atlantic and Eurasian area. Second, when assessing the implications of China's increased presence and activities for the OSCE, these must be considered within the context of the existing challenges affecting the OSCE.

The OSCE's ability to deliver on its mandate of comprehensive and co-operative security is crucially dependent on the **sustainability of consensus** among its participating States on the norms that underpin the Organisation. This consensus has been significantly weakened over the past two decades by developments within the OSCE and by the actions and reactions of its participating States, rekindling an East–West confrontation reminiscent of the Cold War. This has both underscored the need for the OSCE and undermined its capacity to fulfil that need.

Beyond the internal challenges that the Organisation has had to confront, but closely connected to them, there have been issues in the external environment that have added to (and in some cases exacerbated) 'home-made' problems, including instability

⁹ Among the higher-profile links, in June 2017, the then OSCE Parliamentary Assembly President Christine Muttonen visited China and had meetings with representatives of the Chinese Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation, and the International Department of the Communist Party of China (OSCE Parliamentary Assembly 2017).

in Afghanistan and the Middle East and migration across the Mediterranean. Barely recognised in official OSCE statements, the increasing presence and activities of China pose another challenge that the OSCE will eventually have to confront if its participating States want it to remain relevant as a co-operative and comprehensive security organisation for the Euro-Atlantic and Eurasian area.

The impact of China in and on the OSCE has been incremental and differs across subregions, but its **cumulative effect is significant and shows no sign of abating**. While China engaged with individual OSCE participating States long before the launch of the Belt and Road Initiative in 2013, the economic scope and scale of this engagement, underpinned by a more coherent strategic vision, have increased significantly since then, as have the Initiative's geopolitical and geo-economic implications. Associated with concepts such as the 'Chinese dream' and the 'new era', the BRI represents an increasingly coherent, streamlined, and well-resourced foreign policy concept that first and foremost serves Chinese domestic national interests.

Its implementation in OSCE participating States has implications for the states that co-operate with China under the BRI framework, many of them undoubtedly positive, by increasing these countries' connectedness to the global economy. As detailed in the Report, however, BRI implementation also carries risks for these countries and their populations. These risks are related to the economic viability of various projects and the concomitant economic and financial dependencies that they create for countries that are particularly exposed in this regard. Economic viability, moreover, can be further undermined by various security and stability concerns, especially in countries that also experience persistent governance problems, such as fragile institutions, corruption, and weakly-developed rule of law. Under such conditions, and given the bilateral rather than multilateral nature of the BRI and its implementation, Chinese projects are also vulnerable to sudden changes in regime or policy. This is especially the case where public pressure and discontent with ruling elites are expressed in anti-Chinese and anti-BRI sentiments that also reflect legitimate concerns regarding the erosion of whatever social, environmental, and labour rights and standards may have existed prior to China's involvement.

These primarily **domestic risks** are serious, and their longterm impact should not be underestimated. From an OSCE perspective, however, even more significant are the geopolitical implications of China's activities and presence in participating States. China's initially predominantly economic and financial forays into the OSCE region have offered a sometimes vital development alternative for countries that otherwise have few palatable options at their disposal. The availability of a Chinese option to finance development projects has increased local agency vis-à-vis Russian- and Western-dominated institutions but has also intensified the competition for influence, extending it to three major powers. The OSCE, created to manage East– West tensions and without any formal relationship with China, is poorly equipped to handle the further geopoliticisation of already fraught relationships between its participating States. From China's perspective, bilateralism as the predominant pattern of engagement under the BRI is useful as it preserves an **asymmetry in economic and political power relationships** that favours China. The continuing absence of "meaningful multilateral mechanisms" (Yan 2020, 68) also has a flipside, however, in that it weakens the potential of intraregional co-operation and increases the risk of further intraregional fragmentation, inequalities, and rivalries. These are more pronounced in Central Asia and less so in the Western Balkans, where countries are for the most part firmly anchored in Euro-Atlantic structures. In the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, however, such problems are further exacerbated by the intense geopolitical rivalry between Russia and the West, especially in Georgia, Moldova, and Ukraine (Kemoklidze 2020b; Malyarenko 2020a; Tytarchuk 2020).

This is not to say that China's presence and activities should be viewed as destabilising per se. Over the years, China's reach into the OSCE region has extended along the BRI, making it more or less influential across different contested subregions. Given the geography of the two relevant BRI economic corridors, Chinese interests (in terms of the subregions considered in this Report) are strongest in Central Asia and the Western Balkans, while the Initiative's geopolitical and geo-economic impact has thus far been lower in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe. China has adopted subregion- and country-specific, differentiated approaches, which in turn requires similarly **flexible and adaptable responses** from the OSCE and participating States in terms of engagement with China (Bērziņa-Čerenkova 2020).

The Western Balkans represent something of a mirror image of Central Asia in the sense that the West is by far more deeply entrenched and effective in the former, as has become obvious recently with the success of a US campaign to prevent Chinese technology from being used in the subregion's digital infrastructure (Standish 2020). By contrast, China has more significant capabilities to establish and leverage influence in Central Asia. Russian influence in the Balkans is more limited than in Central Asia, and its stakes are higher in this part of the former Soviet Union, where Russia has built **regional institutions** like the EAEU and the CSTO, which it clearly dominates, and where it vies for leadership with China in others (in particular the SCO).

While China is generally more interested in political stability, including subregionally, Russia, because of its parallel geopolitical confrontation with the West, benefits from a degree of (manageable and managed) instability in the South Caucasus, Eastern Europe, and the Western Balkans. The **Russia–China relationship** is likely to remain characterised by long-term uncertainty for some time to come as their interests converge when it comes to limiting Western influence in Central Asia and Belarus but diverge where Western and Chinese interests are more closely aligned. This is the case when it comes to stability in the Western Balkans, and potentially in the South Caucasus, Ukraine, and Moldova, if the so-called Middle Corridor ever takes on greater significance for China as a potential economic corridor (Kemoklidze 2020b; Colakoğlu 2019). China's increasing presence and activities across the three OSCE subregions considered here creates choices for OSCE participating States about who to forge close economic (and political) ties with—Russia and the EAEU, the EU, NATO, and the United States, or China and the BRI. On one level, this contributes to strengthening the **sovereignty and independence** of certain OSCE participating States, for example in Central Asia and Eastern Europe (Bayok 2020b). At the same time, such choices are often driven, at least in part, by domestic policy imperatives and preferences (Bērziņa-Čerenkova 2020).

Yet there is also the danger that choice is an illusion and that countries are, in fact, forced to decide or have no viable alternatives available to them. For all the rhetoric on multi-vector foreign policies, **geography remains a powerful predictor of alignment options**. Traditional geopolitics in the Western Balkans, Eastern Europe and the South Caucasus, and Central Asia has led to a resurgence of spheres-of-influence thinking in the foreign policies of the major powers in and towards these subregions. Their ability to create, shape, and defend such spheres of influence is a reality that the OSCE and its participating States cannot escape. Geopolitics has intensified in the wake of China's rise, and not just in the OSCE region.

What is particularly noteworthy in this context is **the West's hardening position on China**, especially since 2019. The EU and NATO, as well as their key member states (the United States, Germany, France, and the United Kingdom, among others), now consider China a systemic rival (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2019a; Reflection Group Appointed by the NATO Secretary General 2020) and view the BRI as a key tool through which China is pushing for change in the global system.

A recent report by the Policy Planning Staff in the US State Department (Office of the Secretary of State 2020, 12) argues that the BRI is "a means of drawing nations, particularly their political and economic elites, into Beijing's geopolitical orbit" and contributes to entrenching "China's long-term access to local elites and confer[ring] power over key parts of the host country's critical infrastructure". The 2020 Report to Congress of the US–China Economic and Security Commission (2020, 418) even argues that "it may not be so farfetched to imagine the PLA someday deploying to defend BRI infrastructure, support Beijing's preferred elites in a coup on an island nation, or prop up authoritarian allies".

In the EU context, assessments of China and its strategic use of the BRI have also become more negative over time. The (proposed) responses still rely on engagement based on European values (Huotari, Weidenfeld, and Wessling 2020; Rühlig 2020) but have also become more assertive in defending what the EU perceives as its own sphere of influence in the Western Balkans and by establishing a strategic partnership with ASEAN. Most importantly, and signifying greater **transatlantic alignment on China**, a "new EU–US Dialogue on China will provide a key mechanism for advancing our interests and managing our differences" (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2018, 8). This need for a closer and more effective Western alliance against China was also echoed by the Chair of the Group of the European People's Party in the European Parliament, Manfred Weber, in an interview with the South China Morning Post in which he called for a "reunification of the so-called Western world, now with Joe Biden as a constructive partner, to face this challenge of China" (Lau 2020).¹⁰

From NATO's perspective, China is not considered "an immediate military threat to the Euro-Atlantic area on the scale of Russia", but the fact that "it is expanding its military reach into the Atlantic, Mediterranean, and Arctic, deepening defence ties with Russia, and developing long-range missiles and aircraft, aircraft carriers, and nuclear-attack submarines with global reach, extensive space-based capabilities, and a larger nuclear arsenal" is being watched with concern. This includes the assessment that China's "Belt and Road, Polar Silk Road, and Cyber Silk Road have extended rapidly, and [that] it is acquiring infrastructure across Europe with a potential bearing upon communications and interoperability". Much like the EU, however, there is still a view within NATO that the Alliance "should be open to the possibility of constructive dialogue with China when it serves its interests, and should continue to identify opportunities and prospects to tackle a number of global challenges" (Reflection Group Appointed by the NATO Secretary General 2020, 27).

Among the key member states of NATO and the EU, **Germany** has perhaps most significantly hardened in its view on China. The German Defence Minister, Annegret Kramp-Karrenbauer (2020), has called for "a newly consolidated Western trade alliance" to take on the challenge that "China's aggressively controlled state capitalism poses to the liberal international order". Similarly, Foreign Minister Heiko Maas has called for a "proactive approach to our relations with China as an opportunity for renewed transatlantic co-operation", citing shared American and European concerns about China in relation to "open societies, human rights and democratic standards, fair trade, unrestricted maritime routes, and the security of ... data and intellectual property" (Maas 2020).

By contrast, Russia has for the most part been far more positive about China in general and the BRI in particular. This is clear from official statements and from a range of expert opinions. For example, at a press conference following his participation in the Second Belt and Road Forum on International Cooperation in Beijing in April 2019, President Putin noted the importance of the Russia-China strategic partnership and the broad complementarity of their interests (Putin 2019a). After a meeting with Xi in the margins of the BRICS Summit in Brasilia in November 2019, Putin emphasised that this "truly ... comprehensive partnership" rests on "mutual respect for each other's interests and close coordination on key global issues" (Putin 2019b). Readouts from telephone calls between the two presidents in 2020 further underscore the nature and basis of Russia's co-operation with China. In a conversation in July 2020, for example, the two leaders reiterated their "mutual support in

¹⁰ It remains to be seen how the conclusion, in principle, of the EU–China Comprehensive Agreement on Investment will affect the speed and rigour with which any common transatlantic strategy on China will materialise (see, for example, Barkin and Kratz 2020; Barkin 2021). It is equally unclear whether a Biden administration will be less tough on China (Rosen 2020).

protecting sovereignty, preventing any interference in internal affairs from outside and ensuring the supremacy of international law," reaffirming "their interest in further close coordination of efforts on the international arena, primarily at the UN Security Council as well as in the SCO and BRICS" (The Kremlin 2020).

Russian and Russia analysts take a similarly positive view. As early as 2016, for example, Timofei Bordachev (2016)¹¹ noted that "an alliance [with China] with a positive joint agenda directed both at pursuing equally important objectives and consolidating an order in bilateral relations that would satisfy either party" would be desirable for Russia. Reflecting on Russia–China co-operation in Central Asia in 2020, he noted that "Russia's practical cooperation with China, Kazakhstan and other countries in the subregion at the level of governments, businesses, education and civil society is much stronger than Russia ever had with the West, even during the best years of their relations" (Bordachev 2020). From a different angle, other analysts emphasise that rivalries between Russia and China are often overstated (Samorukov and Umarov 2020; Umarov 2020), and thus challenges to their cooperation may be less significant than assumed.

Such assessments are further backed by the fact that an agreement between China and the EAEU on economic and trade co-operation has been in force since 2019 (Eurasian Economic Union 2018). Academic debates also note the potential for a **Russia–China strategic alliance** developing from economic co-operation (Malle 2017), for security co-operation between Russia and China through the SCO (Alimov 2018), and for economic co-operation between the (Russia-led) EAEU and the BRI (Bennett 2016).

These **diverse views on China among participating States** of the OSCE—mirroring, in part, the rekindled East–West divide in the organisation—again underscore the importance of the context in which this Report assesses the implications of China's presence and activities for the OSCE. They matter in two respects in particular, discussed further below: achieving consensus on a China 'policy' among the OSCE's participating States will be difficult at best, and China's incentives for engaging with the OSCE (rather than with individual participating States) are limited. This does not diminish the value of assessing the implications of China's growing footprint in the OSCE area, however. On the contrary, an improved understanding of these implications can contribute to better, evidence-based judgements on the consequences of action and inaction regarding China.

A Framework for Analysis

Asking the relevant questions

The OSCE's ability to deliver on its mandate of comprehensive and co-operative security is crucially dependent on the sustainability of consensus among its participating States on the norms that underpin the Organisation, as expressed in its key documents. This consensus, including on how to interpret and implement these norms, has been weakened significantly over the past decade, including by the selective recognition of Kosovo's declaration of independence after February 2008, the Russia–Georgia war of August 2008 and Russia's subsequent recognition of Abkhazia's and South Ossetia's independence, and the conflict in Ukraine since 2013.¹²

One question for this Report to consider is therefore what impact the BRI has had on the ability and willingness of participating States to live up to their "commitment to the concept ... of comprehensive, co-operative, equal and indivisible security", as last expressed in the Astana Commemorative Declaration a decade ago (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2010, 1). Related to this, there is the question of the extent to which the presence and activities of China—neither a participating State nor a Partner for Co-operation—across the OSCE region affects the Organisation's status as "the inclusive and comprehensive organisation for consultation, decisionmaking and co-operation in its region" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 1999a, 3).

Similar but more detailed questions can be explored in relation to each of the **three dimensions of the OSCE**. For the **first dimension**, relevant questions include the impact of the BRI on the OSCE region's protracted conflicts, the role of Chinese private security companies tasked with protecting Chinese assets and investments, and the influence that China can potentially exercise through its membership in the SCO, which rivals the OSCE, if not in terms of the size of its membership then in the fact that, following the accession of India and Pakistan in 2017, it comprises almost 45% of the world's population and covers a geographic area from the Indian Ocean to the Arctic and from the South China Sea to the Baltic Sea.

Challenges are also obvious in relation to the OSCE's **third dimension**. For example, the US Ambassador to the Organisation for Security and Co-operation, James S. Gilmore III, noted in an address to the OSCE Permanent Council in Vienna on 16 July 2020 that "egregious mass human rights violations on our doorstep, such as the mass abuses occurring in Xinjiang, China" cannot be ignored and that "any legitimate discussion on OSCE principles should take these larger trends into account". Specifically concerning the Belt and Road Initiative, he noted that its advocates "need to think hard about vulnerabilities in the

¹¹ Bordachev is the Valdai Club's Programme Director for "Global Democracy and International Governance".

¹² The evolving situation in Ukraine since late 2013 has been interpreted differently by states and international organisations, and these differences are also mirrored in the views of contributors to this report. For this reason, and without prejudice against any of these views, the Report will simply use the phrase "conflict in Ukraine" when referring to events and developments in and around Crimea and Donbas since late 2013.

supply chain by examining the risks associated with labour or goods sourced in Xinjiang, or from factories elsewhere in China implicated in the forced labour of individuals from Xinjiang" (Gilmore 2020, 2–3).¹³

Moreover, questions have arisen as to the impact of China's presence and activities on the **protection of fundamental human rights and freedoms** in OSCE participating States, including labour and environmental standards (Grieger 2016). The Chinese governance model, which promotes state capitalism and leaves little room for domestic political dissent, is seen as a viable alternative to both the liberal democratic Western European model and the Russian-style 'sovereign democracy', not least because of its apparent economic success. At the same time, the apparent lack of conditionality of Chinese investments in the context of the BRI reduces the leverage of other international development partners to tie economic development to the observance of international human rights standards (Indeo 2020).

Whereas the first and third dimensions appear mostly to present challenges to the OSCE, the **second dimension** may offer genuine opportunities for co-operation. At one level, the vision of the BRI and its implementation thus far appear similar to the OSCE's connectivity agenda, and both could benefit from closer co-ordination. For example, a recent World Bank Study found that "Belt and Road transport corridors could substantially improve trade, foreign investment, and living conditions for citizens in participating countries—but only if China and BRI participants adopt deeper policy reforms that increase transparency, expand trade, improve debt sustainability, and mitigate environmental, social, and corruption risks" (Kunaka 2018).

While on one level the BRI clearly aligns with the OSCE's assumption of a connection between "economic and environmental co-operation [and] peaceful inter-State relations" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2010, 1), the magnitude and reach of the initiative will inevitably have political consequences-both intended and unintended (Flint and Zhu 2019). Such political consequences include, and derive from, among others, China's need to protect foreign investments; the resultant engagement with different systems of rules and regulations that govern access to, and operations in, other markets; and the further 'regionalisation' of Asian and Eurasian spaces under Chinese leadership that overlap with existing regional visions and institutions and their respective normative and strategic foundations. This, in turn, underscores the importance of the OSCE's comprehensive security concept; that is, the three dimensions of security-politico-military, economic and environmental, and human-are closely linked, and security in the OSCE area and its subregions can only be sustained if it is achieved in all three dimensions.

Consequently, the analysis of the impact of the BRI on each of the subregions considered in this Report is structured around **six questions**:

- What drives the BRI in the subregion?
- What has been accomplished so far?
- What are the critical risks of BRI implementation in the subregion?
- How have local actors reacted?
- How do the other main players view the BRI?
- How has China responded to local and other actors' perceptions?

There will inevitably be some overlap between these questions, and the situation on the ground remains fluid. What the Report therefore tries to capture are long-term trends over the past seven years—since the launch of the BRI at the end of 2013— and how these do (or do not) represent a continuation of longer-standing Chinese engagement.

OSCE participating States in each of the subregions are included in the analysis but at different levels of detail. This is partly due to the issue of data availability and partly due to the varying importance, to China, that countries have in the implementation of the BRI.

In analysing **risk factors** linked to the BRI, the Report draws on the conceptualisation used by Pushkina and Pan (2020) in their background paper on the BRI in Kazakhstan. Modifying their analytical framework slightly, the Report considers security challenges and stability concerns, governance problems, economic viability, geopolitical rivalries, and intraregional inequality when discussing risk factors in each subregion. Acknowledging that the implementation of BRI projects, and China's presence and activities more generally, is a **dynamic process** in which different players have their own agency, the Report then also examines local reactions, the perceptions of the other main players (i.e., the United States, Russia, and the EU), and how China has responded to them.

Taken together, exploring these questions offers a detailed but nuanced picture of the impact of the BRI across the three subregions discussed in this Report. This forms the basis for an assessment of how and where the implications of the BRI for the OSCE play out.

Considering the implications

The starting point for this Report is a **two-fold assumption** that is well established in the existing literature on the BRI and widely shared among policy makers. First, the BRI is not (yet) a traditional multilateral integration project (like the EU or the EAEU) with its own explicit rules, but an economic connectivity project to enable the realisation of specific Chinese domestic and foreign national interests. Despite the prevailing Chinese win–win rhetoric, the BRI is a China-focused project first, but one that, while it has inherent risks, may benefit other countries that participate in it. Second, in its current configuration and implementation, the BRI is based on bilateral relations, even where these are realised within multilateral frameworks, such as the 17+1 or the Central Asia Regional Economic Cooperation

¹³ Concerns have also been raised by Western OSCE participating States and some of the Organisation's Asian Partners for Cooperation about the deteriorating human rights situation in Hong Kong and the possible escalation of tensions with Taiwan.

format, or in the context of relationships with existing regional organisations, such as the EU, the EAEU and the SCO.¹⁴

As a consequence, assessing the implications of the BRI for the OSCE requires consideration of its outcomes to date in the context of its drivers (Chinese national interests) and implementation framework (bilateral relations) and what they tell us about costs and benefits for countries participating in the BRI. Understanding the BRI's **track record**, including the risks and challenges that have become apparent for both China and its partner countries, will make it possible to assess its impact on the OSCE to date and in the future by looking at implications across each of the Organisation's three dimensions.

Once these implications are better understood, they can be considered from the perspective of how the OSCE as an organisation and its participating States should respond. The Report is clear about the **complex nature of the implications** of China's presence and activities in the OSCE region, and it acknowledges the difficulties of formulating and implementing an OSCE response. Yet it also views the 'China challenge' as an opportunity for the OSCE. If the Organisation and its participating States wish to take advantage of this opportunity, the report offers observations on what OSCE engagement with China could look like.

What the Report does (and does not) cover

The unprecedented ambition of the BRI makes it impossible to cover it in its entirety in this Report, and the Report's focus on the OSCE makes it unnecessary to do so. Empirically, the analysis has to concentrate on individual countries that participate in the BRI, and it also needs to extend beyond the merely bilateral level of relations between China and these countries, taking into account the **multi-layered relationships** among different actors that are relevant to assessing the implications of the BRI for the OSCE.

These relationships, first of all, play out within the countries in each of the geographic subregions covered by the Report. At this level, they primarily involve the bilateral relationships that each country has with China and **other relevant partners**, such as Russia, the EU, and the United States.

Second, this country level of analysis cannot be considered in isolation from **subregional dynamics**. In particular, relationships here involve intraregional rivalries and inequalities, the special importance that China places on specific countries as critical nodes along the economic corridors that the BRI has established and that link subregions, and, again, the role played by other 'outside' actors. Third, it is important to consider relationships in the context of **regional organisations that cut across economic corridors and geographic subregions**, for example relationships involving the EU and the EAEU, NATO and the SCO, and so on.

The countries that have signed up to the BRI to date are linked through the SREB and the Maritime Silk Road. Of particular significance to this Report are two of the six economic corridors established along the SREB: the New Eurasian Land Bridge and the China–Central Asia–West Asia corridor.¹⁵ These connect, in different configurations, over 20 of the OSCE's participating States to China and to each other, and once completed they will establish a **network of connected major urban nodes and special economic zones** to "promote policy coordination, facilities connectivity, unimpeded trade, financial integration and people-to-people bonds" (National Development and Reform Commission 2015, 210) across Eurasia, from Beijing and Chongqing to Dusseldorf and Rotterdam.

This Report will not offer a comprehensive picture of China's presence and activities in each and every one of the 27 OSCE participating States that have signed up to the BRI. Rather, it will **focus on the impact of the BRI in three subregions of the OSCE**—Central Asia, the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, and the Western Balkans—and the key states that China has targeted within these subregions.

Sources and data

Since its inception in 2013, the BRI has been the focus of countless academic books and articles, policy reports, blog posts, and media commentaries. In addition, governments and international organisations have produced their own assessments and formulated policy responses. Lest we forget, the Chinese government and its various agencies have also generated a significant number of publications, ranging from keynote speeches by leading officials, to technical documents that translate these ideas into more practical policy guidelines, to news items reporting on the implementation of specific projects.

Even with the relatively narrow geographic focus adopted in this Report, a comprehensive coverage of this wealth of sources is not feasible. Instead, the Report draws on a **selection of available sources**. These include eighteen specifically commissioned background papers from country and regional experts, academic and policy literature on the BRI, and a host of original primary data, including from Chinese, Russian, OSCE, EU, UN, and World Bank sources, among others.

The inclusion of this breadth of sources was an attempt to present an assessment of the impact of the BRI on the OSCE that is **as balanced as possible**. In trying to realise this aspiration, several constraints were encountered. The most profound limitation was the impact of the global pandemic, which made the planned fieldwork and expert workshops impossible. Additional extensive desk research, 'email interviews', and online conversations

¹⁴ The National Development and Reform Commission's 2015 Vision and Actions paper on the BRI specifically emphasises: "We should enhance the role of multilateral co-operation mechanisms, make full use of existing mechanisms such as the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO), ASEAN Plus China (10+1), Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM), Asia Cooperation Dialogue (ACD), Conference on Interaction and Confidence-Building Measures in Asia (CICA), China-Arab States Cooperation Forum (CASCF), China-Gulf Cooperation Council Strategic Dialogue, Greater Mekong Subregion (GMS) Economic Cooperation, and Central Asia Regional Economic Cooperation (CAREC) to strengthen communication with relevant countries, and attract more countries and regions to participate in the Belt and Road Initiative" (National Development and Reform Commission 2015, 217).

¹⁵ The China–Mongolia–Russia corridor is one of three economic corridors within the OSCE area. However, because this Report focuses on the BRI's impact on the OSCE's contested subregions, neither the corridor itself nor Mongolia will be further analysed here.

did offer some mitigation in this respect, however, as did the extensive feedback received from experts on early drafts of the Report.

A second problem was the availability of comparable 'hard' data on Chinese projects, investments, and loans in the countries covered in this Report. Among the available datasets, the China Global Investment Tracker compiled by the American Enterprise Institute and Heritage Foundation (Scissors 2020) offered the most comprehensive source, covering both investment and construction transactions (i.e., not trade, loans, or bond purchases),¹⁶ and served as the principal source of such data throughout the Report.¹⁷ As appropriate, it was complemented by other datasets (Aminjonov et al. 2019; Kratz et al. 2020) and by information on individual projects featured in the background papers (e.g., Bayok 2020a; Kartsonaki 2020a; Kemoklidze 2020b; Malyarenko 2020a; Savaris 2020a). Engaging with these 'hard data' and their various interpretations also repeatedly confirmed that there is very **little agreement on what constitutes a BRI project**. Consequently, the Report does not draw a sharp distinction between China's presence and activities in the OSCE region in general and the BRI in particular. The boundaries between the two are fluid and changing. Moreover, as the BRI has increasingly developed into a signature foreign policy under President Xi, the distinction has become even less relevant. In this sense, the analysis concerns China's growing footprint in the three OSCE subregions covered in the Report. This is also reflected in the policy recommendations, which emphasise the need for—and outline some options with regard to—engagement with China, not just with the BRI.

¹⁶ The distinction between investment and construction transactions is defined as follows: investment involves "ownership and an indefinite presence in the host country", whereas "construction and associated lending can stretch years, but they are not indefinite and do not bring asset ownership" (Scissors 2021, 2).

¹⁷ There is also an ongoing (but so far inconclusive) debate on the impact of COVID-19 on Chinese lending and investment along the BRI in general (Mingey and Kratz 2021; Kratz, Rosen, and Mingey 2020; Kenderdine and Yau 2020), with which this Report does not engage. Note, however, that global Chinese "investment started to dip in 2017, and construction flattened around the same time" (Scissors 2021, 1).











Cumulative investment in million \$



data not available

* This designation is without prejudice to positions on status, and is in line with UNSCR 1244/1999 and the ICJ Opinion on the Kosovo declaration of independence.

Figure 1: Cumulative Chinese Investment in Selected Countries in OSCE Subregions, 2005–2020

(Source: Scissors 2020 and author calculations)



Changing Geopolitical and Geo-Economic Dynamics Across Three OSCE Subregions

The three subregions considered in this Report—Central Asia, the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, and the Western Balkans—and the OSCE participating States within them remain targets of influence-seeking by rival powers. In the post–Cold War period, these have traditionally been the United States and the EU (i.e., 'the West') and Russia. The intensity of their competition for influence has varied over time but has generally increased over the past decade, especially in the wake of the conflict in Ukraine since late 2013 (e.g., Beyer and Wolff 2016; Malyarenko and Wolff 2018). As China's presence and activities have simultaneously grown across the OSCE region, the **rivalry between Russia and the West** has become more complex, and relations between all of these major players remain somewhat in flux.

The most obvious indicator of China's increasing footprint in all three subregions is the **growth of Chinese investment** in the countries there. Figure 1 illustrates this for the period since 2005, indicating that Central Asia received by far the most investment, including significant amounts prior to the official launch of the BRI in 2013. Within Central Asia, Kazakhstan received the most Chinese funds, and its total share of all Chinese investment across the three subregions stands at almost 40% for the period from 2005 to 2020. Comparing the three subregions directly, it becomes apparent that Chinese investment and construction contracts in Central Asia make up almost 60% of the total Chinese funds disbursed to the three subregions (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Chinese Investment and Construction Contracts in OSCE Subregions, 2005–2020

(Source: Scissors 2020 and author calculations)

In addition, there has also been an increase in **Chinese soft power projection** (Li and Wong 2018; Pepermans 2018; Jakimów 2019; Sadri and Akar 2019). This is obvious across all three subregions in relation to the growing number of Confucius Institutes and Classrooms (Figure 3), but also in more subtle forms of influence, including Chinese influence on local media, as discussed further below.



Figure 3: Chinese Soft Power Projection Compared: Confucius Institutes and Classrooms in Central Asia, the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, and the Western Balkans

(Source: author calculations based on Confucius Institute Headquarters 2020)

This level of investment in Central Asia—in both financial and soft power terms—indicates that, along the Silk Road Economic Belt, this subregion is perhaps the **most critical subregion** when it comes to determining whether the Belt and Road Initiative will ultimately succeed or fail to provide China with sustainable overland connections to the EU market, to expand its political and economic influence in countries that participate in the Initiative, and to deliver on the relevant domestic policy priorities (such as stability in Xinjiang, access capital, and production capacity). This subregion and the individual countries within it are critical to China's ability to address domestic and regional security concerns, and they provide two-way trade and transport connectivity along two economic corridors. Yet they also represent a significant challenge given their much poorer levels of governance (Figure 4).¹⁸ **Corruption**, while a significant problem in all three subregions, is particularly pervasive in Central Asia and represents one of the subregion's central challenges.¹⁹

The way in which China has engaged with the subregion in the implementation of the BRI (and similar projects preceding it) also offers important insights into how China is managing relations with local and external stakeholders, which, in turn, offers **indications of the likely future trajectories** of the Initiative more generally and its impact on the OSCE as an organisation, its institutions, and participating States.



Figure 4: Governance Indicators in OSCE Subregions, 2009–2019

(Category average for all countries in each subregion of 2009, 2014, 2019; lower values indicate poorer governance.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

Geographically distinct, and with no common land border with China, the six OSCE participating States in the **South Caucasus**

- 'Rule of law' covers perceptions of the extent to which agents have confidence in and abide by
 the rules of society, and in particular the quality of contract enforcement, property rights, the
 police, and the courts, as well as the likelihood of crime and violence.
- 'Political stability and absence of violence/terrorism' measures perceptions of the likelihood of political instability and/or politically motivated violence, including terrorism.
- 'Voice and accountability' covers perceptions of the extent to which a country's citizens are able to participate in selecting their government, as well as freedom of expression, freedom of association, and a free media.

(Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia) and **Eastern Europe** (Belarus, Moldova, and Ukraine) have a number of features in common that simultaneously set them apart from Central Asia and the Western Balkans.²⁰

While there are individual differences between these countries, as a whole they have been **socially and economically more developed** than the countries of Central Asia but have also displayed far greater degrees of political instability than either Central Asia or the Western Balkans for the past decade (Figure 5). This is evident from the ongoing conflict in Ukraine but, more recently, also from the escalation of violence between Armenia and Azerbaijan and disputed elections in Belarus and Georgia. Three of the countries—Georgia, Moldova, and Ukraine—have also been stuck in a tug of war between Russia and the West for more than a decade (Malyarenko and Wolff 2019).



Figure 5: Political Stability in OSCE Subregions, 2009–2019

(Category average for all countries in each subregion of 2009, 2014, 2019; the lower the score, the greater the political instability experienced.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

Exploring Chinese engagement in the OSCE participating States in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe thus offers an interesting counterpoint to the preceding examination of Central Asia and the subsequent section on the Western Balkans. A perspective on the six countries located there will offer insights into the impact of China's generally more limited presence and activities on both the subregion(s) and the OSCE as a whole.

The **Western Balkans** subregion comprises Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Kosovo,²¹ Montenegro, North Macedonia, Serbia, and Slovenia.²² As a subregion, the Western Balkans have significantly higher levels of development than the countries in Central Asia and in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe (Figure 6).

¹⁸ There are six World Governance Indicators: government effectiveness, regulatory quality, control of corruption, rule of law, political stability and absence of violence/terrorism, and voice and accountability. These indicators represent composite measures of perceptions ranging from -2.5 (worst) to +2.5 (best), taken from a range of different sources (World Bank 2020b). Individual definitions of the different indicators are as follows:

 ^{&#}x27;Government effectiveness' covers perceptions of the quality of public services, the quality
of the civil service and the degree of its independence from political pressures, the quality of
policy formulation and implementation, and the credibility of the government's commitment
to such policies.

 ^{&#}x27;Regulatory quality' covers perceptions of the ability of the government to formulate and implement sound policies and regulations that permit and promote private sector development.

 ^{&#}x27;Control of corruption' covers perceptions of the extent to which public power is exercised for private gain, including both petty and grand forms of corruption, as well as the extent to which the state has been 'captured' by elites and private interests.

¹⁹ The data presented in Figure 4 and similar figures below are only intended to convey a general sense of the differences between the three subregions. They mask differences between countries and changes over time, which will be subject to further analysis in the following sections.

²⁰ While not relevant from an OSCE perspective per se, the EU also groups all six countries together in its Eastern Partnership.

²¹ The OSCE has not taken a formal position on the status of Kosovo, other than basing the mandate of its Mission there on United Nations Security Council Resolution 1244. The original mandate of 1 July 1999 (Permanent Council of the Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 1999) has been renewed automatically since 2007 after the Permanent Council decided that, as of 31 December 2008, "the mandate will be extended for another month unless a participating State objects in writing to the Chairperson of the Permanent Council" (Permanent Council of the Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2007).

²² From an EU perspective, and following the accession of Slovenia and Croatia in 2004 and 2013, respectively, the Western Balkans subregion now includes Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Kosovo*, Montenegro, North Macedonia, and Serbia. For the purposes of this Report, however, all eight countries and entities are subsumed under the 'Western Balkans' designation.



2009-2019

(Source: Human Development Report Office 2020)

From China's perspective, and considering its march westward along the Silk Road Economic Belt and the Maritime Silk Road, the Western Balkans offer the unique opportunity of **direct access to the important EU market**. The subregion, and individual countries within it, are also critical with respect to how China has managed its relationships with other key external stakeholders in the BRI in a geographical space where it has a far less well-established presence, in particular compared to the European Union and NATO.

These countries are generally, albeit to varying degrees, also **more deeply integrated in Euro-Atlantic structures** than any of the others considered in this Report. Slovenia joined the European Union in 2004 and Croatia in 2013, while Albania (2014), Montenegro (2010), North Macedonia (2005), and Serbia (2012) are official candidate countries. Bosnia and Herzegovina and Kosovo have potential candidate status, with their Stabilisation and Association Agreements having entered into force in 2015 and 2016, respectively. At the same time, Slovenia (2004), Croatia (2009), Albania (2009), Montenegro (2017), and North Macedonia (2020) have become members of NATO. This level of integration also reflects the greater degree of political freedoms and civil liberties enjoyed by the citizens of Western Balkan countries, which also sets them clearly apart from the other two subregions (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Voice and Accountability in OSCE Subregions, 2009–2019

(Category average for all countries in each subregion of 2009, 2014, 2019; the higher the score, the greater the degree of political freedoms and civil liberties.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

BRI projects in the Western Balkans operate in an environment where it is likely that, despite China's primarily bilateral approach to co-operation, "the Belt and Road [will] provide[] new historical opportunities, [including for] further complementary regional co-operation" (Hu and Pan 2017, 26). Opportunities of this type arise in part from the fact that, with the exception of Kosovo,23 the Western Balkan countries are also part of the 17+1 co-operation mechanism. This is a multilateral platform that currently includes a total of 16 Central and Eastern European Countries,24 Greece, and China. Established before the BRI was launched but now firmly integrated with it, the 17+1 platform, at least in the official Chinese rhetoric, is an opportunity to establish "win-win co-operation" in the fields of connectivity, investment, trade, transport, and cultural exchange (Ferchen et al. 2018; Kartsonaki 2020a). There are strong links across the 17+1 platform, including in the form of a transport and logistics corridor from the Greek port of Piraeus to the Hungarian capital of Budapest. This Balkan Silk Road is a central element of the overall Chinese strategy in the Western Balkans, which is focused above all on infrastructure development financed by a mix of Chinese loans, investment by national governments in the subregion, and (in some cases) EU grants (Savaris 2020a). This emphasis, especially on transport infrastructure, not only raises the spectre of overlap and duplication with existing projects, especially the EU-led Trans-European Transport Networks (TEN-T), but also brings different visions of connectivity (by China, the EU, and the OSCE) into direct contact, and likely confrontation.

More so than any other subregion considered here, the dynamics of the BRI in the Western Balkans offer insights into the likely future trajectories of the BRI and its impact on the OSCE as an organisation, its institutions, and participating States in a geographical space that has been **dominated by Western influence** over the past quarter-century, which is now being challenged by China's increasing footprint.

As this Report places significant emphasis on the geopolitics and geo-economics of China's presence and activities in these three subregions of the OSCE, it is worth considering, at the outset, a number of relevant indicators. The **four major players**—China, Russia, the United States, and the EU—are, unsurprisingly, of great significance to the countries in these subregions.

China, for example, was a top-five trading partner in 2019 for Albania, Armenia, Belarus, Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Tajikistan, Ukraine, and Uzbekistan.

The **EU**, however, still remains more important to more countries. Leaving aside EU members Croatia and Slovenia, it was a topfive partner in 2019 for Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Georgia, Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz

²³ Despite its non-recognition of Kosovo, China has opened a representative office in Pristina offering consular services and maintaining bilateral relationships. While Kosovo has no official representation in China, companies registered there have begun to participate more frequently in trade fairs and other forums in China (Savaris 2020a).

²⁴ Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Poland, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, and Slovenia.



Figure 8: Chinese Trade with OSCE Subregions, 2010–2019

(Source: United Nations Statistics Division 2020 and author calculations)

Republic, Moldova, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Serbia, and Ukraine. It was only in relation to Armenia (3) and Belarus (2) that the EU fell short of occupying the top spot.

Russia was the most important partner for Armenia and Belarus in 2019 and a top-five partner for Georgia, Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova, Montenegro, Serbia, Ukraine, and Uzbekistan. **The United States** had the smallest footprint in the three subregions covered in this Report in 2019, being a top-five partner for Albania, Georgia, Moldova, North Macedonia, and Ukraine.

Considering Chinese trade with the countries of the three subregions, several interesting trends are apparent (Figure 8). In the decade from 2010 to 2019, **overall trade value increased**— consistently with the Western Balkans, less so with the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, and with Central Asia (reflecting in particular the latter's greater exposure to fluctuating hydrocarbon prices).

Moreover, trade with Central Asia is slightly larger than with the other two subregions combined (\$398bn, compared to \$189bn).²⁵ This reflects the much higher Chinese imports from Turkmenistan and Kazakhstan in particular, who exported a combined total of just over \$100bn worth of hydrocarbons to China between 2010 and 2019, equivalent to 93% of all Chinese hydrocarbon imports from all three subregions (Figure 9). Conversely, the **trade deficit** of Central Asia over the same period is only about half of that of the other two subregions (\$21bn, compared to \$44bn for the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe and \$38bn for the Western Balkans). Only three countries have a trade surplus with China: Turkmenistan (\$62bn over the period, thus driving the relatively lower trade deficit of the Central Asian subregion as a whole, based on the country's hydrocarbon exports to China), Armenia (\$592m), and North Macedonia (\$180m).

²⁵ The Western Balkans in particular are largely insignificant to China, even as an export market. This is, of course, due to the smaller market (i.e., population) size of the subregion, which is not offset by higher purchasing power. The value of the subregion for China, however, derives from its location as a transit route to the EU market and the level of European integration (now and potentially in the future).







* This designation is without prejudice to positions on status, and is in line with UNSCR 1244/1999 and the ICJ Opinion on the Kosovo declaration of independence.

Figure 9: Cumulative Chinese Imports of Mineral Fuels and Oils, 2010–2019

(Source: United Nations Statistics Division 2020 and author calculations)

Equally importantly from the perspective of assessing the geopolitical and geo-economic implications of China's presence and activities in the subregions, **trade among the four major players** has remained extensive, despite the worsening relations between them. The most significant shift has been in trade with **Russia** following the imposition of sanctions by the EU and the United States in response to the ongoing conflict in Ukraine (Figure 10). According to data from the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the EU accounted for 52.6% of Russia's total trade in goods in 2010, but only 39.3% by 2019. By contrast, China's share in Russian trade increased from 9.2% in 2010 to 16.6% in 2019 (International Monetary Fund 2020). Russia's trade with the EU, China, and the United States still makes up 60% of the country's total international trade, although this is down from over 67% ten years ago.²⁶



Figure 10: Russian Goods Trade with the EU, China, and the United States as a Share of Total Russian Goods Trade

(Source: International Monetary Fund 2020 and author calculations)

For China, the picture is quite different in this respect. Its total trade with the EU, Russia, and the United States now only accounts for just over 28% of its total international trade, down from 34% a decade earlier (International Monetary Fund 2020). This decline reflects decreasing trade with the EU and the United States (down from 15.6% and 16% in 2010, respectively, to 13.8% and 12.2% in 2019) and a slight increase in trade with Russia (from 2% in 2010 to 2.4% in 2019). In trade terms, there is thus evidence that ties between Russia and China have strengthened, especially economically. Note, however, that this remains a highly asymmetric relationship: for Russia, trade with China accounts for one-sixth of its total trade, up from one-tenth a decade earlier. For China, the importance of trade with Russia has only marginally increased from one-fiftieth a decade ago, while combined trade with the EU and US still makes up just over one-quarter of its total trade.

Trade with each other remains very important for all four global players. According to data from the World Trade Organisation (WTO), China, the EU, and the United States were among each other's top non-agricultural trading partners in 2019 (World Trade Organisation 2020).²⁷ With some qualifications, this also holds true for Russia, which was not among the top five for China or the United States in terms of the value of goods it exported to either country (Table 1).

	China	Russia	EU	US
China		2	2	4
Russia			4	
EU	2	1		1
US	1	4	1	

Table 1: Non-Agricultural Trade Rank, Based on Exports Value to Partner

(Source: World Trade Organisation 2020)

While these trade data present only part of a more complex picture, they nonetheless convey a sense of the **structural parameters** within which the implementation of the BRI in the contested subregions of the OSCE occurs. Especially regarding trade between China, Russia, and the EU, the connectivities created by the BRI and related projects (including those implemented by the EU and Russia to enhance transport infrastructure and reduce trade barriers) within and across the three subregions are critical. In this sense, existing trade patterns and trends are important factors to consider when assessing the overall geopolitical and geo-economic implications of China's presence and activities in these subregions.

In one sense, therefore, the BRI constitutes an **additional challenge, and perhaps opportunity**, for the OSCE "as the inclusive and comprehensive organisation for consultation, decision-making and co-operation in its region" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 1999a, 3). Within this network of relationships, all relevant states and organisations have agency of their own. However, the scope and autonomy of their agency are determined by the relative balance of power and interests between them. The resulting dynamics set the parameters within which the OSCE can perform its role in managing security and stability across all three of its dimensions.

²⁶ These figures must be put in perspective: the EU remains Russia's most important trade partner, and decreasing trade volume between Russia and the EU is in part a result of declining oil and gas prices and rouble depreciation. Yet the general point of decreasing trade between Russia and the EU and increasing trade between Russia and China remains. I am grateful to Alexandra Dienes for pointing this out to me.

²⁷ According to Eurostat (2020), China was the third-largest partner for EU exports of goods and the largest partner for EU imports of goods (19%).

Central Asia

What drives the BRI in the subregion?

There is broad consensus among the contributors to this OSCE Network Report and within the wider literature that Central Asia exemplifies many of the key drivers behind the BRI. From an economic perspective, the subregion is critical to road and rail transit connecting China to European markets. These connections also represent strategically important alternatives to existing maritime routes. In turn, they also allow China to invest in resource extraction²⁸ in countries along the economic corridors created and to secure vital energy, raw materials, and agricultural products for domestic consumption. Politically, improving the security situation in Xinjiang (from China's perspective) depends as much on economic development in the Uighur Autonomous Region as on development in the neighbouring Central Asian states to curb the so-called three evils of terrorism, extremism, and separatism (Bitabarova 2018; Silin et al. 2018; Pantucci 2019). Stability in this wider subregion will in turn promote resilience to negative spillover effects from Afghanistan.

Within the Central Asian subregion, Kazakhstan has been the key target state for China. It is the largest, economically strongest, and politically most stable of all the Central Asian states (Bayok 2020a). The country plays a "linchpin role in strengthening regional interconnectivity", as a "bridge connecting China with Europe (Russia), the Caucasus, and Western Asia through both land and the Caspian Sea" (Bitabarova 2018, 158). Compared to the other Central Asian countries, Kazakhstan already has a relatively developed infrastructure network, and its territory is topographically easier to navigate, including for energy pipelines, with all oil and gas pipelines originating in the subregion entering China from Kazakhstan. The BRI priority of infrastructure development also dovetails with Kazakhstan's own priority in this respect (Bayok 2020b) and has contributed to Kazakhstan's aim of diversifying its otherwise heavily oildependent economy (Murat 2020). Nonetheless, and in line with China's own emphasis on diversifying its energy supplies, China has also invested heavily in Kazakhstan's own oil production, with Chinese companies now in control of approximately 25% of that sector (Silin et al. 2018, 306).

Kazakhstan is also important to China for its demonstration effect. Nazarbayev University was the venue where President Xi launched the then 'One Belt, One Road' initiative in 2013, and Kazakhstan has since seen significant investment from China extending beyond transport and energy infrastructure. As Gubaidullina and Nurdavletova (2020) point out, the Free Economic Zone Khorgos–Eastern Gate provides investors with a full range of transport and logistics services under the 'one window' principle and has attracted over 50 large Chinese projects, with a total investment commitment of \$27bn, including in mechanical engineering, agriculture, renewable energy, chemical and light industries, building materials, powdered polypropylene, and JAC-brand cars. This has been possible in part because Kazakhstan is closely co-ordinating its own national development plan, Nurly Zhol (Bright Path), with China's BRI (Bayok 2020b), thereby creating opportunities for co-investment in a wider range of projects beyond those more commonly associated with the BRI's focus on trade, transport, and energy connectivity in Central Asia and other countries and subregions along the SREB.

In Kazakhstan, but also more generally in other cases where a **national development strategy** exists, China takes the view that co-ordination between BRI and national priorities is "based on the principle of 'planning, building, and sharing together" (Pushkina and Pan 2020). From China's perspective, Kazakhstan demonstrates the oft-mentioned 'win–win' cooperation generated by BRI projects, one of the key selling propositions of the initiative to other (potential) partner countries that also downplays fears of the BRI's being a Chinese tool of predatory economic practices. Success in Kazakhstan is thus critical to China's ability "to reassure those partners of the peaceful nature of its rising power and to deter the formation of any anti-China coalition or 'anyone but China' club" (Zhou and Esteban 2018, 493).

Finally, Central Asia is essential to China's ability to manage its **relationships with a broader set of key stakeholders** in the BRI. It is an area where the BRI intersects with the security-focused SCO, the Russian-led EAEU integration project, and the OSCE, while also interacting with the EU and the United States and their respective strategies in the subregion. By establishing a strong foothold in the subregion through the BRI, China can gradually expand its control over this strategically pivotal subregion and bring it within its sphere of influence, where the EU and the United States have, at best, very limited links and leverage.²⁹

The current relationship with Russia is still predicated on the notion of a division of labour with China. The latter is gradually emerging as the economically dominant power. As a result of the Soviet legacy, Russia (until most recently the preeminent political and economic player in the subregion) remains the main security provider. Central Asia therefore also provides China with a testing ground for the operationalisation of the BRI in areas of geopolitical rivalry and for leveraging the economic potential of this initiative for broader political gains. Central Asia's significance in the 'bigger picture' of the geopolitical and geo-economic dynamics currently at play in the OSCE region as a whole is epitomised in former Kazakh President Nursultan Nazarbayev's vision of a Greater Eurasia, also embraced by Russian geopolitical thinkers (Bordachev 2019b; Luzyanin 2018; Lukin and Yakunin 2018; Karaganov 2018), as a "single integration project for the 21st century" that "will merge the Eurasian Economic Union, the Silk Road Economic Belt, and the European Union" (Nazarbayev 2015, 2). Although in its very early

²⁸ For example, approximately 75% of all Chinese uranium imports are from Kazakhstan (Silin et al. 2018, 306). As of 2020, China owns the majority of mining rights in Tajikistan, cornering an economy that is heavily reliant on exports of primary resources (Yau 2020).

²⁹ For example, China has already managed, in co-operation with Russia, to all but eliminate any significant US presence in Central Asia. This has certainly been helped by a decreasing US willingness to maintain a real presence following its drawdown from Afghanistan. I am grateful to Sergey Radchenko for pointing this out to me.



Figure 11: Chinese Investments and Construction Transactions in Central Asia, 2005–2020 (Source: Scissors 2020)

stages, the economic and trade co-operation agreement between China and the EAEU (Eurasian Economic Union 2018), which has only been in force since 2019, is a first step in this direction.

What has been accomplished so far?

The amount of Chinese investment and construction transactions in Central Asia is impressive (Figure 11). Kazakhstan clearly dominates this picture, receiving funds every year (except for 2020) and accounting for nearly two-thirds of the total Chinese funds committed to the subregion since 2005.

Unique to the Central Asian subregion, the Central Asia Data-Gathering and Analysis Team, a joint project by the Norwegian Institute of International Affairs and the OSCE Academy in Bishkek, have compiled a unified database of Chinese projects across the subregion that is current as of 2018 and lists a total of 261 projects (Aminjonov et al. 2019).³⁰ This allows for a further and more detailed breakdown of Chinese investment. These 261 projects include 52 that started before 2013, the earliest being the 1997 acquisition by China's National Petroleum Company (CNPC) of a two-thirds stake in Kazakhstan's JSC AktobeMunaiGas and an accompanying pledge to invest \$4bn in the company over twenty years. With this and another 21 pre-2013 projects, which are all aligned with what emerged as BRI strategic priorities, Kazakhstan had received the bulk of Chinese investment in Central Asia even prior to the official launch of the BRI.

Kazakhstan's privileged position has continued throughout the period of BRI implementation to date. The Central Asia Data-Gathering and Analysis Team (Aminjonov et al. 2019) identified **183 projects launched between 2013 and 2018**. Of these, 68 were carried out in Kazakhstan, at a total cost of more than \$36bn. In terms of project volume, Uzbekistan comes second with 40 projects (approximately \$4.5bn), followed by Kyrgyzstan with 32 projects (\$2.6bn), Tajikistan with 24 (\$5.5bn), and Turkmenistan with 20 (\$15bn).³¹ The overwhelming majority of these projects are carried out on a bilateral basis (Bayok 2020a). Of the 25 projects planned as of 2019, ten are situated in Kazakhstan, nine in Tajikistan, and six in Kyrgyzstan (Aminjonov et al. 2019).

Looking at **different sectors** of post-2013 Chinese engagement, the largest in terms of number of projects is Industry (37 projects), followed by Road and Rail (35), Energy (31), Mineral and Petroleum Extraction (28), Agriculture (23), People-to-People (19), and Finance and IT (10). As Figure 12 shows, Kazakhstan has again been home to the largest number of projects in most sectors.

³⁰ Note that a large number of these projects are not branded as BRI projects. They are nonetheless included in the following analysis as the dataset as a whole provides as comprehensive a picture as possible on Chinese projects in Central Asia.

³¹ Costs are approximate as financial information is incomplete. For example, of the 20 projects listed for Turkmenistan, data on costs is unavailable for 15.



Figure 12: Chinese Projects in Central Asia by Country and Sector

(Source: author calculations based on Aminjonov et al. 2019)

There is also a clear distinction in terms of the 'status' of Central Asian countries in their relationship with China:³² while Kazakhstan now has a permanent strategic partnership, Tajikistan and Turkmenistan have strategic partnerships. The relationship between China and Uzbekistan and Kyrgyzstan was elevated to comprehensive strategic partnerships in 2017 and 2018, respectively. This, in turn, is also reflected in the number of Chinese companies registered in each country: 2,800 in Kazakhstan, 1,268 in Uzbekistan, 574 in Kyrgyzstan, 400 in Tajikistan, and at least 21 in Turkmenistan (Yau 2020).

What are the critical risks of BRI implementation in the subregion?

Security challenges and stability concerns. The countries of Central Asia have faced challenges in terms of terrorism and religious extremism, including regional spillover effects from Afghanistan and 'domestic' instability associated with regime transitions and elections (Figure 13). While Kazakhstan remained the most stable country in 2019, its level of political stability has decreased, as has that of Turkmenistan, the second most stable country in the subregion. By contrast, the other three countries in the subregion—Kyrgyzstan, Uzbekistan, and Tajikistan—which have historically been less stable, have seen improvements in this regard. The seriousness of these challenges has varied over time, and questions have been raised about the actual (rather than the perceived or declared) threat level (Lemon 2018) and the appropriateness of government responses, including in terms of their human rights implications (Rahmani 2018). Some of the countries in the subregion also continue to experience civil unrest (such as in the context of the 2020 elections in Kyrgyzstan) and are exposed to different forms of transnational organised crime (Haiquan 2017; Pantucci 2019; Yau 2020; Zhao 2020).



Figure 13: Political Stability in Central Asia, 2009-2019

(Category value for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; the lower the score, the greater the political instability experienced.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

Regardless of the actual severity of these challenges, the security and stability discourse surrounding the BRI has been important in both shaping and justifying policy responses in at least two ways. First, security co-operation between China and countries in the subregion has intensified over time both on the bilateral level and within the multilateral SCO setting. Second, risks associated with a lack of security and stability have also increased China's security footprint in the subregion, including through the use of Private Military and Security Companies (PMSCs).

Governance problems. Relative institutional fragility, lack of transparency and democratic accountability, high levels of corruption, and weakly developed rule of law together create an unfavourable business environment in Central Asia (Indeo 2020). They may at times facilitate the approval and implementation of particular projects and have short-term economic benefits, but in the longer term they are detrimental to professed BRI goals, including achieving greater levels of sustainable social and political stability through economic development. Weak governance, including at the subregional level, is also likely to exacerbate longstanding water resource issues in the subregion and the cross-border tensions to which they have given rise in the past (Howard and Howard 2016).

It is also important to note in this context that the extent of governance problems varies across the five Central Asian countries. According to the World Governance Indicators (World Bank 2020b), Kazakhstan is by far the best performer when it comes to government effectiveness, regulatory quality, control of corruption, and rule of law (Figure 14). Given the country's pivotal geographic position in the New Eurasian Land Bridge, its relatively higher levels of governance, alongside fewer security challenges and stability concerns, are hardly a key driver of Chinese investment in Kazakhstan, but they create a broadly

^{32~} I am grateful to Yanliang Pan and Sergey Radchenko for providing me with up-to-date information in this context.

more favourable business environment. This, as further detailed below, is also reflected in China's efforts to respond more constructively to local concerns and to eliminate other sources of friction in the bilateral relationship.



Figure 14: Governance Indicators in Central Asia, 2009–2019

(Category value for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; lower values indicate poorer governance.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

Economic viability. For the time being, overland transport, while faster, is still more expensive than transport by sea. In addition, expected additional benefits from infrastructure investment in transit countries in Central Asia are constrained because of the "economic immaturity of markets, limited market size, corruption, cumbersome customs clearance, low administrative efficiency and high default risks" (Grieger 2016, 10). The profitability of several large infrastructure investments aimed at developing transport connections across Central Asia is currently still inhibited by the often excessive trade imbalance between China and countries in Central Asia, and along the SREB more generally, which means that trains are often returning to China empty. Moreover, Chinese loans and investments are, at least in part, also driven by a geopolitical imperative that often trumps the economic logic of many BRI projects (He 2019).

With many Chinese projects financed by loans, Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan are considered to be at high and moderate risk of debt distress, respectively (Hurley, Morris, and Portelance 2018a). At the same time, both countries are also highly vulnerable to security and stability risks (Bayok 2020a), thus compounding economic viability risks.³³

Geopolitical competition. China–Russia relations in Central Asia are highly sensitive but are becoming more regulated.³⁴ Central Asia has traditionally been part of the Russian sphere of influence. Two of the five current members of the EAEU are Central Asian countries, namely Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan, while Tajikistan and Uzbekistan (officially an observer since December 2020) are considered likely future members. Apart from Turkmenistan, all Central Asian countries are members

of the SCO. China's increasing economic footprint in the subregion has partly benefitted Russia in the sense that both were keen to eliminate US influence in the subregion, but it has also exposed the fact that Russia cannot offer similar levels of investment and that, following the departure of the US, China has become the default economic partner for the subregion, with the partial exception of Kazakhstan. According to Makarov and Sokolova (2016, 36–37), "Chinese funds are the principal source of investments for the Central Asian republics, vital for political stability under conditions of weak institutions and tough international circumstances, including the withdrawal of American troops from Afghanistan and ISIS activity".

The inevitable consequence of this is a further decrease in Russia's influence in the subregion, including in terms of political and security issues. For now, China and Russia still abide by a tacit division of labour in this regard, partly because Russia retains more suitable and fine-tuned resources to ensure military stability in Central Asia. As long as this division of labour accomplishes its objective of stability, it serves both Russia's and China's interests. Even if there is a further shift in the balance of power between them, it is not inevitable that this will lead to conflict and confrontation. However, if and when Chinese military capabilities grow and have the potential to replace Russia's, countries in the subregion will likely have to take sides, complicating relationships and posing challenges to overall subregional stability.³⁵

Intraregional inequality. The severity of the problems facing each individual Central Asian country differs from case to case, of course, but two general observations can be made on the basis of available data. First, Kazakhstan is consistently the best performer. In addition to the four World Governance Indicators already discussed above, this also holds true for human development (Figure 15).³⁶ Second, for all five countries in Central Asia, the overall development trend over the decade is positive: the level of human development has increased, state fragility has decreased, and perception of corruption has diminished. No causal claim can be made that any of this is the result of BRI implementation, but there is also no evidence that China's presence and activities have worsened the situation in relation to these three indicators.



Figure 15: Human Development in Central Asia, 2010–2019

(Source: Human Development Report Office 2020)

³³ These risks cut both ways, however. As many of these loans are provided by Chinese (state-owned) banks, unsustainable debt levels may require write-offs (especially of so-called zero-interest loans) or various deferral options (Kratz et al. 2019). There is, however, also a risk of China's potentially taking over important assets in cases of default. As of now, this risk is overstated. For example, in the frequently cited example of the Hambantota Port in Sri Lanka (Abi-Habib 2018), Chinese firms acquired equity in projects financed by Chinese loans (Kratz, Mingey, and D'Alelio 2020).

³⁴ An example of this is the China–EAEU Agreement on Economic and Trade Co-operation (Eurasian Economic Union 2018), signed in 2018 and in force since 2019.

³⁵ By that time, Russia would also no longer be in a position to resist or challenge Chinese dominance but could still contribute to destabilisation, as it arguably has done (according to Western and local perceptions) in relation to its involvement in the protracted conflicts in Georgia and Ukraine.

³⁶ The only outlier in this regard is 'voice and accountability', where Kazakhstan has fallen behind the Kyrgyz Republic but still outperforms all other countries and the subregional average (see below).

There is, however, a risk that the differential levels of engagement by China across the subregion could further exacerbate these inequalities and compound other risks already noted above. As Bayok (2020a) observes, the BRI is not the only factor that has an impact on the trajectory of intraregional inequalities. Much depends on the states themselves, which often lack the political will and frameworks for intraregional co-operation (Krapohl and Vasileva-Dienes 2019). Moreover, persistent competition between the two countries aspiring to subregional leadership, Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan, has hampered efforts to create a subregional platform, let alone a consensus, on how to strengthen the subregion's bargaining power vis-à-vis China.

If intraregional inequalities are not effectively addressed, they are likely to intensify already apparent fragmentation processes. Because of the way these affect, and are affected by, other risk factors detailed above, intraregional inequalities could become a much more serious challenge in the future, including as a risk to the feasibility and viability of economic corridors through and beyond Central Asia.

How have local actors reacted?

When considering local reactions to the BRI in Central Asia, a distinction needs to be made between **elite and public reactions**. In addition, it is important to bear in mind that 'voice and accountability' differ between countries in the subregion (Figure 16), and the level of political freedoms and civil liberties enjoyed by their citizens is limited overall compared to the other two subregions, which makes a comprehensive assessment of public reactions more difficult because of the limitations placed on independent media, to the extent that these exist at all.



Figure 16: Voice and Accountability in Central Asia, 2009–2019

(Category value for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; the lower the score, the lower the level of political freedoms and civil liberties.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

Political elites across the subregion have had predominantly positive reactions to the BRI, emphasising the economic development benefits of BRI projects. Despite this, there are concerns among political elites in Central Asian states about economic overdependence on China and the inevitably growing political influence that this will afford China (Bayok 2020a). In the absence of credible alternatives to Chinese economic engagement and a lack of subregional consensus on how to address this problem, individual countries in the subregion are relatively powerless. This situation is sustained in part by

China's preference for bilateral rather than multilateral (regional) engagement and the very differential loans and investments available to individual countries. This, as mentioned above, increases intraregional inequality and, in areas other than connectivity projects, is likely to lead to greater competition among Central Asian states for Chinese projects, making a joined-up subregional approach to China even less likely.

At the same time, political elites in Central Asian countries are not immune to public pressure. As Bayok (2020b) notes in the case of Kazakhstan, the main points of public criticism centre on Chinese labour, an often complete lack of transparency regarding projects and their possible economic and environmental risks, an absence of public consultation on proposed projects, and often opaque decision-making at the highest political levels without any local input.

Recent **survey data** (Trilling 2020), moreover, indicate that perceptions of foreign direct investment by China in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, and Uzbekistan have become increasingly negative, and while perceptions in Uzbekistan are still more positive on the whole than in the other two Central Asian countries, the overall trend there is still negative. This increasing scepticism towards China is reflected in all three countries across a spectrum of issues, from job creation to land purchases and increasing national debt.

Such criticisms need to be seen in the context of Central Asia's **generally poor living standards**, however. According to Pushkina's and Pan's (2020) review of Russian, American, and Chinese sources on the subject, the fact that BRI projects often predominantly employ Chinese rather than local workers, that Chinese employees are frequently better paid than their local counterparts, and that they tend to occupy more senior managerial posts, for example in the Kazakhstani oil sector, has added to anti-Chinese sentiment (Pushkina and Pan 2020).

Such **public criticism** can also result in policy change. Notable in this regard are the Kazakh government's reversal of its plans to allow foreigners to buy land (Sholk 2016; Auyezov and Richardson 2020) and Kyrgyz prosecutions of corrupt officials linked to Chinese investments (Palickova and Gotev 2019; Mambetova and Kilner 2018). These issues are replicated in other Central Asian countries and have led to the persistence of Sinophobia across their respective populations. For example, Yau (2020) notes that outside the capital of Bishkek, local Kyrgyz in remote towns and villages that host Chinese projects remain overtly hostile to Chinese workers and businessmen.

This reflects a general trend in which **Sinophobia** and other irritants in China's relationships with individual Central Asian countries and their populations are further exacerbated by a lack of cultural ties and Chinese soft power deficiencies. The former is the result of a Soviet legacy that established Russia as the primary and historically most prominent 'reference point' long before China's recent emergence in the subregion, including culturally through Confucius institutes. The latter is also obvious in terms of the relatively small number of so-called people-topeople projects across the subregion compared to other Chinese investments (Aminjonov et al. 2019). Moreover, comparing the number of Chinese Confucius Institutes and Classrooms across all subregions, Central Asia is lagging behind Eastern Europe, and while Kazakhstan—undoubtedly one of the key countries for China in the SREB context—still has the largest number of Confucius Institutes in Central Asia, it comes in only third overall, behind Ukraine and Belarus.

Chinese policies in Xinjiang have been a main source of friction in the past several years, with credible claims regarding the mistreatment of ethnic Uighurs, Kazakhs, Kyrgyz, and Tartars in so-called re-education camps emerging from 2017 onwards (Murat 2020). In the Kazakh case, this led to a number of public protests in the country's major cities and meant that Kazakhstan, unlike Tajikistan and Turkmenistan, did not publicly defend China over its policies in Xinjiang (Murat 2020). Since at least 2018, Kazakhstan has also refused to deport ethnic Kazakh Chinese citizens (Putz 2018) and more recently started to grant them refugee status (Rozanskij 2021).

This has fuelled pre-existing Sinophobia, which has also been sustained and exacerbated by a fear of Chinese mass migration, anger at the fact that Chinese workers are significantly better paid than local Kazakhs or Kyrgyz, for example, and a lack of cultural awareness and sensitivity on the part of Chinese migrants (Bayok 2020a; Murat 2020; Pushkina and Pan 2020; Yau 2020).

These issues in turn put **pressure on national governments** to change their approach to China. For example, Kazakhstan had to reverse a decision to allow the leasing of land to foreigners for 25 years in 2016 because of public pressure fuelled by anti-Chinese sentiment (Murat 2020; Bayok 2020b).

These examples of local resentment of Chinese projects reflect not only an obvious hostility to some aspects of the BRI but also a lack of satisfaction with local and national governments, including how they manage relations with China. Pushkina and Pan (2020) cite the opinion, held by Russian observers, that Kazakhstan's domestic politics and governance problems, including power struggles between Kazakhstan's central and local elites and between the authorities and the opposition, may be the real drivers of anti-China protests, reflecting longstanding and deep-seated mistrust of Kazakhstani elites suspected of rentseeking and corruption.

That said, the BRI has brought genuine benefits to Kazakhstan more so than to other Central Asian countries. In this sense, Kazakhstani political elites' enthusiasm for the initiative is not completely unfounded or self-serving (Bayok 2020b). Engagement with China through the BRI has enabled Kazakhstan to balance Russian influence more carefully, to consolidate its subregional leadership role, including through its participation in the EAEU and SCO, and to attract Chinese investment in its infrastructure and other sectors that have contributed to a gradual diversification of its otherwise overly oil-dependent economy.

How do the other main players view the BRI?

The three main other players in the context of the BRI in Central Asia (and beyond) are **Russia, the United States, and the EU**.

For historical and geographic reasons, Russia is more present and has higher stakes (and potentially vulnerabilities) as far as the growing Chinese presence and influence in the subregion is concerned. This is not to say that the United States and EU do not have views on the BRI in Central Asia, but based on geographic distance alone their potential vulnerabilities, at least in the short term, are not as acute as Russia's.

The **general consensus** among Russian, US, and EU sources is that, regardless of how much China may emphasise the economic focus of the BRI, its win–win approach, and the absence of geopolitical aspirations connected to the BRI, there are inevitable geopolitical consequences that flow from a project as extensive and ambitious as the BRI. Nevertheless, there is uncertainty about what these are, when and how they will materialise, and whether they are inevitable but unintended consequences or merely part of an as yet unarticulated Chinese grand strategy.

It is these uncertainties that have particularly affected Russia thus far, not least because its national interests are closely tied to the subregion. Moreover, the successful establishment of viable economic and transport corridors that bypass Russia could threaten the country's status as a hub for the overland transit of goods between China and Europe (Pushkina and Pan 2020). From Russia's perspective, this makes Kazakhstan particularly important, as it is one of the key strategic connectors between China and Russia on the way to Europe, while simultaneously playing a critical role in the EAEU for both China (providing access to the EAEU market) and Russia (connecting to southern Central Asian current and potential members). Close Kazakh political and economic co-operation with China is thus a double-edged sword from a Russian perspective as it potentially undermines the coherence of the EAEU, concerns that are further heightened by the Chinese preference for bilateral rather than multilateral relationships and the difficulties thus far in achieving meaningful levels of co-operation between China and the EAEU (Bitabarova 2018; Gabuev 2016; Pushkina and Pan 2020).³⁷ The 2018 EAEU-China economic and trade co-operation agreement (Eurasian Economic Union 2018) may go some way in addressing these concerns, but it is too early to judge its effectiveness as it only entered into force in 2019.

Keeping the geopolitical and geo-economic dimensions separate, partially on the basis of the mistaken belief that China would forever respect Russia's predominance as a guarantor of Central Asian security, has led to a situation in which "the question of security can be[come] the tipping point for increased Sino-Russian conflict over Central Asia in the future" (Gabuev 2016, 63). This is less of a short-term concern, however, as Russia currently has a physical troop presence in the subregion and maintains formal alliance arrangements in the form of the Collective Security Treaty Organisation (CSTO)—neither of which China can claim (Kaczmarski 2017). What is concerning from a Russian perspective, however, is that China has both boosted its joint (and, in the Kyrgyz and Tajik cases, its bilateral)

³⁷ In 2015, the Supreme Council of the Eurasian Economic Union decided to open negotiations with China on a trade and economic co-operation agreement which were successfully completed in 2018, resulting in a mostly symbolic non-preferential trade agreement (Supreme Eurasian Economic Council 2015; Eurasian Economic Union 2018).

military training exercises in the subregion and has begun to supply military equipment (Pantucci 2019). In addition, China has also started supporting a wider range of security forces in BRI partner countries, including police forces and border guards, and has deployed PMSCs (Farkas 2020; Office of the Secretary of Defense 2020; Yau 2020).

In the **United States**, perceptions of the BRI in Central Asia have a different focus. As evident in the existing views summarised by Pushkina and Pan (2020), there is a similar concern of a loss of influence in Central Asia (and Eurasia more broadly), as the BRI allows China to become the preponderant power in the subregion, displacing US-led institutions and undermining the liberal international economic order, including through the spread and consolidation of authoritarianism and economic coercion. These latter concerns go hand in hand with fears that a state-led approach to development will neglect issues of good governance and social and environmental impacts while encouraging risky lending practices, thereby leading to unsustainable debt.

Like their Russian counterparts, US analysts also maintain that China's economic ambitions will generate military corollaries that will inevitably increase competition between Russia and China and potentially lead to conflict between them (Pushkina and Pan 2020). This, in turn, may increase the likelihood of wider competition in the subregion as Japan, Turkey, and the EU, for example, become more assertive in the future (Bayok 2020b).

The EU suffers from a weakly developed approach to China and the BRI in general, which also affects its perception of the BRI in Central Asia. The Union's overall strategy towards China has developed slowly, and the main policy documents now date back several years. Among them, the EU-China 2020 Strategic Agenda for Cooperation of 2013 mentions Central Asia only once in the context of Peace and Security, when it notes the two sides' intention to "strengthen dialogue and communication on international and regional issues with major implications at the global level ... [and to] enhance consultations on ... Central Asia ... and the respective neighbourhoods of the EU and China" (European External Action Service 2013, 3). The 2016 Council Conclusions on the EU Strategy on China are similarly vague, merely stating that "the EU should work with China to ensure that its involvement in the EU's Eastern and Southern neighbourhoods as well as in Central Asia reinforces rules-based governance, sustainable development and regional security" (Council of the European Union 2016, 6).

The review of that document in 2019 makes no reference to Central Asia at all (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2019a). Nor does it mention the Belt and Road Initiative, although it clearly alludes to the BRI when it raises concerns about a so-called 'level playing field' and suggests that the EU "should continue to promote stability, sustainable economic development, and respect for good governance, in partnership with third countries and with even greater vigour". The EU's view of China and its increased international presence and activities is very nuanced, noting differences across policy areas that make China "a co-operation partner with whom the EU has closely aligned objectives, a negotiating partner with whom the EU needs to find a balance of interests, an economic competitor in the pursuit of technological leadership, and a systemic rival promoting alternative models of governance" (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2019a, 4).

This reflected a position similar to that suggested in the joint communication from the Commission and the High Representative in 2016 (which informed the 2016 Council Conclusions on the EU's China strategy). Here, the Commission and the High Representative had suggested that "co-operation with China on its 'One Belt, One Road' initiative should be dependent on China fulfilling its declared aim of making it an open platform which adheres to market rules and international norms in order to deliver benefits for all" (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2016, 10). Most tellingly, perhaps, and in line with the assessments of other external stakeholders, the Commission recognised that "behind the major 'One Belt, One Road' initiative lie largely economic and domestic considerations, but there will be major geostrategic consequences" (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2016, 10).

The update of the EU's China strategy published in March 2019 and the subsequent review of the EU's global strategy only three months later, in June 2019, continue a trend of growing scepticism towards China within the EU. The Union recognises "the challenges posed by China's rise as an economic and technological superpower and a systemic competitor" and notes that, as a result of the Union's commitment to a "coherent approach to China's connectivity drives westwards", €1.1bn were made available to "back regional co-operation in Central Asia-in particular on trade, counter-terrorism and on the Afghan peace process ... [and to invest] in resilience and prosperity, supporting democratic reforms, clean energy and higher education" (European External Action Service 2019, 15, 48). Support for subregional co-operation is also noted as an imperative in a joint communication from the Commission and the High Representative on a Europe-Asia connectivity strategy, which suggests that "the EU should also promote regional co-operation on sustainable connectivity as a key aspect of its Central Asia strategy" (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2018, 8).

The Central Asia strategy is in turn almost completely devoid of any recognition of China's role. The joint communication from the Commission and the High Representative notes that "renewed international efforts [in the promotion of Euro-Asian connectivity], including the extension of the Trans-European Transport Networks (TEN-T) to the EU's neighbouring countries, China's Belt and Road Initiative and other initiatives, can create significant opportunities to address the major needs of Central Asia" (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2019b, 11). The subsequent Council Conclusions (Council of the European Union 2019) that endorse the joint communication do not mention China or the BRI at all, however. Thus, in general, the EU does not oppose China in Central Asia; it merely wants to engage and co-operate with it (Bayok 2020b) on its own terms. Nevertheless, the EU's and China's visions of both connectivity and a rules-based international order are quite far apart from each other, and increasingly so as the EU takes a harder stance on Chinese human rights violations, the lack of transparency in procurement practices, and perceived divideand-rule tactics seeking to undermine EU coherence.

How has China responded to local and other actors' perceptions?

Chinese responses to local and external perceptions of BRI projects in Central Asia can be grouped into three categories. External criticism of the BRI, be it in terms of the negative social, political, or economic consequences of specific projects or the initiative in general, are either ignored or countered with examples of success and praise from local partners. This is particularly evident in **official assessments** of the BRI, which constantly reiterate that the "Belt and Road Initiative is an initiative for peaceful development and economic co-operation, rather than a geopolitical or military alliance ... [which] upholds the principles of extensive consultation, joint contribution, and shared benefits" (Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative 2019).

At the same time, where there are **undeniable problems**, the response usually involves commitments to improving the situation. When the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences released its annual report on the BRI in 2017, the announcement included the acknowledgement that as a consequence of "risks related to politics, culture, business, law and morality ... 65 percent of Chinese foreign direct investments make a loss". To address this issue, the report recommended both specific business strategies and "deepening political mutual trust ..., refining implementation strategies and increasing cultural exchanges to further promote [BRI] implementation" (H. Chang 2017a).

When it comes to the **risks** associated with the BRI, Chinese official and semi-official sources generally accept that there are risks but portray Western assessments as exaggerated. For example, the SCO Yellow Book of 2017 acknowledges that there are significant security risks in Central Asia, especially those related to Afghanistan and IS, but then goes on to note that "the security environment in Central Asia is not as serious and dangerous as the West has suggested, and relations between Central Asian countries are on a good trend, which is conducive to stability in the region" (H. Chang 2017b).

The fact that **security concerns** are nevertheless high on the agenda for Chinese policymakers is evident in two parallel sets of developments. In 2010, the Ministry of Commerce issued a "Regulation on the Safety Management of Overseas Chinese-Funded Companies, Institutions and Personnel", which, according to Yau (2020), "called on Chinese companies with overseas projects to expand their security budgets, conduct risk assessment as part of initial business research, and employ local armed police or security measures if needed". Crucially, it also included "a strict rule to 'send no untrained personnel overseas,' [thereby encouraging] increased Chinese PMSCs efforts

overseas" (Yau 2020). Further implementation guidelines were issued in March 2018. These asked companies investing overseas to prioritise Chinese PSMCs, which are subject to regulation by the Ministry of Public Security, prohibiting them from being fully private (Yau 2020).

In parallel, as noted earlier, China has also intensified its participation in **military exercises** in Central Asia. Some of these are multilateral in character and focus on the interoperability of different SCO forces, whereas others are bilateral and focus on specific concerns such as counterterrorism and border security. This has also involved the provision of more training and equipment by Chinese forces to Central Asian partners, including in the area of cybersecurity (Pantucci 2019).

Finally, China has also become more sensitive and responsive to local civil society concerns about the impact of BRI projects on the communities that are directly affected by them. This has included better preparation of Chinese workers and managers before their deployment, while greater attention is also being paid to labour standards and the living conditions of local and Chinese employees. Alongside this, China has begun to work harder on local media penetration in order to communicate the alleged benefits of the BRI more effectively at the local and the national level and to improve China's image more broadly, as well as its cultural appeal (Pushkina and Pan 2020). The latter is part of a broader **soft power strategy** that is particularly focused on key target states such as Kazakhstan, which are also important to China in terms of their demonstration effect for the BRI. Here, so-called people-to-people projects are particularly significant, involving language education, scholarships for study in China, and engagement with think tanks in a co-ordinated effort to improve understanding and appreciation of China and its BRI (Chen, Cheng, and Wu 2019; Dellios 2017; Indeo 2020). This is also evident in China's efforts to publicise its investment in green energy along the SREB and to establish a discourse on Chinese-led environmental sustainability (Gubaidullina et al. 2019).

Moreover, while Central Asia may be lagging behind other subregions in relation to the use of Confucius Institutes for soft power purposes, the countries of the subregion are well integrated in the SCO Universities initiative, an international educational programme akin to the (Bologna) Common European Educational Space. Of the 79 universities that took part in the initiative in 2018, 14 were from Kazakhstan, 10 from Tajikistan, and eight from Kyrgyzstan. SCO Universities run joint BA and MA programmes in a range of areas (including information technology, energy, and economics). Originally proposed at the 2007 SCO summit in Bishkek, the initiative officially started in 2008 and is among the areas to be strengthened as part of the "Action Plan for 2021-2025 for the implementation of the Program of Multilateral Trade and Economic Cooperation", which was approved at the meeting of the Council of Heads of Government of SCO Member States in Delhi in November 2020 (Shanghai Cooperation Organisation 2020).38

³⁸ I am very grateful to Mara Gubaidullina and Saniya Nurdavletova for information on the SCO Universities initiative. See also Gubaidullina (2019) and Nurdavletova (2019).

The South Caucasus and the OSCE's Eastern European Participating States

What drives the BRI in the subregion?

The South Caucasus and Eastern Europe are occasionally considered a critical node in China's march westward (Fasslabend 2015, 299), but such an assessment comes with several caveats. Along the New Eurasian Land Bridge, BRI implementation at present has only resulted in major projects in Belarus, which is an indispensable transit country along the China-Kazakhstan-Russia-Belarus route to the EU market, but has also seen additional Chinese investment in industrial projects, and to date Chinese banks have provided \$4.5bn in loans to Belarusian companies (Malyarenko 2020a). Apart from Belarus's geo-economic significance to the BRI, there are also geopolitical factors at play insofar as China considers Belarus an ally in an anti-Western (and especially anti-American) coalition (Malyarenko 2020a) while also remaining mindful of Russia's traditionally close links with the country. Partly also reflecting China's economic interests in continuity and stable relations with Belarus, the geopolitical signal sent by its support of Alyaksandr Lukashenka in the contested outcome of the 2020 presidential elections should not be underestimated in terms of endorsing a more outspoken Russian position against perceived Western interference in the post-Soviet space (Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty 2020).

While Belarus is generally hailed as one of the great success stories of the BRI (e.g., most recently, Liu, Dunford, and Liu 2021), in terms of actual investment China's engagement with Ukraine has by far exceeded its engagement with Belarus and Moldova, both in the period before and since the inception of the BRI (Figure 17). Ukraine could potentially be interesting to China as a transit country for the existing New Eurasian Land Bridge, as part of the EU-Asia connectivity strategy, and as a node in a potential future connection via the Black Sea. This potential has yet to be realised, however, given geopolitical tensions around, and social, political, and economic instability within, Ukraine (Malyarenko 2020b; Tytarchuk 2020). As far as Moldova is concerned, the main reasons for non-integration with the BRI are its relatively peripheral location (away from the main relevant economic corridors) and its low levels of economic development, the small size of its domestic market, and its predominantly rural economy (Malyarenko 2020a).





(Source: Scissors 2020)

When it comes to the South Caucasus, the potential again outweighs the current reality. The existing China-Central Asia-West Asia Corridor could be complemented by Trans-Caspian land and sea corridors through Kazakhstan, and potentially Turkmenistan, using existing deep-sea ports in Aktau and Kuryk and in Turkmenbashi, respectively, and then through Azerbaijan (using the Baku-Alyat deep-sea port), Georgia and Turkey, using the Baku-Tbilisi-Kars (BTK) railway (Indeo 2019, 71). The BTK only presents one option for connecting China to the EU market, however. The other is a thus far unrealised route across the Black Sea, either to Romania and/or Bulgaria directly into the EU or via Ukraine and from there (potentially) connecting to the existing New Eurasian Land Bridge via Belarus or Poland or to the 'Balkan connection' via Hungary. This would make Georgia a critical node, offering both rail and maritime connection points (Kemoklidze 2020b).

Beyond transport connectivity, Georgia, like other countries along the SREB, has become a source of minerals (especially copper ore) and agricultural products (especially wine) for the Chinese market, and Chinese companies have established a presence in various sectors in Georgia, including finance, telecommunications, and tourism (Kemoklidze 2020b).

Georgia is also interesting to China from another perspective insofar as it is presently the only country in the subregion with a preferential trade regime with the EU—through the Deep and Comprehensive Free Trade Area (DCFTA) since 2016—and a Free Trade Agreement with China that has been operational since 2017. In addition, Georgia has further **free trade agreements** in place with Turkey and eight other CIS member states (Kemoklidze 2020b).³⁹ What Georgia cannot offer China, however, is access to the EAEU market, which is something only Armenia can provide in the South Caucasus. Given the country's geographic and relative political isolation, however, Chinese engagement there has been limited thus far.

Against this background, the **drivers of Chinese engagement** with the countries in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe are similar to those in the other two OSCE subregions considered in this Report: transit, access to domestic markets, and resources. However, and in light of a complex set of geopolitical factors (see below), this has resulted in significantly more limited engagement

³⁹ These are: Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Kazakhstan, Moldova, Turkmenistan, and Ukraine.
in the subregion as a whole and in more focused economic and political investment, in particular in Ukraine and Belarus. Put differently, while China's focus on Ukraine and Belarus as key target states is similar to its focus on Kazakhstan and Serbia, there has been considerably less comparable investment in the surrounding subregion (Figure 18).



Figure 18: Country Share in Overall Chinese Investment and Construction Transactions in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, 2005–2020

(Source: Scissors 2020 and author calculations, no data available for Armenia)

What has been accomplished so far?

Open-source data on BRI implementation in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe is very sketchy, in part reflecting China's smaller presence across the countries in the subregion, with the notable exception of Ukraine and Belarus, which account for just under 80% of all Chinese funds (Figure 18).

Ukraine has already received the most Chinese funds in the period, accounting for just over half of all Chinese financial flows into the subregion. In terms of value, most of these predate the official launch of the BRI. While most of these have been investments in the energy and agri-food sectors, the country has significant potential for the BRI as a connection to EU markets, either as a branch of the New Eurasian Land Bridge or as a node in the Trans-Caspian/Black Sea route. However, this potential remains largely unrealised to date, particularly due to a range of geopolitical factors (Malyarenko 2020b). Ukraine is a key 'battleground' for influence between Russia and the West and is now also one of the countries in the subregion that has seen significantly more US pushback against Chinese engagement (see further below). The challenges affecting China-Ukraine relations are also evident in the fact that formal meetings at the level of the two countries' presidents are relatively rare: in 2013, then Ukrainian President Viktor Yanukovych and his Chinese counterpart, Xi Jinping, signed the China-Ukraine Strategic Partnership Development Plan (2014-2018), and at least two further meetings took place between Xi and President Petro Poroshenko in the margins of international gatherings in Davos and Washington, but with few details available on the content of the discussions.⁴⁰ Moreover, a recent agreement between the

Ukrainian and the Chinese governments has been shrouded in secrecy: apparently concluded in late December, it involves a \$1bn loan for investment in two infrastructure projects (Markarova 2020).⁴¹

As noted above, there has nonetheless been significant Chinese investment in Ukraine, including in the energy sector (especially solar power production), agriculture (e.g., a newly built grain terminal in Mykolaiv facilitating Ukrainian exports to China), and the military-industrial complex. Almost 70% of these investments by value (\$6.9bn out of \$10.3bn) predate the official launch of the BRI in 2013 (Scissors 2020). The same is true for Chinese soft power projection in Ukraine. Four of the six Confucius Institutes in the country were established before 2013, with the remaining two launching in 2013 and 2019. Yet the fact that China has continued to invest in Ukraine, and at a higher rate than in Belarus, also indicates that Ukraine remains of significant interest in the context of the BRI, despite the many risks and difficulties associated with this relationship.

The most notorious project in relation to Chinese investment in the Ukrainian military-industrial complex is the acquisition by Beijing Skyrizon Aviation of a controlling stake in Motor Sich, one of the world's most advanced producers of military aircraft engines and engine parts, for which it also provides maintenance services (Hurska 2020). China became Motor Sich's biggest customer after the collapse of the company's Russian market when the conflict in Ukraine broke out in late 2013. In 2016/17, several Chinese offshore companies linked to Beijing Xinwei Technology together acquired approximately 80% of shares in Motor Sich. These individual acquisitions have been investigated by Ukraine's antimonopoly commission since 2017, when trading in Motor Sich shares was suspended following accusations that anti-monopoly legislation had been violated in the share acquisitions (Polyshchuk 2020). Following three years of procrastination on the issue, in September 2020, Skyrizon officially notified the Ukrainian government of their intention to pursue international arbitration and separately moved to consolidate their holding through Skyrizon and its Ukrainian partner, DCH Group, in an application to the antimonopoly commission (Gorchinskaya 2020; Polyshchuk 2020). Much like the fate of the deep-sea port in Anaklia, China's failure to invest in strategic assets along the SREB is a consequence of the increasingly intense geopolitical competition that has resulted from deteriorating relations between China and the US (Malyarenko 2020b) and the increasing pressure that the latter has put on its allies to limit engagement with China.

In terms of investment, **Belarus** comes in second place, after Ukraine, but as an all-important transit hub to the EU market it remains the most critical node in the subregion. China and Belarus have developed a comprehensive strategic partnership since 2013 (Zeng 2016, 530), when the two countries' presidents issued a "Joint Statement on Establishing a Comprehensive Strategic Partnership". In 2015, the two sides signed a Treaty of

⁴⁰ By contrast, Xi and Lukashenka have met at least once every year since 2015. In the Moldovan context, the most high-profile meeting was that between China's State Councillor and Foreign Minister Wang Yi and then Moldovan Minister of Foreign Affairs and European Integration Tudor Ulianovschi on the side-lines of the 12th Davos Summer Forum in Tianjin in 2018.

⁴¹ The timing of the agreement is interesting: it occurred during the Christmas holidays in (Western) Europe, at a time when the EU was preoccupied with finalising the investment agreement with China and the United States was consumed with the turmoil of a contentious presidential transition. I am grateful to Tatyana Malyarenko for pointing this out to me.

Friendship and Cooperation and issued a "Joint Statement on Further Developing and Deepening Comprehensive Strategic Partnership". This was followed in 2016 by the two presidents' "Joint Statement on Establishing Comprehensive Strategic Partnership Featuring Mutual Trust and Win-Win Cooperation".

Apart from investment in transport infrastructure along the Belarusian segment of the New Eurasian Land Bridge, the 91.5 square kilometre Great Stone China–Belarus Industrial Park, founded in 2010, is now considered one of the BRI's flagship projects. It hosts a wide range of companies, including China– Belarus joint ventures, operating in diverse sectors from biotechnology and pharmaceuticals to data storage, processing, and ecommerce. Similar to developments in Kazakhstan, where the BRI has been linked to the Nurly Zhol national development strategy, the Great Stone Industrial Park is an example not only of the potential of 'win–win' co-operation between China and BRI partner countries but also of "the reconfiguration of Eurasian geopolitics and geoeconomics" (Liu, Dunford, and Liu 2021, 12).

In addition, there has been significant investment in Chinese soft power in Belarus, with six Confucius Institutes and one Confucius classroom, the second highest number of such institutions anywhere among the countries considered in this Report. Yet China and Belarus also have ties in the security sector, which are evident, for example, in Chinese supplies of military equipment such as armoured vehicles (Parameswaran 2017).

The importance of **Azerbaijan** to a potentially strengthened Trans-Caspian route is evident from several high-level meetings between Presidents Xi and Aliyev in 2014, 2015, and 2019. In 2015, the two sides signed a "Joint Statement on Further Developing and Deepening China-Azerbaijan Friendly Cooperative Relations" and a "Memorandum of Understanding on Construction of the Silk Road Economic Belt", which significantly increased bilateral trade between the two countries following the 2014 oil crisis. In 2019, at the Second Belt and Road Forum for International Cooperation, the two countries signed bilateral agreements for an estimated \$821m economic package for Azerbaijan that focused on Chinese investment in the non-oil sector (Baghirov 2019; Kemoklidze 2020a).⁴²

This Trans-Caspian route has been developed relatively independently of China, however, or rather with little involvement on China's part. Azerbaijan, Georgia, and Kazakhstan had already established the International Association Trans-Caspian International Transport Route (TITR) in 2013, which was subsequently joined by Turkey and Ukraine (Kemoklidze 2020b), indicating potential 'onward connections' from the South Caucasus to Eastern Europe and the New Eurasian Land Bridge, as well as to the China–Central Asia–West Asia corridor, thus providing a potential alternative route for goods from the Khorgos dry port on the Sino-Kazakh border to Europe (Indeo 2019; Kemoklidze 2020b). The main problem for the route is the absence of a viable deepsea port on Georgia's western coast. Plans to develop one have been in place since before the BRI was inaugurated (Rukhadze 2015) but have failed to make significant progress over the past eight years. Initially, a joint bid by Power China and Georgia's Anaklia Industrial Eco Park and Port Ltd., which would have involved a total \$5bn in investment, was considered the leading contender for the development of a deep-sea port in Anaklia (Menabde 2015). In 2016, however, the contract for developing it was awarded to the US-led Anaklia Development Consortium (Menabde 2016). Subsequent efforts to bring China back into the development through China COSCO Shipping (also the majority stakeholder in the port of Piraeus and a range of other EU ports) failed in 2019 (Menabde 2019). In 2020, the Georgian government suspended the contract with the Anaklia Development Consortium (Daly 2020; Kemoklidze 2020b), and the project has been on hold ever since.

Until recently, **Armenia**'s involvement with the BRI was the most marginal in the subregion, given that blockades by Turkey and Azerbaijan and international sanctions on Iran have severely limited the country's transit potential in all directions (Kemoklidze 2020a). Nonetheless, Armenia is important to China precisely because it is a critical node in the potential larger trade corridor—sometimes referred to as the seventh economic corridor of the BRI (Belt & Road News 2019c)—stretching from Iran, one of China's most important partners in the Middle East and the Persian Gulf, to the Black Sea, the Caspian Sea, and Russia.

In August 2020, signalling China's growing presence and activity in Armenia, the two countries signed an agreement on the joint development of a 'smart city' for about 15,000 people in Armenia, constituting an investment worth approximately \$10–15bn over the next 15 years (Kemoklidze 2020a). While this would make Armenia a much more significant partner in the implementation of the BRI in the South Caucasus (and potentially the largest recipient of Chinese investment in the subregion as a whole), it remains to be seen whether these plans will be realised in light of the recent re-escalation of military hostilities between Armenia and Azerbaijan and the new geopolitical reality this has created through the introduction of Russian peacekeepers and the formal involvement of Turkey.

The limited connectivity options that the South Caucasus offers to China because of the absence of a viable deep-sea port in Georgia (leaving only a southern option via the BTK railway line to Turkey) have also had an impact on BRI implementation in Eastern Europe. While this has already been discussed in relation to Ukraine above, it has meant that **Moldova** remains an extremely marginal player in the BRI (also due to its generally more peripheral location).

Chinese engagement in Moldova is extremely limited, with only two projects on record to date. The first is China's investment in Moldova's Black Sea port of Giurgiulesti in 2015, which made Moldova a destination for China Shipping Container Lines and included an option for the development of a special economic zone within Giurgiulesti International Free Port for future investments by other Chinese companies (Giurgiulesti

⁴² In 2016, the AIIB provided a \$600m loan to the Azerbaijani state-owned Southern Gas Corridor company to co-finance the Trans-Anatolian Natural Gas Pipeline Project, which connects Azerbaijan's Shah Deniz 2 natural gas field to Turkey and Southern Europe (Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2016).

International Free Port 2015). The second is a deal negotiated in 2019 for two road construction projects, worth approximately \$400m, which would build a ring road around the Moldovan capital of Chişinău and a road connecting the north of the country to neighbouring Ukraine (Belt & Road News 2019a; 2019b).

What are the critical risks of BRI implementation in the subregion?

As has been the case in Central Asia, there is relatively broad consensus in the existing literature on the risks for, and from, BRI implementation in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe. What is striking is that these risks are concentrated in relatively few areas and are closely connected to each other. This reflects a particular feature of the subregion (as perhaps the most contested of the three subregions considered in the Report). The geopolitical tug of war between Russia and the West, and the risks associated with it, has shaped the nature of China's engagement with the subregion. In turn, geopolitical risk considerations have also driven how national governments, Russia, and the West have responded to China's increased presence and activities in the subregion.

Security challenges and stability concerns. There is no shortage of security-related risks in either the South Caucasus or Eastern Europe (Figure 19). Belarus has been the most stable country throughout the period, which does not reflect the recent contested presidential elections in the country. With the exception of Ukraine, all other countries have experienced a decline in their political stability levels over the past decade. In the context of the conflict since late 2013, Ukraine experienced the steepest decline between 2009 and 2014 and has enjoyed only a moderate recovery since then.

In the **South Caucasus**, unresolved conflicts in relation to Georgia's separatist territories of Abkhazia and South Ossetia continue to pose challenges (including beyond the subregion) in terms of the management of relations between Russia and the West, while also impeding north–south connectivity (Kemoklidze and Wolff 2020; Remler et al. 2016; Wolff, Remler, and Davies 2017). More important at present is the recent escalation of violence between Armenia and Azerbaijan over Nagorno-Karabakh, which directly affects existing and planned Chinese investment and threatens the carefully preserved balance that Beijing has struck in navigating between Armenia and Azerbaijan (Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2016).

In the **Eastern European countries**, with Moldova being relatively low on China's radar,⁴³ the conflict over Transnistria is not particularly important in the context of the implementation of the BRI—in contrast to the continuing conflict in Ukraine, which is testing Russia–China relations as well given that China has always been a strong defender of sovereignty and territorial integrity (Malyarenko 2020b; Tytarchuk 2020).



Figure 19: Political Stability in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, 2009–2019

(Category value for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; the lower the score, the greater the political instability experienced.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

A different kind of challenge has (again) arisen in the context of the disputed presidential elections in Belarus in August 2020. Siding with Russia in rejecting alleged Western interference (Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty 2020), China endorsed Lukashenka as the election winner (Lau 2020). This reflects China's interests in political continuity in Belarus and its fear of a Ukrainian, Georgian, or other 'colour' revolution (Malyarenko 2020a). It is also a relatively low-risk strategy: it implicitly endorses Russia's backing of the incumbent but does not commit China to anything beyond rhetorical support, and it does so in full awareness that the significance of its substantial economic foothold in the country cannot be ignored by any of Lukashenka's potential successors (Umarov 2020).

Governance problems. With the exception of Georgia, corruption is systemic and pervasive across the subregion and is reflected in weakly institutionalised rule of law, poor regulatory quality, and low levels of government effectiveness (Figure 20). The recent unrest that followed fraudulent presidential elections in a context of severe pandemic mismanagement has put an end to this state of affairs. Governance problems, which also contribute to the entrenchment of different degrees of state capture by powerful oligarchs across the subregion, are therefore one among several factors that make investment unattractive to China, especially where there is (as yet) no overarching geo-economic or geopolitical reason to invest.

⁴³ This is unlikely to change under incoming President Maia Sandu, who has prioritised ties with the EU in her foreign policy agenda, notwithstanding statements released after her meetings with China's ambassador to the country in July 2019 (shortly after her inauguration as prime minister) and in November 2020 (after her victory in the presidential elections), in both of which the two sides pledged to explore future opportunities for economic co-operation (Belt & Road News 2019c; Jamshaid 2020).



Figure 20: Governance Indicators in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, 2009–2019

(Category average for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; lower values indicate poorer governance.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

At the same time, better governance alone is not sufficient for Chinese engagement either, nor does poor performance deter Chinese investment. The former is illustrated by Georgia: the best performer across the subregion on all World Governance Indicators, Chinese investment in the country has slowed since 2016, after China's bid for the development of the Anaklia deepsea port was rejected. By contrast, and despite its overall poor performance on governance indicators, Ukraine has continued to attract Chinese investment since 2016, after a two-year hiatus in 2014 and 2015 at the height of the conflict there.

In contrast to the other two subregions covered in this Report, economic viability and intraregional inequality do not feature in the reported risks. Regarding the former, this is because, according to the China Global Investment Tracker (Scissors 2020), many Chinese investments in the subregion predate the launch of the BRI and were focused on sectors with relatively few concerns regarding their overall viability. Of the cumulative Chinese investments in Ukraine, for example, 70% were made before 2013, and 70% were investments in the relatively dependable energy sector (again, 50% predating the BRI).

Regarding intraregional inequality, data from the Human Development Index suggest that the differences between the best- and worst-performing countries are much smaller than in Central Asia, again against the background of overall improvement over the past decade (Figure 21).



Figure 21: Human Development in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, 2010–2019

(Source: Human Development Report Office 2020)

Geopolitical competition, by contrast, remains the major risk identified in existing studies (Fasslabend 2015; Gabuev 2016; Haiquan 2017; Kratz, Feng, and Wright 2019) and in the original research (Malvarenko 2020a; 2020b; Kemoklidze 2020b; 2020a; Tytarchuk 2020) carried out for this Report. The key dynamic here is the longstanding competition for influence between Russia and the West (i.e., the United States, the EU, and NATO) in this part of the post-Soviet space. This has been particularly significant in the cases of Georgia, Moldova, and Ukraine. All three are deeply divided, albeit to different degrees, between broadly pro-Russian and pro-Western segments of the population. In Georgia and Ukraine, these geopolitical divisions largely overlap with territorial divisions between areas controlled by the government and those that are not. In Moldova, the division extends beyond that, with a sizeable segment of the population also backing political parties that advocate for stronger ties to Moscow. In all three cases, this has created and sustained perpetually unstable domestic political environments, which is further exacerbated by the protracted conflicts that these three countries continue to face.

Together, the United States, the EU, and NATO have considerably greater sway over Georgia, Moldova, and Ukraine than Russia and China do. This has been evident, for example, in the success that the United States has had in pushing Chinese investors out of the Anaklia deep-sea project in Georgia (which was also opposed, albeit for different reasons, by Russia and Turkey) and in preventing the consolidated takeover of Motor Sich in Ukraine. Similarly, Ukraine's declination of an invitation to join the BRI as part of the New Eurasian Land Bridge in 2017 indicates Kyiv's significant reluctance to jeopardise strong ties with the West over uncertain benefits from co-operation with China (Malyarenko 2020a). Consequently, China's presence and activities in Ukraine and Georgia, as well as in Moldova, are unlikely to increase significantly.

At the same time, Russia's role in the conflict in Ukraine and its recognition of Abkhazia's and South Ossetia's independence in 2008 sit uncomfortably with China's declared foreign policy imperative of non-interference and respect for sovereignty and territorial integrity. The strategic importance (for the time being) of good relations with Russia therefore also limits Chinese options in its bilateral relations with Ukraine and Georgia. At the same time, countries like Belarus (and Kazakhstan) have rejected Russian plans for deeper political integration within the EAEU and have emphasised its economic dimension, while again viewing China as an important counterweight to Russia. However, given the depth of the economic ties between Russia and Kazakhstan and Belarus, and the additionally strong political ties between Russia and Belarus, the notion of China as a counterweight to Russia is still more aspirational than real. The BRI could nonetheless potentially be a win-win scenario, at least in the medium term, strengthening Chinese influence in and on key EAEU (and SCO) member states while lessening their dependence on Russia. As the balance of power between Russia and China is likely to tilt further in Beijing's favour over time, however, this win-win scenario could eventually shift to one in which China emerges as the sole victor.

By contrast, Russian and Chinese interests are more aligned in relation to Belarus and, to some extent, Armenia. Both countries are members of the CSTO and the EAEU and are thus heavily dependent, in economic and security terms, on Russia. Given the critical importance of the Belarusian node in the New Eurasian Land Bridge and the importance of Armenia in the potential north–south corridor from the Persian Gulf, Russia and China, jointly and individually, are more likely to push back against perceived Western interference in these two countries.

This tentative delineation of zones of influence that cut across the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe limits Chinese options when it comes to implementing BRI projects, but at the same time it consolidates Chinese influence in those countries, especially Belarus, where the BRI is already well established. Given the increasingly hard-line approach that the West has taken towards China and Chinese involvement in Europe, this is likely to push Russia and China into even closer geopolitical co-operation in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe. This, in turn, will also increase the dependency of countries in the subregion on their respective external supporters, limiting their own agency and autonomy when it comes to engaging with China.

How have local actors reacted?

Compared to the other two subregions covered in this Report, local reactions to the implementation of the BRI have been relatively muted. **There has been no indication of widespread public** disapproval of **China's presence or activities in any of the six countries.** This is unsurprising given that, with few exceptions, projects are fewer and less high profile in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe. While the failure of Chinese investment in the Anaklia deep-sea port and in Ukraine's Motor Sich raised questions among the general public about the transparency of decision-making (Kemoklidze 2020b; Malyarenko 2020b), these were more directed at national authorities than at China, also reflecting relatively higher levels of political freedoms and civil liberties (Figure 22).



Figure 22: Voice and Accountability in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, 2009–2019

(Category value for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; the lower the score, the lower the level of political freedoms and civil liberties.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

At the **elite level**, bilateral relations with China are generally cordial. Even countries that are currently reluctant to engage more deeply with China (such as Ukraine and to some extent Georgia) continue to hedge their bets in order to retain the option of possibly deepening co-operation in the future.

According to some Russian analysts, countries in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe consider China a potential counter-weight to Russian influence while also recognising that the price of diminishing Russian influence in this way may be greater dependence on China (Gabuev 2016). For some states, however, although not consistently, the EU and the US are the more important factors in balancing Russia. For Ukraine and Georgia, for example, calculations have changed over time. In the case of Ukraine, the predominantly pro-Russia orientation under President Viktor Yanukovych facilitated the signing of the strategic partnership agreement with China in 2013, while the subsequent shift towards a more pro-Western geopolitical orientation under his successors led to the country's distancing from China. As the BRI (and in particular the New Eurasian Land Bridge) is seen as a potential tool of influence for Moscow as well, collaboration with China is increasingly framed in similar civilisational terms, as a choice between Russia and the West (Malyarenko 2020b). Put differently, "Ukraine's possible involvement in[] a Eurasian geo-economic project with Russia, Belarus, and Kazakhstan is interpreted as a betrayal of Ukraine's national interests" and limits the policy options that the current administration in Kyiv enjoys in terms of its engagement with China (Malyarenko 2020a).

The underpinning dynamic of a pro-Western choice and consequently increasing dependence on, and influence by, the West (especially the United States) also applies to Georgia, where the initial enthusiasm that accompanied the signing of the free trade agreement with China in 2016 has waned. A similar trend is likely to become more obvious in Moldova under its new president as well.⁴⁴

How do the other main players view the BRI?

Compared to Central Asia and the Western Balkans, the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe is the **least-settled subregion in geopolitical terms**. Given the well-established competition for influence between Russia and the West, China's growing penetration of the subregion is viewed in largely geopolitical terms.

For **Russia**, China's BRI is overall beneficial in the short to medium term, as it contributes to economic development on a scale beyond Russia's own ability. This is particularly the case in Belarus and could also apply to Armenia in the medium term if planned Chinese investments there go ahead. Moreover, Russia and China share an interest in limiting Western influence in the subregion, and thus the prospects of increasing Chinese political

⁴⁴ While Moldova–China relations were relatively less developed compared to other countries in the subregion, then President Igor Dodon had scheduled a high-level visit to China for late June/early July 2020, which had to be cancelled because of the global pandemic. Shunned by the EU, Moldova could only look to China as a potential counterweight to increasing dependence on Russia. While arguably Dodon's choice, he, like Yanukovich during his tenure as Ukraine's president until 2014, was keen to use engagement with China as a way to regain some autonomy vis-à-vis Russia.

influence on the back of BRI projects in countries where Russian influence has diminished is generally viewed positively in Moscow (Bordachev 2019a). However, this has not stopped Russia from opposing Chinese projects that it considers detrimental to its own national security interests, such as the Anaklia deep-sea port in Georgia (Kemoklidze 2020b).

By contrast, **American**, and increasingly **European**, views of China's growing presence and activities in the subregion consider it "a long-term challenge to America's global leadership role and its position as the central player in the global trading order" (Tybring-Gjedde 2020, 10). Moreover, China is now also perceived as a more credible (and hence more dangerous) challenger in security terms, as the country has increased its "defense and security outreach [and] has sought to extend its ability to project military power to safeguard its overseas interests", including along the economic corridors of the BRI (Office of the Secretary of Defense 2020, 124).

With China increasingly seen as the United States' main rival by Washington and its allies, involvement in the BRI is becoming increasingly difficult for those countries in the subregion, like Georgia, Moldova, and Ukraine, that have a generally pro-Western geopolitical outlook in terms of their foreign policy and that harbour aspirations for closer integration into Euro-Atlantic security and economic institutions.

How has China responded to local and other actors' perceptions?

As in Central Asia and the Western Balkans, China has generally trodden carefully in its implementation of BRI projects and its broader engagement with the subregion. By and large, Beijing has **respected Russian sensitivities** in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe. Chinese interests are most closely aligned with those of Russia and the local elites in Belarus, which at present remains the most important country in this subregion for China from the perspective of providing connectivity to the EU market. Chinese engagement with Ukraine has progressed little since the signing of the Strategic Partnership Agreement in 2013, and China suffered a significant recent setback in its attempts to consolidate control over Motor Sich. Given **Western leverage** over Ukraine and Ukraine's tense relations with Russia, which limit prospects for closer co-operation with China as well, Beijing has now threatened legal proceedings in the Motor Sich case. This does not necessarily indicate China's full-scale disengagement from a country in which it already has significant investments (totalling approximately \$10bn since 2005). Rather, it could be an indication that China will refocus its engagement with Ukraine on the kind of infrastructure projects that leave open the possibility of Ukraine's eventually becoming an alternative and complementary route to the existing New Eurasian Land Bridge economic corridor.

In comparison to the OSCE participating States of Eastern Europe, the scale of China's activities in the South Caucasus to date has been more modest. This is partly a reflection of Russian and Western influence in the subregion, which in turn shapes the domestic 'space' for engagement with China. Nevertheless, the South Caucasus will remain an area of Chinese interest overall, despite the obvious security and stability risks that it poses.

The Western Balkans

What drives the BRI in the subregion?

The main driver of the expansion of the BRI into the Western Balkans is **access to the European market**. This has two dimensions. On the one hand, the EU's single market remains among the most important Chinese export destinations and is facilitated through direct (and potentially growing) access to the EU through member states in the subregion (Van Der Putten et al. 2016). Various infrastructure development projects that connect the port of Piraeus in Greece with Budapest (i.e., the Mediterranean with the Danube), once completed, will significantly reduce shipping times and costs of products destined for local and EU markets, in some estimations from 30 to 20 days, thus maintaining their competitiveness in light of increasing production costs (Casarini 2016, 102).

Access to local markets in the Western Balkans is clearly not the main driver of BRI projects in the Western Balkans, but China is a significant trade partner for countries in the subregion, exporting predominantly low-priced consumer goods such as clothing, mobile phones, and other consumer electronics. In the case of Serbia, there has also been a recent trend of Chinese exports of military and surveillance technology.45 Significantly, as in other countries and subregions considered in this Report, China is also an export destination for the Western Balkans, albeit with a significant trade deficit remaining. Albania, Montenegro, and North Macedonia export mainly raw materials to China, namely chromium ore, aluminium ores and lead ores, and iron alloys, respectively. Croatia, Serbia, and Slovenia export higher value-added products, such as machinery and electronics, while Serbia's and Bosnia and Herzegovina's exports additionally include agricultural products (Savaris 2020a; United Nations Statistics Division 2020).

On the other hand, "Europe is also the most promising potential source of advanced technology for China, given the political tensions that exist between China and the United States, and between China and Japan" (Van Der Putten 2014, 19). Even though this **need for technology** is at present satisfied predominantly by the more advanced economies in Western Europe, for the past five years Slovenian exports of automotive components to China have significantly increased and currently account for more than 20% of the country's total exports to China of approximately \$600m (Savaris 2020a; United Nations Statistics Division 2020). It is also important in this context to note that the relatively unrestricted access enjoyed by Chinese companies thus far, including state-owned enterprises (SOEs), is likely to come to an end in light of the EU–China Comprehensive Agreement on Investment (European Commission 2020e) and

as the EU and the US have begun to better co-ordinate their strategies on China.

Beyond market access, the Western Balkans are also an important subregion when it comes to the BRI's demonstration effect. This is important in several respects. First, while there is little in terms of a common historical or cultural background to China's relationships with the subregion, China has been able to present itself as a neutral business partner willing to co-operate irrespective of any differences (Savaris 2020a). Through its pursuit of (again predominantly bilateral) arrangements, China has also been able to offer projects "tailored to the specificities of each country, including to its key industrial assets, leading economic sectors, geographical location ... as well as its legal and policy framework" (Savaris 2020a). The latter is particularly important in terms of relations with the EU. For example, the relationship between China and Croatia, an EU member state, was "boosted when the China Road and Bridge Corporation was chosen as the Pelješac Bridge contractor". The construction of the bridge was also supported with EU funds, thus serving as a "model of tripartite co-operation" between China, the EU, and Croatia that produced much-touted "mutual benefits and winwin results" (Kartsonaki 2020a). This in turn signals a degree of adaptability and flexibility on China's part when it comes to playing by the rules of other actors, in this case accommodating EU principles and standards that it has resisted elsewhere.

Second, and closely related, the Western Balkans are another area where China can demonstrate its no-strings-attached approach to development, offering the capital for much-needed investment in the subregion—especially to countries that have few other options, such as Serbia, which has long found **EU conditionality** difficult to accept while being unable to attract the necessary financing from Russia, its other main international partner, for the modernisation of its aging transport and energy infrastructure.

What has been accomplished so far?

There are clear incentives for China to engage in the Western Balkans through the BRI, including the opportunity to present itself as a responsible provider of global public goods and as offering a potentially more attractive vision of an international order that benefits all participants in the BRI. The pursuit of this opportunity is reflected in the projects that have been implemented in the subregion so far, and many of the countries there initially showed significant enthusiasm for co-operation with China, although the actual extent of the concrete benefits to the countries and their local populations is not always clear (Cheng 2016, 313). There also remains uncertainty regarding the actual extent of, and commitment to, Chinese involvement in specific countries, as some projects have stalled or have even been cancelled (Kartsonaki 2020a). Overall, China has concluded fewer investment and construction contracts in the Western Balkans than in the other two subregions covered in this Report (Figure 23).

⁴⁵ In September 2018, for example, Belgrade and Beijing agreed that Serbia would acquire Chinese Chengdu Pterodactyl-1 military drones and technology transfers to help it finalise the development of its own 'Pegaz' drone. Similarly, the so-called 'Safe City' project, agreed in 2017 and implemented by Huawei, foresaw the delivery of 1,000 high-definition cameras to the Serbian capital, with the aim of modernising Belgrade's surveillance system. The agreement also provided for the establishment of a Huawei Innovation Centre for Digital Transformation (Savaris 2020a).



Figure 23: Chinese Investment and Construction Transactions in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe, 2005–2020 (Source: Scissors 2020 and author calculations, no data available for Albania)

There is no comprehensive database of BRI projects in the Western Balkans, but to the extent that information is in the public domain, the predominant pattern that emerges is one of Chinese engagement in transport infrastructure and energy.⁴⁶

Among the other countries in the Western Balkans, Serbia clearly stands out as China's most important partner, with a long track record of projects, particularly in relation to energy and transport infrastructure (Savaris 2020b). Serbia accounts for almost 60% of all Chinese investment and construction transactions in the subregion, making it as important as Kazakhstan and Ukraine in this respect. Some of these projects predate the launch of the BRI, such as the Mihajlo Pupin Bridge in Belgrade, financed by a €260m Chinese loan and implemented by the China Road and Bridge Corporation (CRBC) from 2010 onwards. Apart from this history of successful co-operation, Serbia's strategic importance to China derives primarily from its geographic location, the numerous trade agreements that the country has signed with other major subregional players, such as the EU, Russia, and Turkey, and its growing relations with the UAE (Konrad Adenauer Foundation 2018).

While a wide range of projects in the energy sector and in local transport have been pursued, the flagship project of the BRI in Serbia remains the construction of the Belgrade–Budapest railway linking the Serbian and Hungarian capitals, which is a critical node in the Balkan Silk Road from Piraeus to the EU and is viewed by China as "part of a combined infrastructure and logistics project that, in turn, is a key component and symbol of its BRI aspirations in, and for, Europe" (Ferchen et al. 2018, 2).

A similarly important project is the construction of a part of the Belgrade–South Adriatic E-763 highway, which, as a branch of the Trans-European Highway, is of strategic importance not only to Serbia but to the entire Western Balkan subregion and beyond. Serbian transport infrastructure development is also likely to benefit from BRI engagement in the future, including the modernisation of the high-speed railway linking Belgrade to Niš, announced in July 2020 as a €2bn project to be implemented by CRBC.

In Albania, the government and China's Exim Bank agreed in 2014 on the construction of the Arbër motorway (connecting the capital Tirana to the North Macedonian border) as part of a transport corridor intended to connect the Ionian Sea to the Bulgarian coast of the Black Sea. In 2016, China's Geo-Jade Petroleum Corporation purchased the controlling rights to two Albanian oil fields, including Europe's largest on-shore oil field, Patos Marinza, which accounts for most of Albania's crude oil reserves and production. Also in 2016, China Everbright and its partner, Friedmann Pacific Asset Management, acquired the operating rights to Tirana International Airport, the country's only mixed-use civilian–military airport, which has particular strategic significance for Albania as a NATO member.

The main Chinese investment in **Bosnia and Herzegovina** to date has been in the energy sector: a combined \$1.3bn for the Tuzla 7 Lignite Power Plant and the Stanari Power Plant (which predates the BRI). Agreed in 2017 and funded with a \notin 700m loan from Exim Bank, the renovation of the Tuzla power plant runs counter to obligations undertaken by Bosnia and Herzegovina to comply with EU state aid rules and environmental safeguards. It also violates Sarajevo's commitment, made under the Energy Community Treaty (ECT), to move towards more sustainable energy sources and to decarbonise its energy production. Given its significant lignite coal reserves, however, coal-fired power plants have long been at the heart of the country's energy strategy. With other funders like the World Bank no longer supporting coal-based energy generation, "China has emerged as a recent,

⁴⁶ Unless indicated otherwise, the following overview draws on data compiled by Kartsonaki (2020a) and Savaris (2020a). See also Karásková et al. (2020, 17).

large funder of these projects, with proposed financing for six coal plants in the country" (Shearer, Brown, and Buckley 2019, 19). This is in line with China's strategy for addressing domestic overcapacity issues related to obsolete technological know-how; China has the knowledge and the people to build coal plants, and as it is limiting the expansion of its own coal-based energy production, this human and technological capacity has become an asset it can export to BRI partner countries (Inskeep and Westerman 2019).

In the margins of the 2019 annual summit of the 17+1 platform in Dubrovnik, Croatia and China signed ten bilateral agreements on infrastructure, agriculture, finance, telecommunications, and tourism, including a Memorandum of Understanding between Huawei and the Croatian Central State Office for the Development of Digital Society on co-operation in the area of digitalisation. These potential projects have been dwarfed, however-including in terms of their symbolic value-by the construction of the Pelješac bridge, which is the largest Croatian-Chinese joint project and which is being implemented by CRBC with EU funds. This project is a good example of the demonstration effect of certain BRI projects in that it demonstrates that Chinese companies have the capacity, if required, to act in line with EU standards and to compete successfully for EU funding (in this case, €357m from EU Cohesion Policy funds) in co-operation with local partners (in this case, the Zagreb-based Chinese Southeast European Business Association, which supported the preparation of the bid).

The construction of the Bar–Boljare highway is the major Chinese project underway in **Montenegro**. Funded by an €800m loan from Exim Bank and implemented by China's CRBC, the motorway, once completed, will link the Montenegrin port of Bar on the Adriatic Sea to Serbia. Although this would be a strategically important element of the Balkan Silk Road, questions have been raised about the project's economic viability and its implications for the financial stability of the country, with the level of Montenegro's indebtedness lying at around 80% of the country's GDP (Hurley, Morris, and Portelance 2018b).

North Macedonia's strategic geopolitical importance to China is based on its location in the transport corridor linking the Greek port of Piraeus to the Hungarian capital of Budapest. Several Chinese companies are currently active in North Macedonia, including China International Water & Electric Corporation (CWE), which is involved in the construction of the Kozjak hydropower plant, Huawei, which is engaged in the implementation of an e-education project, and Sinohydro, which has been contracted for the construction of two motorways aimed to facilitate transport connectivity across the country (the Kičevo–Ohrid and the Miladinovci–Štip highways).

Co-operation between China and **Slovenia** has significantly increased since 2018. In that year, the Chinese company Hisense purchased the main Slovenian home appliance manufacturer Gorenje for over €340m, Chinese-controlled Aerodrom Maribor

acquired the operating rights to Maribor airport,⁴⁷ and the operator of Port of Koper, Luka Koper, signed a deal to increase ship connections and trade with China's Ningbo Zhousan Port Group, thus making the Slovenian port an official part of the BRI.

What is also noteworthy in the Western Balkan subregion more generally is China's increased investment in soft power tools that focus on both people-to-people exchanges and the dissemination of positive information on China and the BRI, with the latter being viewed increasingly critically by Western observers (Munich Security Conference 2019). In this context, China has been using its network of Confucius Institutes and cultural centres, in addition to the China-sponsored Kina Danas (China Daily) news website in Bosnia and Herzegovina, which covers Bosnian and Chinese news, usually taken directly from state-controlled Chinese media outlets. Bosnia and Herzegovina is also host to two Confucius Institutes in Sarajevo and Banja Luka, which testifies not only to the importance that China attaches to strong cultural links with the subregion but also to its recognition of the significance of relationships with subnational authorities and the important transnational links that they involve in a highly fragmented subregion.

What are the critical risks of BRI implementation in the subregion?

Security challenges and stability concerns. The countries in the Western Balkans are relatively more stable than their counterparts in other subregions, but there are quite significant differences between them, which also reflect variations among them in relation to their integration in European and Euro-Atlantic structures (Figure 24).



Figure 24: Political Stability in the Western Balkans, 2009–2019

(Category value for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; the lower the score, the greater the political instability experienced.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

With the exception of Slovenia, they all suffer (albeit again to varying degrees) from internal, external, and transboundary challenges to their identities as states and nations. Internally,

⁴⁷ Less than two years after this agreement was signed, Aerodrom Maribor unilaterally withdrew when its application for state aid was rejected by the Slovenian government (Pavlova 2019). I am grateful to Argyro Kartsonaki for alerting me to this.

state and nation are more intensely contested in Bosnia and Herzegovina and North Macedonia than in Croatia and Montenegro. However, they are all connected to another legacy of the violent disintegration of the former Yugoslavia and the much longer history of state-building and nation formation in the Western Balkans, namely the incompatibility of political and ethno-national boundaries. Although no longer pursued by violent means, it has been impossible to put these issues to rest, and "the repercussions of these conflicts are still unfolding in the region" (Musabelliu 2017, 69). Perhaps most challenging, however, are the transboundary contestations in which ethnonationalist projects threaten the integrity of borders in the post-Yugoslav space. The most pronounced ethno-nationalist projects in the Western Balkans include visions of a Greater Serbia, which would endanger stability in Bosnia and Herzegovina and Kosovo, and of a Greater Albania/Greater Kosovo, which would destabilise North Macedonia, Serbia, and Montenegro. Together with internal and external challenges to state and national identities, these transboundary contestations create a web of interconnected potential triggers of violent conflict that could destabilise the entire subregion (Kartsonaki and Wolff, n.d.).

Most of these challenges are exemplified in the case of Bosnia and Herzegovina. The country remains politically unstable and deeply fragmented, with a highly complex system of institutions that are costly and time-consuming to navigate. This is often considered one of the main factors hindering the expansion of BRI-driven economic co-operation in the country (Bastian 2017) and also explains, in part, the more direct engagement that China has pursued with the Republika Srpska entity within Bosnia and Herzegovina (Kartsonaki 2020a).

Governance problems. As the Bosnian case illustrates, security and stability challenges are closely linked to governance problems, often in mutually constitutive and exacerbating ways. Social, financial, and economic instability, contested elections, persistently high levels of corruption, and weak rule of law reflect and reproduce a remarkable degree of institutional fragility (Figure 25).



Figure 25: Governance Indicators in the Western Balkans, 2009–2019

(Category average for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; lower values indicate poorer governance.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

Another telling example in this respect has been the fraught implementation of the main Chinese investment in North Macedonia: the construction of the Kičevo–Ohrid and the Miladinovci–Štip highways. Envisaged as a flagship development of the 17+1 initiative—as the first contracted project by a participating country, drawing from the \$10bn credit line provided by China—it soon became a symbol of local corruption and the lack of transparency of Chinese practices in the Western Balkans. Following an investigation, a former prime minister, his deputy in charge of economic affairs, the transport minister, and the director of the Macedonian Public Enterprise for State Roads were charged with abuse of power and the embezzlement of \in 155m from public funds (Kartsonaki 2020a; Krstinovska 2019).

The North Macedonian example points to a potentially dangerous dynamic. Rather than contributing to governance reforms, Chinese engagement benefits from, and further fuels, corruption in pursuit of politically motivated (rather than market-driven) projects as it depends on the co-operation of local elites. Nontransparent procurement practices then contribute to creating opportunities for local elites to sustain the patronage networks that underpin their hold on political power (Kartsonaki 2020a), further undermining already fragile institutions that contribute to the persistence of an environment that is not conducive to the long-term success of the BRI and that limits the 'winwin' scenario to a narrow circle of elites, while simultaneously heightening the risk of elite capture in those countries with the weakest or most fragile governance structures (Ruta 2018).

The **economic viability** of several Chinese projects in the Western Balkans is questionable and contributes to the perception that there is more to the logic of this initiative than the provision of global public goods and mutually beneficial socio-economic development. In terms of individual projects, the concern is primarily that, while these projects may boost economic productivity and create jobs in the short to medium term, they are unsustainable in the long term as their revenue streams may not even cover the necessary maintenance costs (Bastian 2017).⁴⁸ Aging and degrading infrastructures would then further endanger future economic development and drain governments' already limited financial resources.

This situation could be further exacerbated by a broader underlying financial problem. The financing model of most BRI projects is on the basis of an 85% loan (usually from a Chinese bank) and 15% local co-financing. Co-financing has become increasingly challenging because of a simultaneous lack of government resources and a generally limited (and decreasing) appetite on the part of other development partners—like the EBRD, the World Bank, and the IMF—to contribute to projects that appear primarily to reflect Chinese interests. The loan component, meanwhile, tends to create or exacerbate debt problems.

The prime example here is Montenegro, which only has one BRI-related project—the Bar–Boljare highway connecting the Montenegrin port of Bar with Serbia—but has seen its debt-to-GDP ratio increase to over 80%. The first phase of the project alone cost over \$1bn, equivalent to around 25% of the country's

⁴⁸ An example of this is the failure of the Slovenian-registered (but Chinese controlled) SHS Aviation to turn its acquisition of Aerodrom Maribor into a financially sustainable operation (Pavlova 2019).

GDP (Hurley, Morris, and Portelance 2018a, 18). While the project is strategically significant in that it promises to connect Montenegro as a whole more sustainably to the transport network of the Western Balkans and beyond, it poses a significant threat to the country's macro-financial stability, including the risk of sovereign default, and has already led to tax increases, partial wage freezes in the public sector, and benefit cuts (Brînză 2019; Kartsonaki 2020a).

Geopolitical competition. The geopolitical and geo-economic dynamics of the Western Balkan subregion are driven by a very different balance of power and influence than in the other two subregions covered in this Report. Geographic proximity, the steady progress of Euro-Atlantic integration, a dense on-theground presence, and well-established political, economic, and social linkages give a decisive but not necessarily unassailable advantage to the EU and the United States. Over the past quarter century, all of this has contributed to the stabilisation of a subregion that was plunged into all-out war in the early 1990s and saw further violence at the end of that decade, in both cases triggering a large-scale, Western-led intervention. With that said, the disputes and antagonisms that triggered the upheavals of the 1990s are far from fully resolved (Kartsonaki 2020b; Kartsonaki and Wolff, n.d.). At the same time, further progress on EU accession remains slow, and of the remaining three non-NATO members, only Bosnia and Herzegovina has a membership action plan, while Kosovo and Serbia do not.

Concern over increasing Chinese and decreasing Western influence "reflect[s] an undeniable shift in China's level of ambition and the receptiveness of local political elites to Beijing's blandishments" (Webber 2020). The latter is particularly, but not exclusively, true of non-EU and non-NATO member states in the subregion, who have grown increasingly frustrated with conditionality in the accession process and, in the EU case, with investment conditionality more generally. Substantial infrastructure investment—regarded as necessary not only for the economic connectivity of the subregion with the EU but also for its political integration—has come to be seen as being more easily available from Chinese sources (Kartsonaki 2020a) and as being linked to the transferability of a successful development model that contrasts sharply with the Western Balkans' rather "meagre performance" over the past 25 years (Vangeli 2018, 684).

Compared to Central Asia in particular, the political and economic hard and soft power effects of Chinese efforts in this subregion are "still limited and their effects probably over-stated" (Webber 2020; see also Vangeli 2019). Nonetheless, the EU has reiterated its commitment to the subregion and has stepped up its efforts, including in financial terms (Council of the European Union 2020). This indicates not only an increasing awareness of a changing dynamic in EU–China relations that has been apparent in EU policy documents for the past few years but also a more assertive stance when it comes to EU policies, with the EU defending, in classical geopolitical terms, a sphere of influence in which it is well-entrenched and holds unrivalled leverage, despite local misgivings about conditionality.

There has been similar US pushback against perceived growing Chinese influence in the subregion, particularly in relation to 5G technology. Serbian and Kosovan commitments to keeping Huawei out of their digital infrastructure in the Washingtonbrokered economic normalisation agreement was followed by Kosovo's and North Macedonia's signing up to the Clean Network initiative, which is aimed at curtailing Chinese access to the digital infrastructure of the US and its allies (Pompeo 2020). Shortly after the announcement of this initiative by then US Secretary of State Mike Pompeo in early August 2020, Albania and Slovenia aligned themselves with the effort in a joint declaration with the United States on 5G security (Office of the Spokesperson of the United States Department of State 2020), followed by North Macedonia.

To the extent that there is any actual geopolitical or geo-economic competition, it remains limited to Serbia-the largest recipient of Chinese investment and the remaining main Russian partner in the subregion (and arguably the country that is furthest away from meaningful progress on EU, and especially NATO, integration). Serbia is the only country in the subregion to which China has sold military equipment and where there have been joint military and counterterrorist exercises (Webber 2020). Belgrade and Beijing have also intensified their police co-operation in recent years, with joint patrols by Serbian and Chinese police officers in the Serbian capital and other cities, including Novi Sad and Smederevo, where the Chinese-owned Železara Smederevo steel mill is located (Savaris 2020b). Moreover, the Serbian government, especially since 2018, has aligned itself more closely with China's non-interference approach than with the EU's criticism of human rights violations in third countries and has refused to join EU initiatives condemning China's human rights record in international forums (Kartsonaki 2020a).

At the same time, Serbia is also the only Western Balkan country in which Russia maintains a significant political and economic foothold—one that stretches into the Republika Srpska in Bosnia and Herzegovina, in parallel with other influence operations elsewhere in the Western Balkans (Eisentraut and de Leon 2018; Stradner and Jovanović 2020). Despite opposition from the EU, Serbia also signed a free trade agreement with the EAEU in October 2019, adding potentially further impediments to its EU accession negotiations (Stojanovic 2019). Overall, however, Russia cannot match China, let alone the EU, in terms of economic benefits, and neither China nor Russia represents a credible political alternative to Euro-Atlantic integration across the subregion.

That said, and while Russia may resent growing Chinese influence in the subregion, "a Chinese challenge to European influence in the Balkans is the best alternative" (Van Der Putten et al. 2016, 30) for Russia in a situation in which its own influence has declined over the years. Although the "strategic goal of Russia's policy in the Balkans is preserving positions in its own civilisational area, which has historically included the South Slavic space" (Entina 2019), its role has declined mostly to that of a spoiler, frustrating Western influence without offering credible alternatives to the pro-EU and pro-NATO orientations of the countries in the Western Balkans (Webber 2020). Tellingly in this context, Russia's 2016 Foreign Policy Concept, in contrast to the 2013 version, no longer makes mention of the Balkans (Pivovarenko 2019). China, in contrast to Russia, therefore has an overarching interest in stability in the subregion insofar as it is critical to its access to the EU market (Bieber et al. 2020; Webber 2020). The limited geopolitical competition that has arisen from the extension of the BRI to the Western Balkans reflects China's interest in stability. In other words, China is not challenging the prevailing balance of geopolitical and geo-economic power in the subregion. Rather, it is adjusting to opportunities as they arise: exploiting weaknesses in local governance structures to secure contracts in contravention of such rules (as in Bosnia and Herzegovina, North Macedonia, and Serbia) while, importantly, abiding by EU standards where this facilitates access to EU funding (as in the case of Croatia).

Intraregional inequality. While there are inequalities within the Western Balkan subregion in relation to human development levels (Figure 26), what matters more in terms of the effects of (and on) BRI implementation is the degree to which integration into Euro-Atlantic structures has become a key driver of intraregional differentiation, including with regard to applicable regulatory frameworks. The seemingly greater attractiveness of Chinese investment, as noted above, has resulted in some countries in the subregion seeing greater expediency in the short-term gains that derive from BRI projects but contravene EU accession requirements than in long-term reforms that more closely approximate the acquis communautaire. This is particularly apparent in relation to Chinese investment in coal-fired electricity plants, which run counter to both EU environmental standards and commitments and rules on state aid, and in the frequent lack of transparency regarding procurement procedures (Savaris 2020a). In turn, this creates friction in these countries' relationships with the EU and potential, albeit not immovable, roadblocks on the path to future accession.



Figure 26: Human Development in the Western Balkans, 2010–2019

(Source: Human Development Report Office 2020)

Another issue that potentially complicates the smooth implementation of transnational transport infrastructure projects in particular is the persisting antagonism between countries in the subregion, already noted in relation to the security challenges and stability concerns outlined above. Although "not an existential threat to the co-operation mechanism" (Musabelliu 2017, 69), it has meant that intraregional integration has progressed slowly and lacks a solid political foundation. Until there is further alignment between China and the EU on the rules that govern the further economic development of the subregion,

intraregional integration will remain susceptible to disruption by short-term political and economic considerations.

How have local actors reacted?

In the absence of Sinophobia and other bilateral irritants, local reactions to the BRI reflect, on the one hand, the expected benefits of greater Chinese engagement in the subregion and, on the other, the risks associated with its implementation.

The familiar pattern of **elite praise and public scepticism** in relation to BRI projects is as prevalent in the Western Balkans as it is in the other subregions covered in this Report (Kartsonaki 2020a; Savaris 2020a), but it occurs against the background of the highest levels of political freedoms and civil liberties, in comparison to the other subregions (Figure 27).



Figure 27: Voice and Accountability in the Western Balkans, 2009–2019

(Category value for all countries in 2009, 2014, 2019; the lower the score, the lower the level of political freedoms and civil liberties.)

(Source: World Bank 2020b)

Criticisms include (among others) the dangers of overreliance on Chinese financing, lack of transparency in procurement procedures, the use of Chinese labour, and a lack of adherence to quality and environmental standards (Brînză 2019; Rimmer 2018; Van Der Putten et al. 2016). In addition, Kartsonaki (2020a) notes that "road construction projects improve the quality of life of the local population and are therefore popular" in the Western Balkans, where the difficult terrain often makes them too expensive for other funders, such that only China is willing to step in. Similarly, Mardell (2019) makes the point that the Bar– Boljare highway, while problematic in many other respects, "will save lives lost on the dangerous existing road, as well as better integrate the impoverished North of the country".

By contrast, Albania's government has treated calls for closer ties with China and more active participation in the 17+1 platform with significant scepticism of late, emphasising the **risks associated with Chinese investment**—an unusual departure from the enthusiasm that local elites usually show towards China (Kartsonaki 2020a).

Albania's reduced appetite for Chinese projects may well be a sign of things to come. For example, North Macedonia "tacitly withdrew from the project for the modernisation of the Corridor 10 railway with Chinese funds, while at the same time, a number of new sizeable infrastructure deals have been announced to be funded by the European banks, such as the railway along Corridor 8 to Bulgaria" (Krstinovska 2019).

At the same time, **popular resistance** has increased at the local level in particular, with demonstrations being held against the environmental consequences of several BRI projects, for example against the Tuzla coal-fired power plant in Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Drmno mine expansion in Serbia, the increased pollution that followed the Chinese takeover of the Bor copper mine and Železara Smederevo in Serbia, and the pollution of the Tara River basin in Montenegro. Public protests have gradually also begun to influence local authorities, as in the case of Bor, where they filed a criminal complaint against Zijin Bor Copper, in which China's Zijin Mining gained a majority stake after acquiring 63% of the company under a deal with the Serbian government in 2018 (Savaris 2020a).

This implies that there are potential "risks associated with a growing scepticism towards China turning into racist attitudes towards the Chinese diaspora, students and tourists" and thus that "clear divisions should be drawn between public criticism of government or party-led activities and Chinese nationals and their presence in the region" to mitigate these risks effectively (Karásková et al. 2020, 20).

How do the other main players view the BRI?

Russia, the United States, the EU, and to some extent NATO are the other main players in the Western Balkans. As noted earlier, the 'West' is the predominant geopolitical and geo-economic power in the subregion. Russia has lost much of its historical influence but remains relevant, particularly in Serbia and the Republika Srpska in Bosnia and Herzegovina. The assumption that it will also regain some influence in Montenegro in light of the outcome of recent parliamentary elections in Montenegro is unlikely to materialise (Mally 2020).

Despite its gradual retreat from the Balkans since the 1990s, the United States has maintained a strong influence in the subregion. This is particularly apparent from the effective pushback that the US has mounted against the expansion of China's Digital Silk Road into the subregion, with Albania, Kosovo, North Macedonia, Slovenia, and Serbia now all committed to banning Chinese 5G equipment from their digital infrastructure. Given that China's presence and activities in the Western Balkans are predominantly focused on transport and energy infrastructure, and given that China largely views the subregion as a transit point towards the all-important EU market, it is unlikely that US efforts to deny Chinese penetration of national and subregional digital infrastructure will do much to curb the expansion of these (from China's perspective) strategically more significant BRI projects. After all, even though China remains committed to potential co-operation with the subregion "when it comes to the digital service industry and 5G implementation", the main purpose of the BRI in the Western Balkans, and the 17+1 more widely, is to "transform the area from a marginal region in Europe to a vital link in the connection between Europe and China" (Yiwei 2020).

Nevertheless, given that China and the United States are, and are likely to remain, on a confrontation course that will "define the entire spectrum of the US-Chinese relationshipmilitary, economic, financial, technological, ideological-and increasingly shape Beijing's and Washington's relationships with third countries" (Rudd 2020), earlier US concerns that "China is enthusiastically providing governments across the subregion with no-strings funding for investment in infrastructure, undermining the West's attempts to promote conditions-based internal reform" (Less 2016), may re-emerge and prompt further US engagement in the Balkans and closer US-EU realignment on their China-Balkans policy. This is particularly likely given the view, shared by Washington and Brussels, that "democratic values and human rights principles are often, if not systematically, overlooked by Beijing" (Savaris 2020a), which increases the risk of authoritarian diffusion and consolidation in countries that are participating in the BRI. Where these countries are part of US and EU spheres of influence, as in the Western Balkans, more assertive policies to constrain China's presence and activities are likely to follow. For example, the recent US-brokered agreement between Serbia and Kosovo will curtail market access for Huawei and other Chinese technology companies.

There is already evidence of increasing **alignment when it comes to the EU's and the United States'** positions on 5G. A joint statement on the "Importance of the EU and US Partnership for Security Telecommunications Infrastructure", released on 1 October 2020 by US Under Secretary of State for Economic Growth, Energy and the Environment, Keith Krach, and the European Commissioner for the Internal Market, Thierry Breton, emphasised the need to "carefully assess the long-term impact of allowing 'high-risk suppliers' access directly or indirectly—to their 5G networks when building their telecommunications infrastructure and services", while 41 MEPs from across the political spectrum expressed their concern that "Huawei and ZTE are 'high-risk' vendors, whose technology in Europe's 5G networks would constitute a security threat" (Auštrevičius et al. 2020).

For the **EU**, however, of greatest concern are the long-term strategic implications of China's BRI in the Western Balkans, and in particular the worry that China's divide-and-rule policy is using economic leverage to achieve political influence. In 2016, for example, Hungary, Croatia, Slovenia, and Greece blocked an EU statement condemning China's actions in the South China Sea, forcing the Union to adopt a greatly watered-down version that did not even mention Beijing, while Greece blocked an EU statement at the UN criticising human rights violations under Xi Jinping (Kartsonaki 2020a; Van Der Putten et al. 2016).

This has led to greater assertiveness in EU policies towards the Western Balkans, which appears to combine a more pragmatic stance with greater emphasis on traditional conditionality, relying on the Union's significant leverage over the subregion. Accession talks with Albania and North Macedonia were therefore opened in March 2020, and the Union mobilised a further €3.3bn to support its Western Balkan partners (European Commission 2020c). At the same time, the EU has made it very clear that Western Balkan countries must "keep delivering on their reform commitments and produce tangible results in

their implementation. This is key to realising their European perspective. In addition to continued economic reforms, this requires a stronger focus on the rule of law, the functioning of democratic institutions and public administration" (European Commission 2020a).

The more assertive stance taken by the EU both vis-à-vis China in general (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2019a) and in the intensification of the EU's engagement with the Western Balkans following the Zagreb summit (Council of the European Union 2020) could lead to further friction between China and individual countries in the subregion. This should also be seen in the broader context of EU–US alignment over their respective China policies and the EU's drive for greater strategic autonomy, which, among other things, may also lead to more direct competition between the EU and China for the subregion's critical raw materials (European Commission 2020b).⁴⁹

In contrast to EU and US perceptions and responses, **Russian influence** in the Western Balkans has largely been eroded in the last decade following the success of Euro-Atlantic integration and general rapprochement with the West (Kartsonaki 2020a). Even Serbia, which comes closest to being a Russian ally in the subregion, has been negotiating its accession to the EU since 2013 and is co-operating discretely but closely with NATO (Webber 2020). Moreover, the most recent rapprochement with the US in the context of the economic normalisation agreement with Kosovo came as something of a surprise to Moscow, and only after the fact (EURACTIV 2020).

As early as 2015, in the context of a visit by Prime Minister Dmitry Medvedev to Slovenia, Russia had to acknowledge the limits of its leverage and that it "cannot expect a breakthrough in [the] lifting of sanctions yet" (Shishelina 2015). Pointing to the then 16+1 mechanism, Russian analysts noted that "poorer Eastern European countries are seeking to develop investment partnerships with China, bypassing EU institutions and standards"-a trend that they viewed in part as evidence of the "relative erosion of pan-European institutions and collective decision-making mechanisms, and the unprecedented loss of appeal of the EU both within its borders and beyond" (Bordachev 2017). It was hoped that the conclusion of a free trade agreement between the EAEU and Serbia in 2017 would "pave the way for other potential alliances in the region, including possibly with Macedonia" (Lissovolik 2017), but no further such deals have materialised, despite further assertions elsewhere that "Macedonia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Albania as well as Slovenia ... could follow in its footsteps" (Entina, Pivovarenko, and Novaković 2018). Russia's focus in the subregion has therefore remained on Serbia, where it has retained some of its influence but also faces a much larger Chinese footprint. During Putin's visit to the country in January 2019, over twenty agreements were signed, aimed at strengthening the countries' economic ties (Novaković 2019). Yet there is some acknowledgement that these agreements are also of tactical value to Serbia given that such "a broad package of agreements meets Belgrade's interests by

giving it extra room for manoeuvre in relations with Brussels and Washington" (Pivovarenko 2019) and insofar as their relatively limited financial scope, together with the failure to finalise an FTA between Serbia and the EAEU prior to Putin's visit,⁵⁰ "provide Brussels with an opportunity to show the exiguity of Russia's economic role in the region" (Entina 2019).

What this assessment fails to take into account, however, is that Serbia has explicitly adopted a four-pillar foreign policy, aiming to balance its relations with Beijing, Moscow, Brussels, and Washington (B92 2009). Moreover, the view—held by some Russian analysts—that the success of China's "more extensive penetration into the Balkan region" rests on the "enormous advantage China has over all other players in the Balkans ... [and] that no one sees it as a threat—as a hegemon, radical force or spoiler" (Entina, Pivovarenko, and Novaković 2018, 13), has turned out to be ill-founded. The more assertive stand taken by the EU and the US against China now actively seeks to limit and push back on Chinese engagement in the subregion, precisely because China is considered their main rival in the subregion and beyond.

How has China responded to local and other actors' perceptions?

China's position in the Western Balkans remains politically precarious, and several of the risks of BRI implementation identified above are particularly prominent and likely to affect its economic aspirations in the subregion.

China therefore remains concerned about its image and has sought to influence public perceptions through "media cooperation in the form of supplements [and] content sharing agreements" (Bachulska et al. 2020). As noted earlier, this is particularly the case in Serbia, which is the key target state for BRI activities in the subregion and where success is particularly important in part because of its demonstration effect.

Overall, China remains optimistic about the prospects of the BRI's success in the subregion. That said, where there are obvious problems, they are acknowledged. For example, the Chinese Ambassador to Slovenia, Wang Shunqing, has acknowledged that "it is true that Slovenia records a trade deficit with China, but the countries are striving to balance the trade", including by promoting Slovenian products across a variety of platforms, such as the annual China International Import Export fair in Shanghai (Kartsonaki 2020a).

⁴⁹ I am grateful to Alessandro Savaris for pointing this out to me.

⁵⁰ The FTA was eventually signed on 25 October 2019 (Eurasian Economic Commission 2019; RFE/RL Balkan Service 2019).

3

Policy Implications

Unending geopolitical competition is not a destiny; it is a choice. Relationships between East and West (including within the OSCE) and between China and the West may have significantly deteriorated, but this should not detract from the fact that there is an overarching interest in security and stability across the Euro-Atlantic and Eurasian area—one that all OSCE participating States share with each other and with China. This, above all, represents an opportunity for the OSCE to engage with China on the basis of an existing consensus among the Organisation's participating States.

The **clout** that an organisation of 57 participating States that stretches across the entire Euro-Atlantic and Eurasian area could bring to such an engagement, however, depends significantly on the OSCE's ability to reaffirm and reinvigorate its spirit as a comprehensive and co-operative security organisation. This is particularly important insofar as China's increasingly assertive role in international affairs also poses a challenge to its very relevance, at a time when the OSCE faces serious internal problems that affect its ability to deliver on its comprehensive security mandate.

China represents a seemingly attractive model of stable governance and successful economic development domestically and has demonstrated a willingness and ability to contribute to, and shape, global governance. It is now the second-largest financial contributor to UN peacekeeping operations, second only to the US and with a share in the budget that exceeds the combined contributions of Russia, France, and the UK (United Nations General Assembly 2018). China's creation of the Asian Infrastructure and Investment Bank, which became fully operational in January 2016, has attracted 82 regional and nonregional members to date, as well as an additional 21 prospective members. By 2020, it had net committed investments in the amount of just over \$8bn (Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2019), which, although impressive, is still significantly below the IBRD's net commitment of just under \$28bn (World Bank 2020a). This increasing engagement in the provision of public goods has given China a greater stake in the rules according to which the global governance system is run and in the processes through which these rules are made and enforced. While the BRI, because of its predominantly bilateral character, is (not yet) a typical integration project that will create its own rules-based system of governance (like the EU or EAEU), there is potential for this to occur in the future, including in ways that would rival and potentially replace existing international governance structures.

For example, the **membership of the SCO has expanded** to eight full member states (including OSCE participating States Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan, as well as China, India, and Pakistan), four observer states with membership aspirations (including Belarus and Mongolia, as well as Afghanistan and Iran), and six dialogue partners (including Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Turkey, as well as Cambodia, Nepal, and Sri Lanka).

What currently distinguishes the SCO from the OSCE is that it lacks a human dimension and a commitment to democracy as the only legitimate form of government. Institutionally less capable as an organisation than the OSCE (at least so far), the SCO's mandate is otherwise not too dissimilar to that of the OSCE, focusing on "strengthening mutual trust, friendship and good neighbourliness between the member states; encouraging effective co-operation between them in the political, trade, economic, scientific, technical, cultural, educational, energy, transport, environmental and other fields; making joint efforts to maintain and ensure peace, security and stability in the region and establishing [a] new, democratic, just and rational international political and economic order" (Shanghai Cooperation Organisation 2001, 1-2). It is also important to note in this context that China has promoted a more comprehensive security concept for some time. In a speech at the Fourth Summit of the Conference on Interaction and Confidence Building Measures in Asia (CICA) in Shanghai in 2014, Chinese President Xi argued for a "common, comprehensive, cooperative, and sustainable security" concept. For Xi, "comprehensive security means upholding security in both traditional and nontraditional fields", including "ethnic and religious problems ... terrorism, transnational crimes, environmental security, cyber security, energy and resource security and major natural disasters" (Xi 2014b). This vision of security has been firmly integrated in the BRI: in its report on the implementation of the initiative in 2019, the Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative reproduced Xi's 2014 remarks almost verbatim, stating that "all countries should foster a vision of common, comprehensive, cooperative and sustainable security" (Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative 2019, 50).

There is scope for the SCO to become a more comprehensive security organisation. The BRI could play a significant role in establishing certain **facts on the ground** and along existing economic corridors. For example, the China–Central Asia–West Asia Economic Corridor links China with SCO members and OSCE participating States Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, and Turkmenistan, with SCO observer and aspiring member Iran, and with OSCE participating State and SCO dialogue partner Turkey. This corridor also passes through Afghanistan, which has been identified as a source of significant regional and global instability by all the relevant actors in this context, including the OSCE, the SCO, and China. The New Eurasian Land Bridge, in turn, links China with OSCE participating States and SCO members Kazakhstan and Russia and with OSCE participating State, SCO observer, and aspiring member Belarus, before extending further into the OSCE region to Poland, Germany, and beyond.

The SCO is by no means a credible alternative to the OSCE in its current form. Should the **current divisions within the OSCE** lead to increasing dysfunctionality and an inability to deliver on core aspects of its comprehensive security mandate, however, the SCO may become more of a credible alternative for certain OSCE participating States that are already tied more closely to China (such as those in Central Asia) or that have pivoted to China for various geopolitical and geo-economic reasons, such as Russia. This is not to gloss over the difficulties faced by the SCO itself—including the fractious relationship between India and Pakistan, border disputes between China and India, and regional and geopolitical rivalries between China, India, and Russia, to name but a few.

With that said, **the SCO should not be dismissed**, precisely because it is led by China, closely mirrors parts of the OSCE's mandate, and complements the BRI not least in representing a multilateral mechanism for addressing a number of security risks to its successful implementation. With the conclusion of an agreement "on favourable conditions for road transportation ... [the SCO has] established the legal basis for parity conditions for road transporters and [has] set forth a single platform for international road transportation from Eastern Europe to Russian Far East and China" (Alimov 2017, 3), further cementing its complementarity with the BRI. This complementarity has also been emphasised by Chinese, Russian, and Central Asian analysts for some time and may further indicate a gradual shift away from Russian opposition to a genuinely broader mandate for the SCO in practice (Dawei 2018; Khasanov 2019; Suslov 2020).

The key objective on the road ahead is thus for the **OSCE and the SCO** to continue their dialogue and strengthen their co-operation in dealing with the common challenges and threats that both organisations face across the Eurasian space (Gubaidullina and Nurdavletova 2020; Sadik 2020). This is not a substitute for direct engagement between the OSCE and China, but it represents a potentially effective component of a broader strategy in this regard and strengthens the multilateral and co-operative basis of a comprehensive security concept.

With no evidence to date of a functioning multilateral mechanism or well-established platform for concrete multilateral communication and co-operation among states participating in the BRI (Bayok 2020b), this again underscores **the opportunity available to the OSCE** and its participating States when it comes to using its track record to manage complex security challenges through dialogue and to fill this critical gap in engaging with China and the implications of the BRI for the OSCE region. All of the main actors share an interest in security and stability in the OSCE region, but increasingly less so as a co-operative endeavour.

As major powers continue to pursue their interest in securing and expanding their sphere of influence, and as this interest increasingly drives foreign policy in and towards the region, the OSCE's potential role as a **forum for negotiating** these rival aspirations increases as well (as it has in the past). China must be brought into such negotiations, albeit not necessarily into the Organisation itself, but doing so depends on participating States' ability and willingness to develop and implement a coherent strategy to underpin such an approach, including by fostering the capacity, in their own foreign ministries, to 'understand' China (Kartsonaki 2020a). This in turn depends on a realistic and evidence-based assessment of China's current presence and activities in the OSCE region and an understanding of future scenarios. It also raises the question of the extent to which the OSCE's institutional infrastructure is prepared to take on this task given the skills and resources required.

Opportunities and challenges in the politicomilitary dimension of the OSCE

The first dimension of the then CSCE was predicated upon "the need to contribute to reducing the dangers of armed conflict and of misunderstanding or miscalculation of military activities which could give rise to apprehension, particularly in a situation where the participating States lack clear and timely information about the nature of such activities" (Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe 1975, 10). It sought to address these dangers through a range of confidence- and security-building measures (CSBMs) that have significantly evolved over the decades into the now third-generation CSBM regime codified in the 1999 Vienna Document, which reiterates the participating States' recognition that the agreed CSBMs "serve by their scope and nature and by their implementation to strengthen confidence and security among" them (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 1999b, 1). While this regime has been seriously undermined by Russia's decision to suspend its participation in the 1990 Treaty on Conventional Armed Forces in Europe (the socalled CFE Treaty), there have been no further defections from the Treaty since (Anthony 2019, 6). With that said, Russia announced on 15 January 2021 that it would withdraw from the Open Skies Treaty, following the United States' withdrawal from the Treaty in November 2020.

Although questions remain concerning the OSCE's effectiveness in the first dimension, especially in light of the 2008 war in Georgia, the conflict in Ukraine since late 2013, and the renewed military escalation between Armenia and Azerbaijan in the autumn of 2020, the **value of the CSBM regime** cannot be in doubt, and the establishment of the Special Monitoring Mission in Ukraine serves as a key example in this context. The questions that arise concerning the impact of the BRI thus relate to the potential for co-operation with China through the SCO (Gubaidullina and Nurdavletova 2020; Sadik 2020), the OSCE region's protracted conflicts (Tytarchuk 2020), and the role of Chinese private security companies tasked with protecting Chinese assets and investments (Yau 2020).

As noted earlier in this Report, China has recognised the need for more **formalised security co-operation** along the SREB. In its 2019 report, the Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative noted that, "to ensure the smooth implementation of the Belt and Road Initiative, China will work together with all other countries involved to establish a dispute settlement mechanism, a security risk early warning and monitoring mechanism, and an emergency response mechanism" so that parties involved in a potential dispute "can discuss their interests and concerns through dialogue rather than engag[ing] in confrontation", which will enable them to "respect each other's core interests and settle disputes by peaceful means" (Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative 2019, 50–51). While no such mechanisms have been formally established thus far, China has intensified security co-operation with countries in Central Asia through the SCO Regional Anti-Terrorist Structure (RATS) (Sadik 2020), which does not bode well from a human rights perspective, given China's approach in Xinjiang.

At the same time, there are already established links between the SCO and the OSCE which predate the BRI, going back to 2003-2005 and rekindled in 2010, when Kazakhstan served as Chair-in-Office of the OSCE. In 2017, the then Secretary-General of the SCO, Rashid Alimov, addressed the OSCE Forum for Security Co-operation, noting that "among the priorities of the Organisation are active development of contacts and co-operation with international and regional organisations" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2013), while his successor, Vladimir Norov, reiterated two years later (in the same setting) that "the SCO, acting as a guarantor of stability in Central Asia, is ready to work together with the European Union, the OSCE and other European international organisations" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2019). Interestingly, Norov's remarks very closely reflected the Chinese discourse on the BRI, emphasising that "the SCO is committed to promoting cooperation in building a new type of international relations, based on the principles and norms of international law, primarily justice, equality, mutually beneficial co-operation, and a common vision of creating a community with a shared future for humankind" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2019, emphasis added).

Rhetoric aside, one particularly important area in which the OSCE could be instrumental in contributing to security and stability, serving as a forum for engagement with China, is the evolving situation in Afghanistan (one of the OSCE's Asian Partners for Co-operation). Instability in Afghanistan has long been recognised by the OSCE and the SCO, as well as their respective participating and member States, as posing a significant transnational security challenge. However, just how this challenge is being handled has acquired a new dynamic in light of the ongoing negotiations between the Afghan government and the Taliban and the US troop drawdown. Given the tense relations between the United States and China, despite their shared interest in stability in Afghanistan and the Central Asian subregion, the OSCE may offer an opportunity for constructive engagement in managing this particular security challenge. Given their thematic, geographical, and institutional overlap, the OSCE could co-convene such an engagement with the SCO and the Conference on Interaction and Confidence Building Measures in Asia (CICA).

As noted above, OSCE–SCO (or for that matter OSCE–CICA) cooperation is **no substitute for direct OSCE–China engagement**. Nor is it sufficient to cover the complexity of the relationships in spaces where the OSCE and the SCO overlap, especially in Central Asia, where the CSTO has member states (Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, and Tajikistan) and where the EU, NATO, and the United States retain significant strategic and security interests of their own, albeit with a somewhat diminished presence. Nonetheless, and bearing in mind that the relationship between the two organisations is characterised not only by complementarity but also by a degree of rivalry, co-operation between the OSCE and the SCO is a potentially promising avenue for engaging in dialogue with China on issues related to the first dimension.

Such efforts can also be augmented by engaging with China on the role of PMSCs, which China has increasingly used as a form of power projection that simultaneously complements and protects its economic statecraft projects along the SREB and beyond. As Yau (2020) notes, this is particularly significant given that "the private security industry itself is structurally tied to the CCP", including through a rule of 51% state ownership of all overseas Chinese PMSCs. At the same time, China has been engaged in efforts at the international level to regulate the use of PMSCs. Alongside ten OSCE participating States, the country was among the seventeen original signatory states of the Montreux Convention in 2008 (International Committee of the Red Cross 2008), which has since been formally supported by the EU, the OSCE, and NATO. China has also supported the regular renewal of the mandate of the Working Group on the use of mercenaries set up by the UN Human Rights Council, of which it was a member until 2019. In its 2020 report to the UN General Assembly, the Working Group, among other issues, recommends that "dialogue on the new and evolving forms of mercenary and mercenary-related activities ... should include international and regional organisations", identifying cyber mercenaries as an emerging threat to international security and human rights in this respect (Kwaja et al. 2020, 19, 22).

Cyber security has been an issue area within the OSCE for some time, and in 2016 it was the subject of Permanent Council Decision 1202 on "OSCE Confidence-Building Measures to Reduce the Risks of Conflict Stemming from the Use of Information and Communication Technologies" (Permanent Council of the Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2016). This Decision was recently reconfirmed as "a platform to build trust and capacities, enhance co-operation and reduce tensions that may stem from the use of ICTs" at a high-level conference of the Albanian CiO on co-operation for a stable cyber environment (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2020a). In addition, co-operation between the OSCE's Office of the Coordinator of OSCE Economic and Environmental Activities and the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) on enhancing the cyber resilience of intelligent transport systems (Office of the Co-ordinator of OSCE Economic and Environmental Activities 2020) underscores the relevance of this topic for China and the BRI and offers an additional opportunity for dialogue, cutting across the first and second dimensions. Engagement with China to establish regional standards is also important for OSCE participating States themselves, given that China has repeatedly been accused of cyber espionage, including in the context of the BRI (Plan et al. 2019).

A final issue area to consider, which also cuts across the second and third dimensions of the OSCE, is the impact of BRI implementation (and of China's presence and activities in the OSCE region more generally) on **protracted conflicts**. As already noted, the OSCE, its participating States, China, and a range of

other regional organisations (such as the EU, NATO, the SCO, and the CSTO) have a shared interest in security and stability. Thus far, China has mostly steered clear of those OSCE participating States that continue to be affected by protracted conflicts. Chinese engagement with Armenia and Azerbaijan, Georgia, and Moldova has been relatively limited since the inception of the BRI. The only exceptions in this context are Serbia, which has been very important to China in relation to BRI implementation in the Western Balkans, and Ukraine, where the bulk of China's investment indeed occurred prior to the start of the conflict in late 2013.

Increased Chinese engagement in countries suffering from protracted conflicts is unlikely to occur in the near future for two other main reasons that are not directly related to the existence of protracted conflicts. First, hybrid land–sea routes across the Caspian and Black Seas that would require further engagement with Azerbaijan, Georgia, and Ukraine face multiple logistical obstacles, including the absence, so far, of a credible deep-sea port in Georgia (Kemoklidze 2020b). Such a route, effectively making use of the Middle Corridor proposed by Turkey, would also be inhibited by higher costs, longer time frames, and lower volumes compared to existing overland routes, especially the New Eurasian Land Bridge (Colakoğlu 2019).

The second reason is more geopolitical in nature. China continues to tread carefully in managing its relations with Russia, which is a key partner in the BRI for logistical reasons, as a potential supplier of energy, and as an influential actor in Central Asia and in the South Caucasus and Eastern Europe. Without any economic incentives for deeper BRI-related engagement in countries where Russia uses protracted conflicts as political leverage to retain influence, it is highly improbable that China will risk potential confrontation with Russia (Kemoklidze 2020b; Malyarenko 2020a; Tytarchuk 2020).

From the perspective of the first dimension, the BRI is therefore unlikely to have a significant impact on the dynamics of the OSCE region's protracted conflicts in the short to medium term. This avoids adding further complexity to already geopolitically complicated situations but also creates room for informal dialogue between the OSCE and China on conflict settlement that could be explored in relation to the second and third dimensions, as detailed below.

Opportunities and challenges in the economic and environmental dimension of the OSCE

Whereas the first dimension appears to present something of a challenge to the OSCE, the second dimension may offer **genuine opportunities** for direct co-operation with China. Both the vision of the BRI and its implementation so far dovetail with the OSCE's connectivity agenda, and both could benefit from closer co-ordination. For example, a recent World Bank Study found that "Belt and Road transport corridors could substantially improve trade, foreign investment, and living conditions for citizens in participating countries—but only if China and BRI participants adopt deeper policy reforms that increase transparency, expand trade, improve debt sustainability, and mitigate environmental, social, and corruption risks" (Kunaka 2018). While on one

level the BRI clearly aligns with an OSCE assumption that links "economic and environmental co-operation with peaceful inter-State relations" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2010), the magnitude and reach of the Initiative will inevitably have political consequences—both intended and unintended (Flint and Zhu 2019). This, in turn, underscores the importance of the OSCE's comprehensive security concept; that is, the three dimensions of security—politico-military, economic and environmental, and human—are closely linked, and security in the OSCE area and its subregions can only be achieved and sustained across all three.

Even if the visions of connectivity embraced by China, the OSCE, Russia, and the EU differ in terms of their normative underpinnings and strategic goals, these differences are often less significant at a practical level. What the EU refers to as "sustainable, comprehensive and rules-based connectivity" (European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy 2018, 2) is as much reflected in China's five BRI co-operation priorities, including policy co-ordination, facility connectivity, unimpeded trade, financial integration, and closer people-to-people ties (National Development and Reform Commission 2015, 210-17), as it is in the EAEU members' "commitment to further strengthen mutually beneficial and equal economic co-operation with other countries, international integration associations, and other international organisations" (Eurasian Economic Union 2015, 2) and in aspects of the OSCE's efforts to "promot[e] connectivity through transport and trade facilitation" and to "strengthen[] good governance through adherence to labour, social, and environmental standards" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2016, 4-5).

This represents both a challenge and an opportunity for the OSCE. While China, Russia, and the EU all recognise the value of connectivity and are pursuing more or less similar projects, especially in enhancing trade, energy, and digital infrastructure, the rules and standards they apply differ significantly, as do their long-term objectives (Saari 2019). This poses a challenge to the OSCE in the sense that a number of its participating States now find themselves exposed to different incentives and pressures from each of the three geo-economic projects and often lack control over the geopolitical fallout from competing visions of economic diplomacy, connectivity, and integration. At present, this is most visible and most unresolved in relation to Chinese involvement in digital infrastructure, especially in the Western Balkans. On the other hand, recent progress in negotiations on the EU-China Comprehensive Agreement on Investment (European Commission 2020d) indicates that a basis for commonly agreed rules can be found with China, including in a multilateral context.

For some countries, there are also **competing incentives and effective legal limits** regarding the extent to which they can embrace aspects such as China's financing model for BRI projects. Grant-based EU co-financing, for example, is more attractive than a Chinese loan; state guarantees for Chinese loans could be illegal under EU law to the extent that they can be shown to constitute competition-distorting state aid; and the requirement to contract Chinese companies for project implementation would be an infringement of EU procurement regulations (Bērziņa-Čerenkova 2020). Nevertheless, as Chinese engagement with Croatia and Slovenia has shown, China is aware of such constraints and is willing to adjust its approach accordingly (Savaris 2020a).

While it is important not to overstate the likelihood of reaching consensus with China on the precise rules that are to underpin rules-based connectivity, growing Chinese awareness of risks to the BRI emanating from a lack of rules could be another driver of engagement between the OSCE and China in the second dimension that would start from an acknowledgement of shared interests. In its most recent report on the implementation of the BRI, for example, the Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative (2019, 63) insisted that "clean government is the moral principle and the legal red line that we should never cross in Belt and Road co-operation", adding that all countries participating in the BRI "should work together to foster a modern business environment which is corruption free and efficient, strengthen supervision and management and control risk in Belt and Road projects, and create a public resource market which is procedure-based and transparent".

BRI implementation in the OSCE subregions covered here has some way to go before it can even approximate this aspiration. Nevertheless, it constitutes a useful starting point for capitalising on the OSCE's ability to convene relevant parties and to provide an arena in which to negotiate a set of shared rules. Economic (and environmental) affairs have never received as much attention as the first and third dimensions. However, they have grown in importance over the years, and economic diplomacy and connectivity have risen on the OSCE agenda, including, for example, in relation to trade facilitation, good governance, and digitalisation. Given that all stakeholders have an interest in ensuring that enhancing connectivity leads to sustainable and inclusive economic growth, the OSCE's second dimension is a potential forum in which participating States can search for consensus on the applicable norms and standards that should apply to connectivity projects regardless of their origin.

This would not necessarily resolve **incompatible strategic goals among Chinese, Russian, and EU visions of connectivity**, but it would create a framework in which they can co-exist and be constrained. A common OSCE position in this regard would also strengthen the position of weaker participating States in bilateral negotiations with China and would reassert OSCE multilateralism over Chinese bilateralism. Such an approach could be further subregionally differentiated within the OSCE, thereby assisting in overcoming fragmentation and preventing the further growth of intraregional inequalities.

In this context, it would also be important to ensure that discussions on connectivity standards and best practices draw on, and integrate, already **existing OSCE structures and policies**. Particularly relevant to the OSCE's Second Dimension is the Aarhus Convention of 1998, which established legally binding principles of participatory environmental governance (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe 1998). In light of the potentially enormous social, economic, and environmental impact that BRI implementation could have on individual OSCE participating States and their populations, stronger mechanisms for public participation would be in line with the OSCE's human security approach and would address justifiable concerns about a

lack of transparency in the procurement and implementation of BRI projects.

Engagement with China on what would constitute meaningful social and environmental standards in the planning, implementation, and operation of BRI projects would add another dimension to the establishment of a more comprehensive set of rules to underpin economic connectivity. While existing standards vary both nationally and in the context of existing regional and international agreements, discussions could start from the premise that any commonly agreed standards "should not be lower than those currently adopted domestically by the Government of China" (Tracy et al. 2017, 78). This may not always be sufficient, nor should it be seen as a desirable endpoint. However, in combination with existing commitments that OSCE participating States have made under the Aarhus Convention, it could provide a framework within which another set of rules could gradually be developed, together with workable mechanisms for monitoring implementation and compliance.

Importantly, across the second dimension as a whole, there is an important role for the private sector to inform, and as appropriate participate in, OSCE engagement with China. Within the OSCE context, there is a long tradition of the involvement of businesses and business organisations especially in the second dimension and in relation to the OSCE's connectivity agenda.

Opportunities and challenges in the human dimension of the OSCE

China's increased presence and activities across a large number of OSCE participating States in the Organisation's already contested subregions has heightened the importance of recognising the links across all three dimensions and has underscored the extent to which sustainable security can only be achieved across all of them.

This poses a **significant challenge** in the OSCE context, in particular in relation to the third dimension, where there are already disagreements within the OSCE that have been further exacerbated by the seeming attractiveness of the Chinese model of domestic governance (achieving political stability and economic development) and its approach to international relations and international order (emphasising non-interference, peaceful coexistence, and 'win–win' co-operation).

There appears to be little if any room for engagement with China on **human rights**. The more participating States embrace China as a development partner, the less the OSCE will be able to fulfil its mandate as a comprehensive security organisation that does not sacrifice the protection of human and minority rights for the preservation of political stability and economic relations. As past gains in promoting a commitment to the rule of law, social welfare, and a market economy are lost, China's promotion of its own model of political and economic governance poses a major threat to OSCE values in the third dimension.

While there may be some scope to engage with China on a narrow range of **economic and environmental rights**, including labour standards, there is likely little space for engagement beyond that. China will not make BRI implementation conditional on human or minority rights standards, and states that participate in the BRI, especially those in desperate need of financing for their economic development, will not criticise China's policies in this regard and may potentially prevent others from doing so, as has been the case with Hungary and Greece in the EU.

While the OSCE is already divided on the issue of **human and minority rights** along the traditional East–West fault line, there is little need for China to adopt an openly confrontational course. In fact, China has demonstrated a degree of willingness and an ability to accommodate specific issues. For example, Kazakhstan was able to negotiate the release of around 2,000 ethnic Kazakhs with dual Kazakh and Chinese citizenship who were detained by Chinese authorities in Xinjiang since 2019 (Murat 2020). Similarly, China appears to be prepared to respect local norms and standards and to respond to criticism of its compliance with national customs and legal frameworks where its own image and that of the BRI would otherwise be damaged (Bayok 2020a; Savaris 2020a).

Concerns about a negative demonstration effect are of course a far cry from a deep-seated commitment to respecting, let alone promoting, human and minority rights. Nevertheless, the little room for engagement with China that does exist on this front presents an opportunity for the OSCE. China clearly accepts that fragile institutions and weak rule of law pose a challenge to BRI implementation, especially in relation to corruption. Equally, China recognises that social and economic inequalities fuel grievances that drive conflict and instability. China's answer to this so far has been economic development without any concomitant political liberalisation, and this is unlikely to change in its own domestic policies. Within an OSCE context, however, shared interests in stability and security along the SREB create opportunities for involving China within a framework where human and minority rights are firmly established within a comprehensive concept of security. For example, China has increasingly participated in multilateral mediation efforts on high-profile international issues like the Syrian civil war, the Iran nuclear deal, and the crisis on the Korean Peninsula. In addition, China has also contributed to such efforts in countries along the BRI (Legarda 2018), although not in any of the subregions considered in this Report. This could change in the future, however, for example if the so-called Middle Corridor garners more Chinese interest and investment (Kemoklidze 2020a; 2020b) or if Ukraine and or Moldova become more important transit countries (Malyarenko 2020a; Tytarchuk 2020).

In the medium term, this creates opportunities for efforts to socialise China into the OSCE's **approach to conflict resolution and crisis management**, which would be important and should be explored, if initially only informally, before China becomes actively involved in any crisis that it perceives to be a direct challenge to its interests. This could happen 'bilaterally' between China and the OSCE, including at the level of Track 2 exchanges, or multilaterally through engagement between the OSCE and the SCO or the CICA. Such an approach could also utilise existing CSBMs across all three dimensions, thereby strengthening the connections between the different components of the OSCE's comprehensive security concept.

Policy Recommendations

The BRI is an unprecedented project that poses unique challenges for the OSCE and its participating States. Although in existence for seven years now, and building on China's earlier presence and activities across the OSCE region, the Initiative has no clearly identifiable endpoint, its parameters remain only vaguely defined, and the rules and principles that underpin its implementation appear highly adaptable to context. At the same time, there is little doubt that China will continue to pursue the BRI, including across the OSCE region.

Challenging as this might be, it also presents an opportunity to negotiate the terms under which the BRI is implemented in the OSCE region. This opportunity comes with **several caveats**, however.

While all of the OSCE's participating States are sovereign with regard to their decisions on how to manage their bilateral relations with China in the context of the BRI and beyond, it is equally in their interest to seek safety in numbers when it comes to mitigating the risks emanating from the BRI. These risks play out differently across the three subregions covered in this Report. The OSCE participating States in these subregions are thus affected differently by China's activities and presence, especially as these intersect with, and cut across, pre-existing political and economic integration projects, as well as regional and international structures in the OSCE region. The first caveat is therefore that, when seeking safety in numbers, the OSCE is not the only option available to participating States. Nor does engagement with China through the OSCE offer them equal, or any, added value compared to other options. In fact, for some, engagement through the OSCE may limit the value they can obtain through direct bilateral dealings with China or undermine an already existing relationship.

The **second caveat** relates to the OSCE itself. On the one hand, one could argue that taking advantage of this opportunity is critical to the OSCE's ability to maintain its relevance as a cooperative security organisation with a comprehensive vision of security. On the other hand, given the current problems already faced by the Organisation in terms of constructively managing the fractious relations between its participating States, one could question whether China is a 'bridge too far', potentially undermining the OSCE's capacity to deliver on its existing mandate and to preserve its established norm consensus.

The **third caveat** concerns China. It is far from clear that the OSCE is the kind of forum with which China would want to engage, and under what conditions. Whatever initial enthusiasm China might have had for the OSCE in the early 2000s seems to have long disappeared. 'Precedents' set by direct relations that China has established with the EU and the EAEU only work to a limited degree: both the EU and the EAEU are markets, and relations with them are predominantly economic in nature. The OSCE, by contrast, is not a market, and its purpose is undeniably political.

This Report concludes by suggesting a number of **concrete steps and practical actions** that the institutions and participating States of the OSCE could take as they turn the challenge of the BRI into an opportunity to enhance security and stability across the OSCE region and as they mitigate the inevitable risks associated with the Initiative. In doing so, it does not cast aside the caveats outlined above but seeks to demonstrate that, against these considerable odds, there are several options available to the OSCE and its participating States, should they choose to engage with China.

Forming consensus within the OSCE on engagement with China

The OSCE, its institutions, and participating States can no longer avoid recognising China's significance as an actor within the OSCE region. As detailed in this Report, China has steadily increased its presence and activities in individual participating States over the past two decades. OSCE participating States have been affected differently by, and have responded in different ways to, these developments—without having formed a consensus on how they should engage with China collectively as, and through, the OSCE. Consensus in this regard need not initially amount to a fully formed China strategy. Rather, it should involve a decision in principle on engagement, based on recognition of China's importance.

In order to foster even minimal consensus of this sort, OSCE institutions should begin by identifying future scenarios for relations with China. Using scenario planning as a tool for both consensus building and policymaking could be helpful in sensitising participating States to the implications of China's presence and activities for themselves and for the Organisation, enabling a better understanding of the related challenges and opportunities and imbuing them with a sense of agency.

Developing consensus and implementing it will require much of the initial work to be carried out by a suitably mandated and resourced Secretariat and Secretary General, who would need to serve a co-ordinating function as engagement with China begins to involve further actors within the OSCE. Similarly, successive CiOs and the 'Troika' could be involved in setting priorities for the OSCE's China agenda and could ensure a degree of continuity in collaboration with the Secretariat. CiOs could also conceivably appoint Personal Representatives to carry out this co-ordinating function, and there is a precedent for having the same Personal Representatives hold such posts for a number of years under several CiOs. While successive CiOs, the Secretariat, and the other institutions of the OSCE have some autonomy in setting priorities for their own activities, the highly sensitive nature of engagement with China is likely to constrain their ability in this respect.

of urgency regarding more formal engagement with China, it will still be necessary to prioritise issue areas for engagement that reflect the interests and concerns of participating States, that take account of the existing capacity and capabilities of the OSCE, and that carefully consider the likelihood of a constructive response by China.

As noted earlier in the Report, strengthening institutions and curbing corruption nationally and subregionally creates a more positive business environment in general, including for Chinese investment. Combating corruption has also been on the OSCE agenda for some time, including in relation to its connectivity agenda, and especially since the 2016 Ministerial Council Decision in this regard (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2016).⁵¹ China has also recognised the importance of curbing corruption (Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative 2019).

The OSCE should engage with China (for example through the Office of the Co-ordinator of OSCE Economic and Environmental Activities) on how to fight corruption and promote transparency and accountability in tendering, procurement, and project management. This could involve initial exchanges of information on existing standards and frameworks, extend to workshops aimed at identifying common approaches, and involve training activities at the local and the subregional level. Such an approach should ultimately be aimed at achieving a common understanding of minimum standards and best practices, involving, as necessary, other relevant organisations such as the EU, the EAEU, UNIDO,⁵² and UNECE.

Another issue area in which interests overlap significantly (and where there have been rhetorical commitments on both sides) is environmental protection, including climate change. Given that OSCE participating States have already made an explicit commitment to participatory environmental governance as part of the Aarhus Convention of 1998, engagement with China in this context could focus, for example, on mechanisms for public participation that would create meaningful avenues for discussion of applicable environmental standards in the planning, implementation, and operation of BRI projects and how the implementation of, and compliance with, agreed standards can be effectively monitored. Focusing on public participation, increased transparency, and accountability is also important from the perspective of political stability and increasing trust in, and the resilience of, local democratic institutions and processes. Thus, and beyond the environmental domain, it speaks to the broader good governance agenda of the OSCE and cuts across the Organisation's second and third dimensions.

Prioritising issue areas for engagement

As a consensus-based organisation, the OSCE and its institutions can only act on the basis of the mandate provided by the participating States. While scenario planning may instil a sense

⁵¹ The importance of fighting corruption was reiterated in subsequent Ministerial Council Decisions in 2017, 2018, and 2020 (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2017b; 2018; 2020d).

⁵² The United Nations Industrial Development Organisation (UNIDO) is headquartered in Vienna. Its current Director General is Li Yong, a former vice minister of finance of the People's Republic of China and member of the Monetary Policy Committee of the Central Bank.

Using existing international frameworks like the Arhus Convention, the OSCE should consider initiating a formal dialogue with China on managing the environmental impact of the BRI in its participating States. This could also be tied more broadly to discussions about relevant UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), such as SDG 6 (Clean Water and Sanitation), SDG 7 (Affordable and Clean Energy), SDG 13 (Climate Action), and SDG 15 (Life on Land). Co-operation with the UN and UNECE should be considered to anchor discussions within existing global and regional frameworks.

In its current manifestation, the BRI is focused on connectivity. This is an area in which the OSCE also has a clear agenda and a track record of successful activities at the level of its participating States. Moreover, various aspects of connectivity are also important to the EU and the EAEU. From the OSCE's perspective, and especially because of the Organisation's comprehensive security mandate, connectivity, even if narrowly defined in economic terms, does not exist in a vacuum, independent of political, military, environmental, and social factors. Given the emerging realities of a post-pandemic world, the OSCE has an opportunity, and an obligation, to think about the resilience and sustainability of connectivity in broader terms.

The OSCE should consider developing a Connectivity 2.0 agenda that ensures that the overlapping (but not identical) visions of connectivity promoted by the EU, the EAEU, and the BRI can become and remain compatible and complementary. This would centre not on the 'integration of integrations' but on learning and adaptation. Building on existing dialogue formats between Beijing, Brussels, and Moscow, the OSCE could foster a dialogue on the future of connectivity in its own region that would give the countries that participate in, and are affected by, the three connectivity projects a greater voice. Such discussions could focus on both connectivity needs and gaps on a country-by-country and subregion-by-subregion basis and could gradually begin to involve consideration of a common approach to developing a rules-based connectivity environment that is respected and enforceable by and in OSCE participating States.

Developing a Connectivity 2.0 agenda of this sort would require conceptual work within OSCE institutions and participating States to complement the more long-term strategic, highlevel political dialogue. At the same time, and in light of the current pandemic and emerging post-pandemic conditions, any developing Connectivity 2.0 agenda will have to factor in and address current vulnerabilities within existing systems of connectivity. In this context, it might also be worth reconsidering, in one form or another, an earlier proposal by Kazakhstan for the creation of a centre on sustainable connectivity. Such a centre could offer opportunities for gradually institutionalising an OSCE–China connectivity dialogue. At the practical level of learning and adaptation, the OSCE should create opportunities for officials at the technical level, business managers in the private and state sectors, researchers in higher education institutions, analysts in think tanks, journalists, and representatives of civil society to develop better insights into the nuts and bolts of how connectivity is operationalised on the ground and on a day-to-day basis. Such opportunities could be focused on the subregional level, thereby enhancing subregional co-operation and countering the negative effects of intraregional inequalities and fragmentation. Such an approach could begin by issuing invitations to Chinese representatives to participate in OSCE-organised activities and events, gradually evolving into the bilateral organisation of such meetings on mutually agreed issues.

While opportunities for constructive engagement with China are most obvious in the OSCE's second dimension, engagement in the second dimension alone will not be enough to address the much broader range of implications that the BRI has for the OSCE as a comprehensive security organisation and for each and every one of its participating States.

As noted earlier, there is potentially significant scope for engagement with China in the context of OSCE–SCO relations. While not a substitute for direct engagement with China, further collaboration between these two organisations could raise the profile of the OSCE in China and create avenues for complementing China's preferred bilateral approach with more multilateral engagement. Given the nature and priorities of the SCO, issues related to the OSCE's politico-military dimension would be useful focal points for outreach and dialogue, including potential collaboration with other international organisations.⁵³

The OSCE should consider engaging with China in the context of the SCO on issues of mutual interest, including combatting organised crime (especially drug trafficking) and counterterrorism (especially related to the evolving situation in Afghanistan, how to deal with foreign fighters, and how best to protect critical national and transnational infrastructure). As respective organisational agendas and capabilities develop, this could be further extended to the Montreux Convention and into the cyber domain. As in other priority areas, this could also involve engagement with other international organisations, such as CICA and UNODC.

Another potential avenue for cross-organisational co-operation that offers opportunities for OSCE–China engagement in multilateral contexts is through CICA. This would reflect longestablished OSCE capacities that stretch back to the early years of the CSCE and create a space in which approaches to conflict resolution and crisis management could be explored in light of Chinese perceptions of risks to BRI implementation in OSCE participating States that are vulnerable to instability.

⁵³ Transnational organised crime and Afghanistan remain high on the OSCE agenda, as evident in two recent Ministerial Council Declarations on "Cooperation with OSCE Asian Partners" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2020b) and on "Strengthening Cooperation in Countering Transnational Organized Crime" (Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe 2020c).

The OSCE should formalise and institutionalise co-operation with CICA to explore differences and similarities between the two organisations' approaches to CSBMs, crisis management, and conflict resolution. This could be implemented through regular Secretariat-level meetings and should be complemented by more focused workshops at the level of technical officials, possibly also involving researchers in think tanks and academic institutions, representatives from civil society, and media professionals. Such events could gradually become more geographically and/or thematically focused and involve specific discussions between China and the OSCE related to the challenges of, and to, BRI implementation in OSCE

Identifying formats for engagement

participating States.

The OSCE is comprised of a variety of institutions, structures, and bodies, several of which could play a role in engaging with China.

Among the options for diversifying engagement with China, one could consider the OSCE Parliamentary Assembly, whose then President, Christine Muttonen, visited China in 2017. While this has been a single occasion so far, there may be scope for similar activities in the future, especially if the Parliamentary Assembly finds a permanent counterpart among Chinese institutions and is able to establish a joint working group, for example with the International Department of the Communist Party of China, one of the interlocutors during the 2017 visit. The value of such an arrangement would lie in the fact that the Parliamentary Assembly represents the views of elected representatives of OSCE participating States.

Other formats of engagement that are worth exploring are the other three executive structures of the OSCE-the OSCE Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (ODIHR), the OSCE Representative on Freedom of the Media, and the OSCE High Commissioner on National Minorities (HCNM). While there can be no doubt that engagement with China on human rights and related issues is exceptionally difficult at the best of times, it is nonetheless important for the OSCE not to lose sight of its comprehensive security mandate. Thus, all three of these executive structures could initially be involved in an emerging dialogue with China through multilateral formats such as the SCO and CICA and could subsequently (also) engage with China in bilateral formats and joint activities. This could include election observation in the case of ODIHR, combatting online disinformation in the case of the OSCE Representative on Freedom of the Media, and early warning and early action on minority-related tensions in the case of the HCNM.

Representatives of the OSCE Parliamentary Assembly of the OSCE and of ODIHR, the HCNM, and the Representative on Freedom of the Media should be involved in identifying issue areas of engagement with China. The OSCE should explore ways in which these structures and institutions can be part of multilateral engagements with China and gradually develop their own bilateral dialogue and activities. There are currently 15 OSCE Field Operations, including one in each of the Central Asian States and six in the Western Balkans (in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Kosovo, Montenegro, North Macedonia, and Serbia). These Operations have vastly different mandates, and not all of them have either a responsibility or the capacity to engage with BRI-related issues. That said, Field Operations offer an opportunity for ad hoc and flexible engagement as concrete needs arise. If adequately supported by the Secretariat and by participating States, they could provide yet another channel for engagement with China and could contribute to the 'normalisation' of OSCE-China contact. Given the localised nature of potential responses, there is also an opportunity for closer, issue-specific co-operation between Field Operations and local Aarhus Centres, of which there were 60 in 14 of the countries considered in this Report in 2016. In addition, they could offer support to host states in their bilateral engagement with China and simultaneously feed information into OSCE-internal discussions about the Organisation's China 'strategy'. It may also be worth considering increasing the involvement of Chinese partners in the activities of the OSCE Academy in Bishkek and the Border Management Staff College in Dushanbe.

OSCE Field Operations should be enabled and given support to engage in specific issues related to the planning, implementation, and operation of BRI projects. This could involve, on a case-bycase basis, collaboration with local Aarhus Centres, the OSCE Academy in Bishkek, and the Border Management Staff College in Dushanbe.

Engagement with China: from pragmatism to strategy?

Engagement with China raises questions for the OSCE not only regarding its internal foundation, the issue areas that are to be prioritised, and the formats through which it should be pursued but also regarding its **ultimate goal**. As the OSCE stands for particular norms in the conduct of international relations, engagement with China therefore also raises the question of how to preserve these norms and whether they can form a sustainable basis for constructive engagement. In other words, does engagement with China provide an opportunity to bring it closer to the OSCE's approach to international relations?

This is not the question that this Report set out to answer. However, it is worth considering the issue of engagement with China in terms of its implications for the OSCE and its existing norm consensus. The challenge for the OSCE and its participating States is to be both **pragmatic and strategic** in its approach to China while remaining firmly **committed to its own comprehensive security concept**, which equally embraces a politico-military, economic and environmental, and human dimension.⁵⁴

⁵⁴ Otherwise, there is a danger of socialisation 'in the wrong direction' (Ambrosio 2008; Lewis 2012).

In terms of **pragmatism**, the OSCE should pursue a policy of multi-channel engagement with China that creates and embraces opportunities to enter into dialogue with it on issue areas that the Organisation considers priorities for its participating States while also being open to the issues it wants to raise. This should include an openness to ad hoc and informal modes of engagement.

This pragmatism, however, should nonetheless be guided by a **strategic vision** that reconsiders a future formal relationship with China as a Partner for Co-operation.⁵⁵ While this would depend on China's fulfilling the criteria for such a relationship (as set out by the OSCE), pragmatic engagement can contribute to building the foundations upon which a long-term vision of this sort could be realised, which could begin with granting China observer status in the OSCE. An equally pragmatic and strategic approach in this context could gradually also explore a different kind of partnership between the OSCE and China that would be more specifically tailored to China's size and significance. A potential OSCE Summit in 2025 would be an appropriate forum for formalising such a relationship.

A pragmatic approach to engaging with China needs to be complemented by **increasingly strategic engagement**. This would involve a move from ad hoc and informal to formal engagement and the creation of formats of engagement that 'normalise' the relationship between China and the OSCE, creating a form of bilateralism between them that is not dissimilar to relationships between China and the EU or the EAEU. Rather than replacing existing bilateral relationships between China and OSCE participating States, a **more formalised bilateral relationship** between the OSCE and China would complement them. It would potentially also strengthen a set of rules for engagement with China that is more firmly anchored in existing OSCE commitments. As such, it would also serve as a testing ground for China's willingness to engage with the OSCE as an equal and would respect the existing norm consensus within the Organisation and across all three of its dimensions.

A successful **hybrid approach** to engagement of this sort—one that is simultaneously pragmatic and strategic—would require careful co-ordination within the OSCE. A hybrid approach would in turn contribute to the gradual evolution of an OSCE China strategy that would set the parameters for engagement through different channels and in multiple issue areas. Given the complexity of the dynamics of China's presence and activities within the OSCE area, as detailed in this Report, engagement with China undoubtedly represents one of the main internal and external challenges that the Organisation will face in the years ahead. Whether and how the OSCE and its participating States will rise to this challenge will therefore have a profound impact on its future as the only truly Euro-Atlantic and Eurasian comprehensive security organisation. **China and its BRI are a challenge that the OSCE must face, not ignore.**

⁵⁵ This option was debated among participating States in 2005. Although both China and a number of participating States appeared to be open to exploring this issue further, the consensus within the OSCE at the time was that conditions were not yet ripe for a more formalised relationship (Evers 2008, 407).

References

- Abi-Habib, Maria. 2018. "How China Got Sri Lanka to Cough Up a Port - The New York Times." The New York Times. June 25, 2018. https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/25/world/asia/ china-sri-lanka-port.html.
- Alimov, Rashid. 2017. "Statement at the OSCE Forum for Security Co-Operation." Vienna.

 — 2018. "The Shanghai Cooperation Organisation: Its Role and Place in the Development of Eurasia." *Journal of Eurasian Studies* 9 (2): 114–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euras.2018.08.001.

Ambrosio, Thomas. 2008. "Catching the 'Shanghai Spirit': How the Shanghai Cooperation Organization Promotes Authoritarian Norms in Central Asia." *Europe - Asia Studies* 60 (8): 1321–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/09668130802292143.

Aminjonov, Farkhod, Alina Abylkasymova, Anna Aimée, Bahtiyor Eshchanov, Daniyar Moldokanov, Indra Overland, and Roman Vakulchuk. 2019. "BRI in Central Asia: Overview of Chinese Projects." Bishkek. https://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep26578.

Anthony, Ian. 2019. "Reducing Military Risk in Europe." Stockholm. https://www.sipri.org/sites/default/files/2019-06/ sipripp51_military_risk.pdf.

- Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. 2016. "AIIB Approves \$600 Million to Support Energy Project of Azerbaijan." December 21, 2016. https://www.aiib.org/en/news-events/ news/2016/AIIB-approves-\$600-million-to-support-energyproject-of-Azerbaijan.html.
- ——. 2019. "2019 Annual Report." https://www.aiib.org/en/ news-events/annual-report/2019/_common/pdf/2019-aiibannual-report-and-financials.pdf.
- Auštrevičius, Petras, Andrus Ansip, Erik Bergkvist, Damian Boeselager, Geert Bourgeois, Reinhard Bütikofer, Daniel Caspary, et al. 2020. "Letter to EU Telecom and Trade Ministers and to European Commissioners Thierry Breton, Margrethe Vestager and Valdis Dombrovskis." Brussels.

Auyezov, Olzhas, and Alex Richardson. 2020. "Kazakh President Says Farmland Won't Be Sold to Foreigners." Reuters. July 10, 2020. https://www.reuters.com/article/idUSS0N2DV00N.

B92. 2009. "Tadić on Serbia's 'Four Pillars of Diplomacy." B92. Net. August 30, 2009. https://www.b92.net/eng/news/ politics.php?yyyy=2009&mm=08&dd=30&nav_id=61454.

Bachulska, Alicja, Ivana Karásková, Barbara Kelemen, Tamás Matura, Filip Šebok, and Matej Šimalčík. 2020. "China's Sticks and Carrots in Central Europe: The Logic and Power of Chinese Influence." Prague.

Baghirov, Orkhan. 2019. "Azerbaijan and China Sign \$800 Million Economic Package." Eurasia Daily Monitor. May 29, 2019. https://jamestown.org/program/azerbaijan-and-chinasign-800-million-economic-package-the-geo-economicimplications/.

Barkin, Noah. 2021. "Watching China in Europe - January 2021." German Marshall Fund of the United States. January 2021. https://sites-gmf.vuturevx.com/61/6509/january-2021/ january-2021(1).asp?sid=504eaec4-a13f-4a0b-bd39-56dbbc033363. Barkin, Noah, and Agatha Kratz. 2020. "Five Keys to a Transatlantic Agenda on China." Rhodium Group. October 19, 2020. https://rhg.com/research/transatlantic-agenda/.

Bastian, Jens. 2017. "The Potential for Growth through Chinese Infrastructure Investments in Central and South-Eastern Europe along the 'Balkan Silk Road." Athens and London. www.ebrd.com/documents/policy/the-balkan-silk-road.pdf.

Bayok, Anastasiya. 2020a. "China's Responses to EU, U.S., and Russian Perceptions of the BRI in Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan and to Their Respective Governments' Views." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

———. 2020b. "Chinese Reactions to Perceptions of the BRI in Kazakhstan and the EU." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

BBC News. 2020. "Who are the Uighurs and why is the US accusing China of genocide?" BBC News. July 20, 2020. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-china-22278037.

Belt & Road News. 2019a. "Chinese Contractors in Talks to Build Two Highways in Moldova." Belt & Road News. 2019. https://www.beltandroad.news/chinese-contractors-in-talksto-build-two-highways-in-moldova/.

----. 2019b. "Belt & Road Is Expanding into This Tiny Eastern European Country." Belt & Road News. April 27, 2019. www.beltandroad.news/belt-road-is-expanding-into-thistiny-eastern-european-country/.

——. 2019c. "Moldova Attaches Great Importance to Developing Relations with China: PM." Belt & Road News. July 3, 2019. https://www.beltandroad.news/moldovaattaches-great-importance-to-developing-relations-withchina-pm.

Bennett, Mia M. 2016. "The Silk Road Goes North: Russia's Role within China's Belt and Road Initiative." *Area Development and Policy* 1 (3): 341–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/23792949.2016.1239508.

Bērziņa-Čerenkova, Una Aleksandra. 2020. "Baltic Resilience to China's 'Divide and Rule." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

Beyer, John, and Stefan Wolff. 2016. "Linkage and Leverage Effects on Moldova's Transnistria Problem." *East European Politics* 32 (3): 335–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/21599165.2015.1124092.

Bieber, Florian et al. 2020. "The Western Balkans in Times of the Global Pandemic." Graz. https://biepag.eu/wp-content/ uploads/2020/04/BiEPAG-Policy-Brief-The-Western-Balkans-in-Times-of-the-Global-Pandemic.pdf.

Bitabarova, Assel G. 2018. "Unpacking Sino-Central Asian Engagement along the New Silk Road: A Case Study of Kazakhstan." *Journal of Contemporary East Asia Studies* 7 (2): 149–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/24761028.2018.1553226.

Bordachev, Timofei. 2016. "More of China!" Valdai Club. June 24, 2016. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/morechina/?sphrase_id=902214. ——. 2017. "Europe's Decline and Uncertain Future: What Should Russia Do?" Valdai Club. January 18, 2017. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/europe-s-decline-anduncertain-future-what-should/?sphrase_id=1146881.

——. 2019a. "The East's Rise and the New Russian Foreign Policy." Valdai Club. October 2, 2019. https://valdaiclub. com/a/highlights/the-east-rise-and-the-new-russianforeign-policy/?sphrase_id=902214.

——. 2019b. "Greater Eurasia: What Is Yet To Be Done?" Valdai Club. December 30, 2019. https://valdaiclub.com/a/ highlights/greater-eurasia-what-is-yet-to-be-done/?sphrase_ id=902214.

——. 2020. "Greater Eurasia: Are There New Challenges on the Horizon?" Valdai Club. February 17, 2020. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/greater-eurasia-arethere-new-challenges/?sphrase_id=902214.

Brînză, Andreea. 2019. "The '17 + 1' Mechanism." *China Quarterly of International Strategic Studies*. World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1142/S237774001950009X.

Casarini, Nicola. 2016. "When All Roads Lead to Beijing. Assessing China's New Silk Road and Its Implications for Europe." *International Spectator* 51 (4): 95–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1224491.

Central Committee of the Communist Party of China. 2020. "Communique of the Fifth Plenary Session of the 19th Central Committee of the Communist Party of China." Xinhua. October 29, 2020. http://www.xinhuanet.com/ politics/2020-10/29/c_1126674147.htm.

Chang, Felix K. 1997. "China's Central Asian Power and Problems." *Orbis* 41 (3): 401–25.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0030-4387(97)90049-1.

Chang, Hong. 2017a. "Report: 'B&R' Cooperation Rising, Legal Risks Increasing." Chinese Social Sciences Today.
Beijing: Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. 2017. http://casseng.cssn.cn/research/research_publications/ research_reports/201712/t20171214_3781069.html.

-----. 2017b. "The 'Belt and Road' Construction in Central Asia Carries Five Types of Risk." People's Daily International. June 17, 2017. http://world.people.com.cn/n1/2017/0606/ c1002-29321598.html.

Chen, Qiao, Jianquan Cheng, and Zhiqin Wu. 2019. "Evolution of the Cultural Trade Network in 'the Belt and Road' Region: Implication for Global Cultural Sustainability." *Sustainability* (*Switzerland*) 11 (10). https://doi.org/10.3390/su11102744.

Cheng, Leonard K. 2016. "Three Questions on China's 'Belt and Road Initiative." *China Economic Review* 40 (September): 309–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chieco.2016.07.008.

Colakoğlu, Selçuk. 2019. "China's Belt and Road Initiative and Turkey's Middle Corridor: A Question of Compatibility." Middle East Institute. January 19, 2019. https://www.mei. edu/publications/chinas-belt-and-road-initiative-andturkeys-middle-corridor-question-compatibility.

Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe. 1975. "Final Act of the 1st CSCE Summit of Heads of State or Government (Helsinki Final Act)." Helsinki.

https://www.osce.org/helsinki-final-act?download=true. ——. 1990. "Charter of Paris for a New Europe." Paris. https://www.osce.org/mc/39516?download=true. Confucius Institute Headquarters. 2020. "Confucius Institutes and Classrooms around the World." 2020. http://english.hanban.org/.

Council of the European Union. 2016. "Council Conclusions EU Strategy on China." Brussels. https://data.consilium.europa. eu/doc/document/ST-11252-2016-INIT/en/pdf.

----. 2019. "Council Conclusions on the New Strategy on Central Asia." Brussels. https://www.consilium.europa.eu/ media/39778/st10221-en19.pdf.

——. 2020. "Zagreb Declaration, 6 May 2020." Zagreb. https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/43776/zagrebdeclaration-en-06052020.pdf.

Daly, John C. K. 2020. "Russia's Discreet Satisfaction Over Georgia's Anaklia Port Debacle." Eurasia Daily Monitor. March 16, 2020. https://jamestown.org/program/russiasdiscreet-satisfaction-over-georgias-anaklia-port-debacle/.

Dawei, Pan. 2018. "SCO and Strategic Partnership between China and Russia." Valdai Club. June 14, 2018. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/sco-and-strategicpartnership/?sphrase_id=902214.

Dellios, Rosita. 2017. "Silk Roads of the Twenty-First Century: The Cultural Dimension." *Asia and the Pacific Policy Studies* 4 (2): 225–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/app5.172.

Eisentraut, Sophie, and Stephanie de Leon. 2018. "Propaganda and Disinformation in the Western Balkans: How the EU Can Counter Russia's Information War." *Facts and Findings*. Berlin. https://www.kas.de/c/document_ library/get_file?uuid=33dbbc29-eb30-e4ec-39c8a4c976319449&groupId=252038.

Entina, Ekaterina. 2019. "Russia in the Balkans: The Shadow of Strategic Rivalry." Valdai Club. January 22, 2019. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/russia-in-the-balkansthe-shadow-of-strategic-riva/?sphrase_id=1146881.

Entina, Ekaterina, Alexander Pivovarenko, and Dejan Novaković. 2018. "Where Are The Balkans Heading? A New Cooperation Paradigm for Russia." Moscow. https://valdaiclub.com/files/19381/.

EURACTIV. 2020. "Moscow Unaware of Serbian President Aleksandar Vučić's Visit to Washington." EURACTIV.Rs. September 9, 2020. https://www.euractiv.com/section/ all/short_news/moscow-of-serbian-president-aleksandarvucics-visit-to-washington/.

Eurasian Economic Commission. 2019. "EAEU and Serbia Signed Free Trade Agreement." Eurasian Economic Commission. October 25, 2019. http://www.eurasiancommission.org/en/nae/news/ Pages/25-10-2019-6.aspx.

Eurasian Economic Union. 2015. "Treaty on the Eurasian Economic Union." Astana: Supreme Eurasian Economic Council. https://docs.eaeunion.org/docs/en-us/0017353/ itia_05062014_doc.pdf.

— —. 2018. "Agreement on Economic and Trade Cooperation Between the Eurasian Economic Union and Its Member States, of the One Part, and the People's Republic of China, of the Other Part." Eurasian Economic Union. May 17, 2018. https://docs.eaeunion.org/docs/en-us/01217822/ iatc_21052018.

- European Commission. 2020a. "Commission Communication on Support to the Western Balkans in Tackling COVID-19 and the Post-Pandemic Recovery." Brussels. April 29, 2020. https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-enlargement/sites/ near/files/com_2020_315_en.pdf.
- —. 2020b. "Critical Raw Materials Resilience: Charting a Path towards Greater Security and Sustainability."
 Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Brussels.
 September 3, 2020. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0474.
- -----. 2020c. "2020 Communication on EU Enlargement Policy." Brussels. October 6, 2020. https://ec.europa.eu/ neighbourhood-enlargement/sites/near/files/20201006communication-on-eu-enlargement-policy_en.pdf.
- 2020d. "Report of the 33rd Round of Negotiations on the EU-China Comprehensive Agreement on Investment." Brussels. October 27, 2020. https://trade.ec.europa.eu/ doclib/docs/2020/october/tradoc_159001.pdf.
- —. 2020e. "EU-China Comprehensive Agreement on Investment - The Agreement in Principle." Brussels.
 December 30, 2020. https://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/ docs/2020/december/tradoc 159242.pdf.
- European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy. 2016. "Elements for a New EU Strategy on China." Brussels. June 22, 2016. https://eeas.europa.eu/archives/delegations/china/ documents/more_info/eu_china_strategy_en.pdf.
- 2018. "Connecting Europe and Asia: Building Blocks for an EU Strategy." Brussels. September 19, 2018. https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/joint_ communication_-_connecting_europe_and_asia_-_building_ blocks for an eu strategy 2018-09-19.pdf.
- ——. 2019a. "EU-China: A Strategic Outlook." Strasbourg. March 12, 2019. https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/ communication-eu-china-a-strategic-outlook.pdf.
- —. 2019b. "The EU and Central Asia: New Opportunities for a Stronger Partnership." Brussels. May 15, 2019. https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/joint_ communication_-_the_eu_and_central_asia_-_new_ opportunities_for_a_stronger_partnership.pdf.
- European External Action Service. 2013. "EU-China 2020 Strategic Agenda for Cooperation." Brussels. November 23, 2013. https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/20131123.pdf.
- —. 2019. "The European Union's Global Strategy: Three Years on, Moving Forward." Brussels. June 13, 2019.
 June 13, 2019. https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ eu_global_strategy_2019.pdf.
- Eurostat. 2020. "China-EU International Trade in Goods Statistics." Statistics Explained. March 2020. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/ China-EU_-_international_trade_in_goods_statistics.
- Evers, Frank. 2008. "Kooperationspartnerschaft zwischen der OSZE und China: Was spricht dafür, was spricht dagegen?" In *OSZE Jahrbuch 2008*, edited by Institut für Friedensforschung und Sicherheitspolitik Hamburg, 407–23. Baden-Baden: Nomos. https://www.ifsh.de/file-CORE/ documents/jahrbuch/08/Evers-dt.pdf.

Farkas, Barbara. 2020. Die Seidenstraße: Die Seidenstraße: Wie China den strategischen Raum prägt. Vienna: Landesverteidigungsakademie/Institut für Strategie & Sicherheitspolitik. https://www.bundesheer.at/wissenforschung/publikationen/publikation.php?id=1048.

- Fasslabend, Werner. 2015. "The Silk Road: A Political Marketing Concept for World Dominance." *European View* 14 (2): 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12290-015-0381-3.
- Ferchen, Matt, Frank N. Pieke, Frans-Paul Van Der Putten, Tianmu Hong, and Jurriaan De Blécourt. 2018. "Assessing China's Influence in Europe through Investments in Technology and Infrastructure. Four Cases." Leiden. https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/2019-01/ Report_Assessing_China_Influence-in-Europe.pdf.

Flint, Colin, and Cuiping Zhu. 2019. "The Geopolitics of Connectivity, Cooperation, and Hegemonic Competition: The Belt and Road Initiative." *Geoforum* 99 (February): 95–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2018.12.008.

Freymann, Eyck. 2020. One Belt One Road: Chinese Power Meets the World. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. https://www.hup.harvard.edu/catalog. php?isbn=9780674247956.

- Gabuev, Alexander. 2016. "Crouching Bear, Hidden Dragon: 'One Belt One Road' and Chinese-Russian Jostling for Power in Central Asia." *Journal of Contemporary East Asia Studies* 5 (2): 61–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/24761028.2016.11869097.
- Gilmore, James S. 2020. "Response to the Address by the Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of Sweden, Mr. Robert Rydberg." July 16, 2020. https://www.osce.org/files/f/ documents/8/0/459064.pdf.
- Giurgiulesti International Free Port. 2015. "China Shipping Container Lines Expands Its Services to Giurgiulesti International Free Port." June 25, 2015. https://gifp.md/en/ news/china-shipping-container-lines-expands-its-servicesto-giurgiulesti-international-free-port/.
- Gorchinskaya, Katya. 2020. "Ukraine Prepares To Snub China In Aerospace Deal With U.S. Help." Forbes. February 17, 2020. https://www.forbes.com/sites/ katyagorchinskaya/2020/02/17/ukraine-prepares-to-snubchina-in-aerospace-deal-with-us-help/?sh=5b01f3d6328c.
- Grieger, Gisela. 2016. "One Belt, One Road (OBOR): China's Regional Integration Initiative." *European Parliament*. Brussels. http://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/ document.html?reference=EPRS_BRI(2016)586608.
- Gubaidullina, Mara. 2019. "Bilateralism along the New Silk Road: Are Kazakhstan-China Relations Changing?" *Eurasian Studies Quarterly (Taiwan)* 7: 95–104.
- Gubaidullina, Mara, and Saniya Nurdavletova. 2020. "The Belt and Road Initiative and Regional Security Issues in Central Asia." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Gubaidullina, Mara, Lu Qui, Saniya Nurdavletova, and Anastasya Goncharova. 2019. "Green Energy and Environmental Sustainability in the Context of the Belt and Road Initiative." *International Relations and International Law* 87 (3): 58–68.
- https://doi.org/10.26577/irilj.2019.v87.i3.06. Haiquan, Liu. 2017. "The Security Challenges of the 'One Belt, One Road' Initiative and China's Choices." *Croatian International Relations Review* 23 (78): 129–47.

He, Baogang. 2019. "The Domestic Politics of the Belt and Road Initiative and Its Implications." *Journal of Contemporary China* 28 (116): 180–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/10670564.2018.1511391.

Howard, Ken W. F., and Karina K. Howard. 2016. "The New 'Silk Road Economic Belt' as a Threat to the Sustainable Management of Central Asia's Transboundary Water Resources." *Environmental Earth Sciences* 75 (11): 976. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-016-5752-9.

Hu, Biliang, and Qingzhong Pan. 2017. "Overall Development of Countries along the Belt and Road." *Global Journal of Emerging Market Economies* 9 (1–3): 12–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0974910117747749.

Human Development Report Office. 2020. "Human Development Data (1990-2018)." Human Development Reports. 2020. http://hdr.undp.org/en/data.

Huotari, Mikko, Jan Weidenfeld, and Claudia Wessling, eds. 2020. Towards a "Principles First Approach" in Europe's China Policy: Drawing Lessons from the Covid-19 Crisis. Berlin: Mercator Institute for China Studies. https://merics.org/sites/default/files/2020-09/200910_ MPOC_EU-China_final_0.pdf.

Hurley, John, Scott Morris, and Gailyn Portelance. 2018a. "Examining the Debt Implications of the Belt and Road Initiative from a Policy Perspective." Washington, D.C. https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/examining-debtimplications-belt-and-road-initiative-policy-perspective.pdf.

 — —. 2018b. "Will China's Belt and Road Initiative Push Vulnerable Countries into a Debt Crisis?" Center For Global Development. March 5, 2018. https://www.cgdev.org/ blog/will-chinas-belt-and-road-initiative-push-vulnerablecountries-debt-crisis.

Hurska, Alla. 2020. "The Battle for 'Motor Sich." Center for European Policy Analysis. November 20, 2020. https://cepa.org/inbox-the-battle-for-motor-sich/.

Indeo, Fabio. 2019. "New Trends in Central Asian Connectivity." In *Monitoring Central Asia and the Caspian Area Development Policies, Regional Trends, and Italian Interests,* edited by Carli Frappo and Fabio Indeo, 65–79. Venice: Eurasiatica / Ca' Foscari University Venice. https://doi.org/10.30687/978-88-6969-376-2/005.

——. 2020. "China and Russia: Cooperation or Rivalry along the Belt and Road Initiative?" In *China's Belt and Road Initiative in Central Asia: Ambitions, Risks and Realities,* edited by Aigoul Abdoubaetova and Alexander Wolters, 8–19. Bishkek: OSCE Academy.

http://www.osce-academy.net/upload/file/BRI_08_07.pdf. Inskeep, Steve, and Ashley Westerman. 2019. "Why Is China

Placing A Global Bet On Coal?" NPR. April 19, 2019. https://www.npr.org/2019/04/29/716347646/why-is-chinaplacing-a-global-bet-on-coal?t=1606473732154.

International Committee of the Red Cross. 2008. "The Montreux Document on Pertinent International Legal Obligations and Good Practices for States Related to Operations of Private Military and Security Companies during Armed Conflict." Montreux. https://www.icrc.org/en/ doc/assets/files/other/icrc_002_0996.pdf.

International Monetary Fund. 2020. "Direction of Trade Statistics." IMF Data. 2020. https://data.imf. org/?sk=9D6028D4-F14A-464C-A2F2-59B2CD424B85. Jakimów, Małgorzata. 2019. "Desecuritisation as a Soft Power Strategy: The Belt and Road Initiative, European Fragmentation and China's Normative Influence in Central-Eastern Europe." Asia Europe Journal 17 (4): 369–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10308-019-00561-3.

Jamshaid, Umer. 2020. "Moldovan President-Elect Says Chisinau, Beijing To Work On Development Of Economic Ties." UrduPoint. November 23, 2020. https://www.urdupoint.com/en/business/moldovanpresident-elect-says-chisinau-beiji-1093943.html.

Jisi, Wang. 2011. "China's Search for a Grand Strategy: A Rising Great Power Finds Its Way." *Foreign Affairs* 90 (2): 68–79.

Jones, Lee. 2020. "Does China's Belt and Road Initiative Challenge the Liberal, Rules-Based Order?" *Fudan Journal of the Humanities and Social Sciences* 13 (1): 113–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40647-019-00252-8.

Jones, Lee, and Jinghan Zeng. 2019. "Understanding China's 'Belt and Road Initiative': Beyond 'Grand Strategy' to a State Transformation Analysis." *Third World Quarterly* 40 (8): 1415–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2018.1559046.

Kaczmarski, Marcin. 2017. "Two Ways of Influence-Building: The Eurasian Economic Union and the One Belt, One Road Initiative." *Europe - Asia Studies* 69 (7): 1027–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/09668136.2017.1373270.

Karaganov, Sergey. 2018. "The New Cold War and the Emerging Greater Eurasia." *Journal of Eurasian Studies* 9 (2): 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euras.2018.07.002.

Karásková, Ivana, Alicja Bachulska, Ágnes Szunomár, and Stefan Vladisavljev, eds. 2020. *Empty Shell No More: China's Growing Footprint in Central and Eastern Europe*. Prague: Association for International Affairs. https://chinaobservers. eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/CHOICE_handbook_ empty-shell-no-more.pdf.

Kartsonaki, Argyro. 2020a. "Perceptions of the Belt and Road Initiative in the Western Balkans." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

 — —. 2020b. "Playing with Fire: An Assessment of the EU's Approach of Constructive Ambiguity on Kosovo's Blended Conflict." *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies* 22 (1): 103–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/19448953.2020.1715668.

Kartsonaki, Argyro, and Stefan Wolff. n.d. "An Impenetrable Knot of Blended Conflicts? The National Identity Constraints of European Integration in the Western Balkans." *Journal of Intevention and Statebuilding*.

Kemoklidze, Nino. 2020a. "Armenia, Azerbaijan and China's BRI." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

-----. 2020b. "China's Belt and Road Initiative: Opportunities and Challenges for Georgia." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

Kemoklidze, Nino, and Stefan Wolff. 2020. "Trade as a Confidence-Building Measure in Protracted Conflicts: The Cases of Georgia and Moldova Compared." *Eurasian Geography and Economics* 61 (3): 305–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/15387216.2019.1702567.

Kenderdine, Tristan, and Niva Yau. 2020. "China's Policy Banks Are Lending Differently, Not Less." The Diplomat. December 12, 2020. https://thediplomat.com/2020/12/chinas-policybanks-are-lending-differently-not-less/. Khasanov, Ulugbek. 2019. "The SCO and the Transformation of Modern Political Processes." Valdai Club. November 7, 2019. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/sco-and-transformationmodern-political-processes/?sphrase_id=902214.

Klinger, Julie Michelle. 2019. "Environment, Development, and Security Politics in the Production of Belt and Road Spaces." *Territory, Politics, Governance.* https://doi.org/10.1080/21622671.2019.1582358.

Konrad Adenauer Foundation. 2018. "The Influence of External Actors in the Western Balkans." Sankt Augustin/Berlin. https://www.kas.de/c/document_ library/get_file?uuid=e467ee3a-487f-0def-4303-2e87b755598f&groupId=252038.

Kramp-Karrenbauer, Annegret. 2020. "Speech at the Presentation of the Steuben Schurz Media Award." Federal Ministry of Defence. October 26, 2020. https://www.bmvg. de/en/news/speech-akk-presentation-steuben-schurzmedia-award-3856630.

Krapohl, Sebastian, and Alexandra Vasileva-Dienes. 2019. "The Region That Isn't: China, Russia and the Failure of Regional Integration in Central Asia." *Asia Europe Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10308-019-00548-0.

Kratz, Agatha, Allen Feng, and Logan Wright. 2019.
"New Data on the 'Debt Trap' Question." Rhodium Group. April 29, 2019. https://rhg.com/research/new-data-on-thedebt-trap-question/.

Kratz, Agatha, Mikko Huotari, Thilo Hanemann, and Rebecca Arcesati. 2020. "Chinese FDI in Europe: 2019 Update." Berlin. https://rhg.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/MERICS-Rhodium-Group_COFDI-Update-2020-2.pdf.

Kratz, Agatha, Matthew Mingey, and Drew D'Alelio. 2020. "Seeking Relief: China's Overseas Debt After COVID-19." Rhodium Group. October 8, 2020. https://rhg.com/research/seeking-relief/.

Kratz, Agatha, Daniel H. Rosen, and Matthew Mingey. 2020. "Booster or Brake? COVID and the Belt and Road Initiative." Rhodium Group. April 15, 2020. https://rhg.com/research/ booster-or-brake-covid-and-the-belt-and-road-initiative/.

Krstinovska, Ana. 2019. "Exporting Corruption? The Case of a Chinese Highway Project in North Macedonia." China Observers in Central and Eastern Europe. November 6, 2019. https://chinaobservers.eu/exporting-corruption-the-case-ofa-chinese-highway-project-in-north-macedonia/.

Kunaka, Charles. 2018. "Six Corridors of Integration: Connectivity along the Overland Corridors of the Belt and Road Initiative." World Bank Blogs. October 4, 2018. https://blogs.worldbank.org/trade/six-corridors-integrationconnectivity-along-overland-corridors-belt-and-roadinitiative.

Kwaja, Chris, Jelena Aparac, Lilian Bobea, Sorcha MacLeod, and Saeed Mokbil. 2020. "Report of the Working Group on the Use of Mercenaries as a Means of Violating Human Rights and Impeding the Exercise of the Right of Peoples to Self-Determination." New York. https://undocs.org/en/A/75/259.

Lau, Stuart. 2020. "China Shows Support for Belarusian Leader amid Criticism from EU." South China Morning Post. August 15, 2020. https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/ article/3097498/china-shows-support-belarusian-leaderamid-criticism-eu. Legarda, Helena. 2018. "China as a Conflict Mediator." Mercator Institute for China Studies. August 22, 2018. https://merics. org/en/short-analysis/china-conflict-mediator.

Lemon, Edward. 2018. "Talking Up Terrorism in Central Asia." Kennan Cable. 2018. https://www.wilsoncenter.org/ publication/kennan-cable-no-38-talking-terrorism-centralasia.

Less, Timothy. 2016. "Dysfunction in the Balkans." Foreign Affairs. December 20, 2016. https://www.foreignaffairs. com/articles/bosnia-herzegovina/2016-12-20/dysfunctionbalkans.

Leverett, Flynt, and Wu Bingbing. 2016. "The New Silk Road and China's Evolving Grand Strategy." *The China Journal*, no. 77. https://doi.org/10.1086/689684.

Lewis, David. 2012. "Who's Socialising Whom? Regional Organisations and Contested Norms in Central Asia." *Europe - Asia Studies* 64 (7): 1219–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/09668136.2012.701391.

Li, Hak Yin, and Seanon Wong. 2018. "The Evolution of Chinese Public Diplomacy and the Rise of Think Tanks." *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy* 14 (1): 36–46. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41254-017-0090-6.

Lin, Shaun, James D. Sidaway, and Chih Yuan Woon. 2019. "Reordering China, Respacing the World: Belt and Road Initiative (一带一路) as an Emergent Geopolitical Culture." *The Professional Geographer* 71 (3): 507–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/00330124.2018.1547979.

Lissovolik, Yaroslav. 2017. "Serbia's FTA with the Eurasian Union: A Window of Opportunity." Valdai Club. March 2, 2017. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/serbia-fta-withthe-eurasian-union/?sphrase_id=1146881.

Liu, Zhigao, Michael Dunford, and Weidong Liu. 2021. "Coupling National Geo-Political Economic Strategies and the Belt and Road Initiative: The China-Belarus Great Stone Industrial Park." *Political Geography* 84 (January): 102296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2020.102296.

Lukin, Alexander, and Vladimir Yakunin. 2018. "Eurasian Integration and the Development of Asiatic Russia." *Journal of Eurasian Studies* 9 (2): 100–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euras.2018.07.003.

Luzyanin, Sergei. 2018. "Greater Eurasia: The Common Challenges for China and Russia." Valdai Club. April 16, 2018. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/greater-eurasiathe-common-challenges/?sphrase_id=902214.

Maas, Heiko. 2020. "Time for a New Beginning in the Transatlantic Partnership." Federal Foreign Office. October 25, 2020. https://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/en/ newsroom/news/-/2409524.

Makarov, Igor, and Anna Sokolova. 2016. "Coordination of the Eurasian Economic Union and the Silk Road Economic Belt: Opportunities for Russia." *International Organisations Research Journal* 11 (2): 40–57. https://doi.org/10.17323/1996-7845-2016-02-40.

Malle, Silvana. 2017. "Russia and China in the 21st Century. Moving towards Cooperative Behaviour." *Journal of Eurasian Studies* 8 (2): 136–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euras.2017.02.003. Mally, Alec. 2020. "Serbia and Montenegro in Brief Diplomatic Kerfuffle." New Europe. December 4, 2020. https://www.neweurope.eu/article/serbia-and-montenegroin-brief-diplomatic-kerfuffle.

Malyarenko, Tatyana. 2020a. "China's Belt and Road Initiative in the Contested Eastern Neighbourhood." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

———. 2020b. "China's Belt and Road Initiative in Ukraine." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

Malyarenko, Tatyana, and Stefan Wolff. 2018. "The Logic of Competitive Influence-Seeking: Russia, Ukraine, and the Conflict in Donbas." *Post-Soviet Affairs* 34 (4): 191–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/1060586X.2018.1425083.

———. 2019. The Dynamics of Emerging De-Facto States: Eastern Ukraine in the Post-Soviet Space. London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429448409.

Mambetova, Altynai, and James Kilner. 2018. "Kyrgyzstan Grows Wary of China amid Corruption Probe." Nikkei Asia. July 4, 2018. https://asia.nikkei.com/Politics/Internationalrelations/Kyrgyzstan-grows-wary-of-China-amidcorruption-probe.

Mardell, Jacob. 2019. "China's Economic Footprint in the Western Balkans." Gütersloh. https://www.bertelsmannstiftung.de/en/our-projects/germany-and-asia/news/asiapolicy-brief-chinas-economic-footprint-in-the-westernbalkans.

Markarova, Oksana. 2020. "Not All Loans Are Equally Useful." Economic Pravda. December 29, 2020. https://www.epravda.com.ua/columns/2020/12/29/669615/.

Menabde, Giorgi. 2015. "China Seeks Massive Investments in Georgia." Eurasia Daily Monitor. March 25, 2015. https://jamestown.org/program/china-seeks-massiveinvestments-in-georgia/.

 — —. 2016. "China Loses Bid for Construction of Georgian Deep-Water Port on Black Sea." Eurasia Daily Monitor. February 26, 2016. https://jamestown.org/program/chinaloses-bid-for-construction-of-georgian-deep-water-port-onblack-sea/.

 — —. 2019. "Russia Tries to Bog Down the Anaklia Deep Sea Port Project." Eurasia Daily Monitor. May 20, 2019. https://jamestown.org/program/russia-tries-to-bog-downthe-anaklia-deep-sea-port-project/.

Mingey, Matthew, and Agatha Kratz. 2021. "China's Belt and Road: Down but Not Out." Rhodium Group. January 4, 2021. https://rhg.com/research/bri-down-out/.

Munich Security Conference. 2019. "The Great Puzzle: Who Will Pick Up the Pieces?" Munich. https://securityconference.org/assets/02_Dokumente/01_ Publikationen/MunichSecurityReport2019.pdf.

Murat, Assel. 2020. "China's Belt and Road in Kazakhstan: Influence and Implications." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

Musabelliu, Marsela. 2017. "China's Belt and Road Initiative Extension to Central and Eastern European Countries -Sixteen Nations, Five Summits, Many Challenges." *Croatian International Relations Review* 23 (78): 57–76. https://doi.org/10.1515/cirr-2017-0007. National Development and Reform Commission. 2015. "Vision and Actions on Jointly Building Silk Road Economic Belt and 21st-Century Maritime Silk Road (推动共建丝绸之路经济 带和21世纪海上丝绸之路的愿景与行动)." Beijing. 2015. https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/48527488.pdf.

 — —. 2016. "Press Conference on the Launch of the Central European Line by China Railway Corporation." State Council Information Office. June 8, 2016. http://www.scio.gov.cn/xwfbh/gbwxwfbh/xwfbh/fzggw/ Document/1481070/1481070.htm.

Nazarbayev, Nursultan. 2015. "Statement at the United Nations Sustainable Development Summit 2015." September 27, 2015. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/20843kazakhstan.pdf.

Novakovic, Dejan. 2019. "Serbia After Putin's Visit." Valdai Club. March 22, 2019. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/serbiaafter-putin-s-visit/?sphrase_id=1146881.

Nurdavletova, Saniya. 2019. "China's Policy in Central Asia: Kazakhstan's Perceptions of the SCO and the Belt and Road Initiative." *Eurasian Studies Quarterly (Taiwan)* 7: 105–10.

Obama, Barack. 2011. "Remarks to the Australian Parliament." The White House. November 17, 2011. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-pressoffice/2011/11/17/remarks-president-obama-australianparliament.

Office of the Co-ordinator of OSCE Economic and Environmental Activities. 2020. "OSCE and UNECE Join Forces in Enhancing Cyber Resilience of Intelligent Transport Systems." Organisation for Security and Co-Operation in Europe. September 8, 2020. https://www.osce.org/oceea/463116.

Office of the Leading Group for Promoting the Belt and Road Initiative. 2019. *The Belt and Road Initiative: Progress, Contributions and Prospects*. Beijing: Foreign Languages Press. https://en.ndrc.gov.cn/newsrelease_8232/202002/ P020200228350122318527.pdf.

Office of the Secretary of Defense. 2020. "Annual Report to Congress: Military and Security Developments Involving the People's Republic of China ." Washington, D.C.

Office of the Secretary of State. 2020. "The Elements of the China Challenge." Washington, D.C.

Office of the Spokesperson of the United States Department of State. 2020. "The Clean Network Safeguards America's Assets." United States Department of State. 2020. https://2017-2021.state.gov/the-clean-network-safeguardsamericas-assets/index.html.

Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe. 1999a. "Istanbul Document 1999 (Charter for European Security and Istanbul Summit Declaration)." Vienna: Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe. http://www.osce.org/mc/39569?download=true.

——. 1999b. "Negotiations on Confidence- and Security-Building Measures (Vienna Document 1999)." Vienna: Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe. http://www.osce.org/fsc/41276.

----. 2010. "Astana Commemorative Declaration Towards a Security Community." Astana. https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/b/6/74985.pdf. -----. 2013. "Secretary-General of Shanghai Cooperation Organisation Addresses OSCE." Organisation for Security and Co-Operation in Europe. July 18, 2013. https://www.osce.org/pc/103677.

-——. 2016. "Strengthening Good Governance and Promoting Connectivity." Hamburg.

https://www.osce.org/cio/289316?download=true.

-----. 2017a. "Report by the Chairperson of the Contact Group with the Asian Partners for Co-Operation to the Twenty-Fourth Meeting of the Ministerial Council." Vienna.

-----. 2017b. "Promoting Economic Participation in the OSCE Area." Vienna. https://www.osce.org/files/f/ documents/b/4/361566.pdf.

——. 2018. "Human Capital Development in the Digital Era." Milan. https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/b/0/405899. pdf.

——. 2019. "OSCE Forum for Security Co-Operation Meeting under Tajik Chairmanship Explores Strengthening Synergies among Regional Organizations in Central Asia." Organisation for Security and Co-Operation in Europe. July 10, 2019. https://www.osce.org/forum-for-securitycooperation/425360.

——. 2020a. "Increasing Resilience of the Cyber/ ICT Environment Requires Fostering International Co-Operation, Say Participants at OSCE High-Level Conference." Organisation for Security and Co-Operation in Europe. September 8, 2020. https://www.osce.org/chairmanship/463134.

-----. 2020b. "Declaration on Cooperation with OSCE Asian Partners." Tirana. https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/ b/e/472839.pdf.

——. 2020c. "Declaration on Strengthening Cooperation in Countering Transnational Organised Crime." Tirana. https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/2/a/472842.pdf.

——. 2020d. "Preventing and Combating Corruption through Digitalisation and Increased Transparency." Tirana. https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/2/b/472833.pdf.

OSCE Parliamentary Assembly. 2017. "In Visit to China, OSCE PA President Muttonen Highlights Areas of Mutual Interest, Future Co-Operation." June 14, 2017.

https://www.osce.org/parliamentary-assembly/322896. Palickova, Agata, and Georgi Gotev. 2019. "Scandals in

Kyrgyzstan Highlight Dubious Chinese Business Practices." EURACTIV.Com. July 23, 2019. https://www.euractiv.com/ section/central-asia/news/scandals-in-kyrgyzstan-highlightdubious-chinese-business-practices/.

Pantucci, Raffaello. 2019. "China in Central Asia: The First Strand of the Silk Road Economic Belt." *Asian Affairs* 50 (2): 202–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/03068374.2019.1622930.

Parameswaran, Prashanth. 2017. "China Gives Belarus New Armored Vehicles." The Diplomat. June 29, 2017. https://thediplomat.com/2017/06/china-gives-belarus-newarmored-vehicles/.

Pavlova, Iskra. 2019. "Slovenia to Take Control of Maribor Airport after Chinese-Backed Concessionaire Leaves -Report." SeeNews. July 17, 2019. https://seenews.com/news/ slovenia-takes-control-of-maribor-airport-after-chinesebacked-concessionaire-leaves-report-662044. Pei, Minxin. 2020. "China's Fateful Inward Turn." China Leadership Monitor. December 16, 2020. https://www.prcleader.org/pei-3?utm_campaign=d51fac69-09ea-4aa8-9195-70d83386cfa3&utm_source=so&utm_ medium=mail&cid=502fbba6-0ef8-48b3-a6fb-826d9f89c303.

Pepermans, Astrid. 2018. "China's 16+1 and Belt and Road Initiative in Central and Eastern Europe: Economic and Political Influence at a Cheap Price." *Journal of Contemporary Central and Eastern Europe* 26 (2–3): 181–203. https://doi.org/10.1080/25739638.2018.1515862.

Permanent Council of the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe. 1999. "Decision No. 305." Organisation for Security and Co-Operation in Europe. Vienna. https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/e/0/28795.pdf.

———. 2007. "Extension of the Mandate of the OSCE Mission to Kosovo." Vienna.

———. 2016. "OSCE Confidence-Building Measures to Reduce the Risks of Conflict Stemming from the Use of Information and Communication Technologies." Vienna.

Pivovarenko, Alexander. 2019. "Serbia as Vanguard of Russia's Policy in the Balkans." Valdai Club. January 22, 2019. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/serbia-as-vanguard-ofrussia-policy-balkans/?sphrase_id=1146881.

Plan, Fred, Nalani Fraser, Jacqueline O'Leary, Vincent Cannon, and Ben Read. 2019. "APT40: Examining a China-Nexus Espionage Actor." FireEye Threat Research. March 4, 2019. https://www.fireeye.com/blog/threat-research/2019/03/ apt40-examining-a-china-nexus-espionage-actor.html.

Polyshchuk, Nikolai. 2020. "Ban of Chinese Investors' Access to Motor Sich May Cost Ukraine \$3.5 Billion." Ukrainian News. September 4, 2020. https://ukranews.com/en/news/724402ban-of-chinese-investors-access-to-motor-sich-may-costukraine-3-5-billion.

Pompeo, Michael R. 2020. "Remarks to the Press." United States Department of State. August 5, 2020. https://2017-2021.state. gov/secretary-michael-r-pompeo-at-a-press-availability-10/ index.html.

Pushkina, Darya, and Yanliang Pan. 2020. "China's Sensitivity to Challenges, Concerns, and Criticisms along the Belt and Road: The Case of Kazakhstan." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

Putin, Vladimir. 2019a. "Remarks at a News Conference Following a Working Visit to China." April 27, 2019. http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/news/60396.

——. 2019b. "Remarks Following a Meeting with President of China Xi Jinping." November 13, 2019. http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/news/62039.

Putten, Frans-Paul Van Der. 2014. "Chinese Investment in the Port of Piraeus, Greece: The Relevance for the EU and the Netherlands Clingendael Report." The Hague. https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/2014 -Chinese investment in Piraeus - Clingendael Report.pdf.

Putten, Frans-Paul Van Der, Francesco Saverio Montesano, Johan Van De Ven, and Peter Van Ham. 2016.
"The Geopolitical Relevance of Piraeus and China's New Silk Road for Southeast Europe and Turkey." The Hague. https://www.clingendael.org/publication/geopoliticalrelevance-piraeus-and-chinas-new-silk-road. Putz, Catherine. 2018. "Kazakhstan and the Xinjiang Problem." The Diplomat. September 11, 2018. https://thediplomat. com/2018/09/kazakhstan-and-the-xinjiang-problem/.

Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty. 2020. "Putin Says 'External Pressure' On Belarus, Kyrgyzstan, Moldova 'Unacceptable.'" November 10, 2020. https://www.rferl.org/a/putin-saysexternal-pressure-on-belarus-kyrgyzstan-moldovaunacceptable-/30940988.html.

Rahmani, Bardia. 2018. "How the War on Drugs Is Making Tajikistan More Authoritarian." The Diplomat. July 9, 2018. https://thediplomat.com/2018/07/how-the-war-on-drugs-ismaking-tajikistan-more-authoritarian/.

Reflection Group Appointed by the NATO Secretary General. 2020. "NATO 2030: United for a New Era." Brussels. https://www.nato.int/nato_static_fl2014/assets/pdf/2020/12/ pdf/201201-Reflection-Group-Final-Report-Uni.pdf.

Remler, Philip et al. 2016. "Protracted Conflicts in the OSCE Area: Innovative Approaches for Co-Operation in the Conflict Zones." Hamburg. https://osce-network.net/ fileadmin/user_upload/publications/Protracted_Conflicts_ OSCE_WEB.pdf.

RFE/RL Balkan Service. 2019. "Serbia Signs Trade Agreement With Russia-Led Eurasian Economic Union." Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty. October 25, 2019. https://www. rferl.org/a/serbia-to-ink-trade-agreement-with-russia-ledeurasian-economic-union/30235917.html.

Rimmer, Peter J. 2018. "China's Belt and Road Initiative: Underlying Economic and International Relations Dimensions." *Asian-Pacific Economic Literature* 32 (2): 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/apel.12247.

Rolland, Nadège. 2017. "China's 'Belt and Road Initiative': Underwhelming or Game-Changer?" Washington Quarterly 40 (1): 127–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/0163660X.2017.1302743.

Rosen, Daniel H. 2020. "The Biden-Trump China Toughfest." Rhodium Group. August 10, 2020. https://rhg.com/research/biden-trump/.

Rozanskij, Vladimir. 2021. "Xinjiang and Future Relations between China and Kazakhstan." AsiaNews. January 2, 2021. http://www.asianews.it/news-en/Xinjiang-and-futurerelations-between-China-and-Kazakhstan-51975.html.

Rudd, Kevin. 2020. "The Coming Post-COVID Anarchy: The Pandemic Bodes III for Both American and Chinese Power." Foreign Affairs. May 6, 2020. https://www.foreignaffairs. com/articles/united-states/2020-05-06/coming-post-covidanarchy.

Rühlig, Tim. 2020. "Towards a More Principled European China Policy?" Paris. https://www.ifri.org/sites/default/files/atoms/ files/ruhlig_european_china_policy_2020.pdf.

Rukhadze, Vasili. 2015. "Georgia's Anaklia Port May Alter Balance of Power Near Russian-Occupied Abkhazia." Eurasia Daily Monitor. June 26, 2015. https://jamestown.org/ program/georgias-anaklia-port-may-alter-balance-of-powernear-russian-occupied-abkhazia/.

Ruta, Michele. 2018. "Three Opportunities and Three Risks of the Belt and Road Initiative." World Bank Blogs. May 4, 2018. https://blogs.worldbank.org/trade/three-opportunities-andthree-risks-belt-and-road-initiative. Saari, Sinikukka. 2019. "Connecting the Dots: Challenges to EU Connectivity in Central Asia." Paris. https://www.iss.europa. eu/content/connecting-dots-challenges-eu-connectivitycentral-asia.

Sadik, Giray. 2020. "Exploring the Effects of Chinese-Russian Security Cooperation under SCO-RATS on BRI and OSCE: Managed Competition or Hybrid Partnership?" Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

Sadri, Houman, and Basak Akar. 2019. "Russian Foreign Policy toward the Central Asian Region in Comparison to the Chinese and American Policies." *Vestnik of Saint Petersburg University. International Relations* 12 (1): 4–22. https://doi.org/10.21638/11701/spbu06.2019.101.

Samorukov, Maxim, and Temur Umarov. 2020. "China's Relations with Ukraine, Belarus, and Moldova: Less Than Meets the Eye." Carnegie Moscow Center. December 31, 2020. https://carnegie.ru/commentary/83538.

Savaris, Alessandro. 2020a. "EU Perspectives on the Belt and Road Initiative in the Western Balkans and the Subregion's Constituent Countries and Entities." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

———. 2020b. "Serbian, EU, US, and Russian Perceptions of the BRI in Serbia." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

Scissors, Derek. 2020. "China Global Investment Tracker." American Enterprise Institute and Heritage Foundation. 2020. https://www.aei.org/china-global-investment-tracker/.

——. 2021. "China's Coming Global Investment Recovery: How Far Will It Go?" Washington, D.C. https://www.aei. org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/China's-Coming-Global-Investment-Recovery.pdf?x88519.

Shanghai Cooperation Organisation. 2001. Joint Statement by the Heads of State of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the People's Republic of China, the Kyrgyz Republic, the Russian Federation, the Republic of Tajikistan, and the Republic of Uzbekistan. Shanghai: Shanghai Cooperation Organisation. http://eng.sectsco.org/load/192993/.

-----. 2020. "Joint Communique Following the 19th Meeting of the Council of Heads of Government (Prime Ministers) of the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation." Shanghai Cooperation Organisation. November 30, 2020. http://eng.sectsco.org/news/20201130/697604.html.

Shearer, Christine, Melissa Brown, and Tim Buckley. 2019. "China at a Crossroads: Continued Support for Coal Power Erodes Country's Clean Energy Leadership." Lakewood, OH. https://ieefa.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/China-at-a-Crossroads_January-2019.pdf.

Shishelina, Lyubov. 2015. "Russian Prime Minister in Slovenia: The Afterword to the Visit." Valdai Club. July 31, 2015. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/russian_prime_ minister_in_slovenia_the_afterword_to_the_visit/?sphrase_ id=1146881.

Sholk, Dena. 2016. "Kazakhstan's Land Reforms." The Diplomat. June 15, 2016. https://thediplomat.com/2016/06/ kazakhstans-land-reforms/.

Silin, Yakov, Larisa Kapustina, Italo Trevisan, and Andrei Drevalev. 2018. "The Silk Road Economic Belt: Balance of Interests." *Economic and Political Studies* 6 (3): 293–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/20954816.2018.1499072.

- Standish, Reid. 2020. "Balkans Become Unlikely Bridgehead In Europe For U.S.'s Anti-China Push." Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty. November 2, 2020. https://www.rferl.org/a/balkansbecome-unlikely-bridgehead-in-europe-for-u-s-s-anti-chinapush/30926537.html.
- State Council of the People's Republic of China. 2019. "China and the World in the New Era." USC US-China Institute. September 28, 2019. https://china.usc.edu/prc-state-councilchina-and-world-new-era-september-2019.
- Stojanovic, Milica. 2019. "Serbia Signs Trade Deal With Russia's Eurasian Union." Balkan Insight. October 25, 2019. https://balkaninsight.com/2019/10/25/serbia-signs-tradedeal-with-russias-eurasian-union/.
- Stradner, Ivana, and Milan Jovanović. 2020. "Montenegro Is the Latest Domino to Fall Toward Russia." Foreign Policy. September 17, 2020. https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/09/17/ montenegro-latest-domino-fall-russia-pro-west-europenato/.
- Sum, Ngai Ling. 2019. "The Intertwined Geopolitics and Geoeconomics of Hopes/Fears: China's Triple Economic Bubbles and the 'One Belt One Road' Imaginary." *Territory, Politics, Governance* 7 (4): 528–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/21622671.2018.1523746.
- Supreme Eurasian Economic Council. 2015. "Decision No. 15 On the Launch of Negotiations with the People's Republic of China on Concluding the Trade and Economic Cooperation Agreement." Supreme Eurasian Economic Council. May 8, 2015. https://docs.eaeunion.org/docs/en-us/0147683/ scd_12052015_15.
- Suslov, Dmitry. 2020. "Non-Western Multilateralism: BRICS and the SCO in the Post-COVID World." Valdai Club. July 29, 2020. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/non-westernmultilateralism-brics-and-the-sco/?sphrase_id=1223135.
- Tekdal, Veysel. 2018. "China's Belt and Road Initiative: At the Crossroads of Challenges and Ambitions." *The Pacific Review* 31 (3): 373–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/09512748.2017.1391864.
- The Kremlin. 2020. "Telephone Conversation with President of People's Republic of China Xi Jinping." July 8, 2020. http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/news/63621.
- Timofeev, Ivan, Yaroslav Lissovolik, and Liudmila Filippova. 2017. "Russia's Vision of the Belt and Road Initiative: From the Rivalry of the Great Powers to Forging a New Cooperation Model in Eurasia." *China and World Economy* 25 (5): 62–77. https://doi.org/10.1111/cwe.12214.
- Tracy, Elena F., Evgeny Shvarts, Eugene Simonov, and Mikhail Babenko. 2017. "China's New Eurasian Ambitions: The Environmental Risks of the Silk Road Economic Belt." *Eurasian Geography and Economics* 58 (1): 56–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/15387216.2017.1295876.
- Trilling, David. 2020. "Poll Shows Uzbeks, like Neighbors, Growing Leery of Chinese Investments." Eurasianet. October 22, 2020. https://eurasianet.org/poll-shows-uzbeks-likeneighbors-growing-leery-of-chinese-investments.
- Tybring-Gjedde, Christian. 2020. "China's Belt and Road Initiative: A Strategic and Economic Assessment." Brussels.
- Tytarchuk, Oleksandr. 2020. "The Belt and Road Initiative and Conflict Areas in the OSCE Region: The Case of Ukraine." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.

- U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission. 2020. "2020 Annual Report to Congress." Washington, D.C. https://www.uscc.gov/annual-report/2020-annual-reportcongress.
- Umarov, Temur. 2020. "In Belarus, China Is Neither at Odds With Russia nor Wedded to Lukashenko." Carnegie Moscow Center. September 7, 2020. https://carnegie.ru/commentary/82662.
- United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. 1998. "Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-Making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters." Aarhus. https://www.unece.org/env/pp/treatytext.html.
- United Nations General Assembly. 2018. "Scale of Assessments for the Apportionment of the Expenses of United Nations Peacekeeping Operations." New York, NY. https://undocs.org/A/73/350/Add.1.
- United Nations Statistics Division. 2020. "United Nations International Trade Statistics Database." New York, NY: United Nations. https://comtrade.un.org/.
- Vangeli, Anastas. 2018. "Global China and Symbolic Power: The Case of 16 + 1 Cooperation." *Journal of Contemporary China* 27 (113): 674–87.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/10670564.2018.1458056.
- —. 2019. "Diffusion of Ideas in the Era of the Belt and Road: Insights from China–CEE Think Tank Cooperation." *Asia Europe Journal* 17 (4): 421–36.
- https://doi.org/10.1007/s10308-019-00564-0.
- Wang, Yong. 2016. "Offensive for Defensive: The Belt and Road Initiative and China's New Grand Strategy." *Pacific Review* 29 (3): 455–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/09512748.2016.1154690.
- Webber, Mark. 2020. "China and the Western Balkans: Opportunities and Challenges for NATO." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Wen, Xin, Hoi Lam Ma, Tsan Ming Choi, and Jiuh Biing Sheu. 2019. "Impacts of the Belt and Road Initiative on the China-Europe Trading Route Selections." *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review* 122 (February): 581–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2019.01.006.
- Wilson, Jeanne L. 2016. "The Eurasian Economic Union and China's Silk Road: Implications for the Russian–Chinese Relationship." *European Politics and Society* 17: 113–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/23745118.2016.1171288.
- Wolff, Stefan, Philip Remler, and Lance Davies. 2017. "OSCE Confidence Building in the Economic and Environmental Dimension: Current Opportunities and Constraints." Hamburg. http://osce-network.net/file-OSCE-Network/ Publications/OSCE_Confidence_Building_in_EED_final.pdf.
- World Bank. 2020a. "Supporting Countries in Unprecedented Times: Annual Report 2020." Washington, D.C. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/ handle/10986/34406/9781464816192.pdf.
- ———. 2020b. "Worldwide Governance Indicators." Worldwide Governance Indicators Interactive Data Access. 2020. https://info.worldbank.org/governance/wgi/Home/Reports.
- World Trade Organisation. 2020. "International Trade and Tariff Data." WTA Data Portal. 2020. https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/statis_e.htm.

Xi, Jinping. 2014a. "Speech at UNESCO Headquarters." Paris.

- ———. 2014b. "Remarks at the Fourth Summit of the Conference on Interaction and Confidence Building Measures in Asia." China.Org.Cn. May 21, 2014. http://www. china.org.cn/world/2014-05/28/content_32511846.htm.
- ——. 2019. "Speech at the Opening Ceremony of 2nd China International Import Expo." *Xinhua*. http://www.xinhuanet. com/english/2019-11/05/c_138530370.htm.
- ———. 2020. "Remarks at the Opening Ceremony of the Fifth Annual Meeting of the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank." Xinhua. July 28, 2020. http://www.xinhuanet.com/ english/2020-07/28/c_139246403.htm.
- Xinhua. 2020. "Xi Stresses Building Xinjiang Featuring Socialism with Chinese Characteristics in New Era." Xinhua. September 26, 2020. http://www.xinhuanet.com/ english/2020-09/26/c_139399524.htm.
- Yan, Niva Yau Tsz. 2020. "Operation Reality of the Belt and Road Initiative in Central Asia." In *China's Belt and Road Initiative in Central Asia: Ambitions, Risks, and Realities,* edited by Aigoul Abdoubaetova, 41–72. Bishkek: OSCE Academy. http://www.osce-academy.net/upload/file/ BRI_08_07.pdf.
- Yau, Niva Tsz Yan. 2020. "Chinese Private Security Companies in Kyrgyzstan." Hamburg: OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions.
- Ye, Min. 2019. "Fragmentation and Mobilization: Domestic Politics of the Belt and Road in China." *Journal of Contemporary China* 28 (119): 696–711. https://doi.org/10.1080/10670564.2019.1580428.

- Yiwei, Wang. 2020. "China and Europe: BRI and the 17+1 Initiative." Valdai Club. January 28, 2020. https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/china-and-europe-briand-the-17-1-initiative/?sphrase_id=902172.
- Yu, Hong. 2017. "Motivation behind China's 'One Belt, One Road' Initiatives and Establishment of the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank." *Journal of Contemporary China* 26 (105): 353–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/10670564.2016.1245894.
- Yu, Jie. 2018. "The Belt and Road Initiative: Domestic Interests, Bureaucratic Politics and the EU-China Relations." *Asia Europe Journal* 16 (3): 223–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10308-018-0510-0.
- Zeng, Lingliang. 2016. "Conceptual Analysis of China's Belt and Road Initiative: A Road towards a Regional Community of Common Destiny." *Chinese Journal of International Law* 15 (3): jmw021. https://doi.org/10.1093/chinesejil/jmw021.
- Zhao, Suisheng. 2020. "China's Belt-Road Initiative as the Signature of President Xi Jinping Diplomacy: Easier Said than Done." *Journal of Contemporary China* 29 (123): 319–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/10670564.2019.1645483.
- Zhou, Weifeng, and Mario Esteban. 2018. "Beyond Balancing: China's Approach towards the Belt and Road Initiative." *Journal of Contemporary China* 27 (112): 487–501. https://doi.org/10.1080/10670564.2018.1433476.

The OSCE Network of Think Tanks and Academic Institutions (https://osce-network.net/) is a Track II initiative. Its members are research institutions from across the OSCE area engaged in academic and policy research on OSCE-relevant issues. Network members exchange information, provide expertise, stimulate debate, and raise awareness of the OSCE, thereby contributing to comprehensive and cooperative security. The Network is based on a proposal made by OSCE Secretary General Lamberto Zannier in July 2011. It was created by 16 research institutions on 18 June 2013 at Vienna Hofburg. Neither the Network nor its members represent the OSCE, and the views expressed by Network members are their personal opinions.